
 

Agenda 
We welcome you to 

Mole Valley Local Committee 
Your Councillors, Your Community  
and the Issues that Matter to You 

A link to view the live and recorded webcast of 

the meeting will be available on the Mole 

Valley Local Committee page on the council’s 

website. 

 

As a result of limited capacity within the venue 

to allow for social distancing, attendance of 

members of the public will be limited to those 

participating in the meeting.  Pleased notify 

the partnership Committee Officer if you wish 

to attend using the contact details below. 

Discussion 
Consideration of Rights of Way matters in  

Wolvens Lane and Green Lane -  Daniel 

Williams 

Annual parking Review -  Steve Clavey

 

 

Venue 
Location:  Council Chamber, 
Pippbrook, Reigate Road, Dorking, 
Surrey, RH4 1SJ 

Date: Wednesday, 29 September 
2021 

Time: 2.00 pm 

 

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=8145&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=8145&Ver=4


 

You can get 

involved in the 

following ways 
 

Ask a question 
 
If there is something you wish to know about 
how your council works or what it is doing in 

your area, you can ask the local committee a 
question about it. 

 
 

Write a question 
 
You can also put your question to the local 

committee in writing. The Partnership 
Committee Officer must receive it a minimum 
of 4 working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
Before submitting your question we would 

encourage you to use the report it function on 
the SCC website to get a quicker response to 
your issue whenever possible. 

 
We will, where possible, endeavour to provide 

a written response to your question in 
advance of the meeting. 
 

When you arrive at the meeting let the 
committee officer (detailed below) know that 

you are there for the answer to your question. 
The committee chairman will decide exactly 
when your answer will be given and may 

invite you to ask a further question, if needed, 
at an appropriate time in the meeting.

 

Sign a petition 
 
If you live, work or study in Surrey and have a 
local issue of concern, you can petition the 

local committee and ask it to consider taking 
action on your behalf. Petitions should have at 

least 30 signatures and should be submitted 
to the Partnership Committee Officer 2 weeks 
before the meeting. You will be asked if you 

wish to outline your key concerns to the 
committee and will be given 3 minutes to 

address the meeting. Your petition may either 
be discussed at the meeting or alternatively, at 
the following meeting. 

 
 

 

 

Attending the Local Committee meeting 
Your Partnership Committee Officer is here to help. 

 
Email:  gregory.yeoman@surreycc.gov.uk 

Tel:  07968 832390 (text or phone) 
Website: https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/your-

local-area 

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/do-it-online/report-it-online


 

 
Please contact Gregory Yeoman, Partnership Committee Officer using the above 

contact details: 
 
• If you would like a copy of this agenda or the attached papers in another format, 

e.g. large print, Braille, or another language. 
 

• If you would like to attend and you have any additional needs, e.g. access or 
hearing loop 

 

• If you would like to talk about something in today’s meeting or have a local 
initiative or concern. 

 
 
Surrey County Council Appointed Members  

 
Tim Hall, Leatherhead and Fetcham East (Chairman) 

Stephen Cooksey, Dorking and the Holmwoods (Vice-Chairman) 
Helyn Clack, Dorking Rural 
Clare Curran, Bookham and Fetcham West 

Chris Townsend, Ashtead 
Hazel Watson, Dorking Hills 
 
District Council Appointed Members  

 

Cllr Lynne Brooks, Fetcham East 
Cllr Raj Haque, Fetcham West 
Cllr David Hawksworth CBE, Ashtead Common 

Cllr Mary Huggins, Capel, Leigh and Newdigate 
Cllr Paul Kennedy, Fetcham West 

Cllr Caroline Salmon, Beare Green 
 
 

Chief Executive 

Joanna Killian 
District Council substitute Members 

Cllr Roger Adams, Bookham North 
Cllr Tim Ashton, Leatherhead South 

Cllr David Harper, Ashtead Park 
Cllr Rosemary Hobbs, Holmwoods 

Cllr Alan Reilly, Ashtead Village 
Cllr Nick Wright, Dorking South 
Cllr Charles Yarwood, Charlwood 

 
MOBILE TECHNOLOGY AND FILMING – ACCEPTABLE USE 

Those attending for the purpose of reporting on the meeting may use social media or mobile devices in 
silent mode to send electronic messages about the progress of the public parts of the meeting. To 
support this, wifi is available for visitors – please ask for details. 

 
Anyone is permitted to film, record or take photographs at council meetings. Please liaise with the 
council officer listed in the agenda prior to the start of the meeting so that those attending the meeting 

can be made aware of any filming taking place. 
 
Use of mobile devices, including for the purpose of recording or filming a meeting, is subject to no 

interruptions, distractions or interference being caused to the PA or Induction Loop systems, or any 
general disturbance to proceedings. The Chairman may ask for mobile devices to be switched off in 
these circumstances. It is requested that if you are not using your mobile device for any of the activities 



 

outlined above, it be switched off or placed in silent mode during the meeting to prevent interruptions and 
interference with PA and Induction Loop systems. 
 

Thank you for your co-operation 
 
Note: This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast - at the start of the meeting the 

Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. The images and sound recording may 
be used for training purposes within the Council. 
 

Generally the public seating areas are not filmed. However by entering the meeting room and using the 
public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.  

 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the representative of the Community  Partnerships 
Team at the meeting. 

 
PART 1 – IN PUBLIC 

 

1  APPOINTMENT OF DISTRICT COUNCIL SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
[EXECUTIVE FUNCTION - FOR DECISION] 
 

Under the County Council's Constitution (Part 4. Standing 

Orders, Part 3 40 (f)) no substitutes are permitted for 
district/borough council co-opted members of local committees, 

unless a local committee agrees otherwise at its first meeting 
following the Council’s annual meeting and in relation to all 
meetings in the following year, upon which named substitutes 

will be appointed to the Local Committee on the nomination of 
the relevant district/borough council. 
 

The Local Committee is therefore asked to decide whether it 
wishes to co-opt substitutes in the municipal year 2021/22.  Mole 

Valley District Council has nominated 6 district Councillors and 7 
substitutes to serve on the Local Committee for the municipal 
year 2021-2022. Jonanna Killian, Chief Executive, has confirmed 

these appointments as follows, subject to the agreement by the 
Committee to permit substitutes: 

 
MOLE VALLEY DISTRICT COUNCIL APPOINTED MEMBERS 
[6] 

Cllr Lynne Brooks 
Cllr Raj Haque 

Cllr David Hawksworth 
Cllr Mary Huggins 
Cllr Paul Kennedy 

Cllr Caroline Salmon 
 
Mole Valley District Council Substitutes [7] 

Cllr Roger Adams 
Cllr Tim Ashton 

Cllr David Harper  
Cllr Rosemary Hobbs 

Cllr Alan Reilly  
Cllr Nick Wright  
Cllr Charles Yarwood 

 
 
 

 



 

2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 
 

To receive any apologies for absence and notices of 

substitutions from District members under Standing Order 39. 
 

 

3  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

To approve the Minutes of the previous meeting as a correct 
record. 
 

(Pages 1 - 8) 

4  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the 

meeting or as soon as possible thereafter  
(i) Any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or  
(ii) Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in 

respect of any item(s) of business being considered at this 
meeting 

NOTES: 
• Members are reminded that they must not participate in 
any item where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 

• As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any 
interest, of which the Member is aware, that relates to the 

Member’s spouse or civil partner (or any person with whom the 
Member is living as a spouse or civil partner) 
• Members with a significant personal interest may 

participate in the discussion and vote on that matter unless that 
interest could be reasonably regarded as prejudicial 
 

 

5a  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

To receive any questions from Surrey County Council electors 

within the area in accordance with Standing Order 66.  One 

question has been received, the question and officer response 

are attached.  If further questions are received before the 

deadline they will be circulated in a supplementary agenda. 

(Pages 9 - 12) 

5b  MEMBER QUESTIONS 
 

To receive any written questions from Members 
under Standing Order 47.  

 

 

6  PETITIONS 
 

To receive any petitions in accordance with Standing Order 65 

or letters of representation in accordance with the Local 
Protocol. An officer response will be provided to each petition / 

letter of representation. 
 
No petitions have been received. 
 

 

7  BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC (BOAT) NO. 526 (CAPEL & 
WOTTON) (D287) WOLVENS LANE [FOR DECISION - OTHER 
COUNTY COUNCIL FUNCTIONS] 
 

Extensive repairs to the surface of Wolvens Lane were carried 

(Pages 13 - 50) 



 

out in Autumn 2020. Prior to the works, the surface of the BOAT, 
it’s boundary banks and neighbouring land and property had 

suffered significant misuse from motorised vehicles, including 
motorbikes. In addition to some irresponsible vehicle drivers 
damaging the surface, some also cause a danger to other users 

including walkers, cyclists and horse riders by driving at speed 
through sections with limited visibility. Wolvens Lane has a legal 

width of 10 – 15 feet and several blind bends, which can make it 
difficult for other users to pass vehicles safely. 
 

Officers now consider that in order to improve the safety of non-
motorised users and protect the repaired surface from damage, 

that a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to restrict all motorised 
vehicles with 4 or more wheels and all horse drawn carriages 
exceeding a width of 1500mm (4’11’’) should be made between 

A and D as shown on drawing 3/1/41/H52a (annex A) in line with 
option 2 detailed in the report (see para. 1.4). Existing structures 

enforce this closure are already in place at points B and C, and 
appropriate signage at points A, B, C and D. 
 

This report seeks approval to publish a Notice of Intention to 
make a Traffic Regulation Order for Byway Open to All Traffic 
(BOAT) No. 526 Capel (D287) Wolvens Lane. 
 

8  PUBLIC FOOTPATH 24 (LEATHERHEAD)- GREEN LANE LEVEL 
CROSSING INVESTIGATION [FOR DECISION - OTHER COUNTY 
COUNCIL FUNCTIONS] 
 

Once prepared and until subsequently modified, the Definitive 

Map and Statement (DMS) is conclusive evidence that a right of 
way exists and of its particulars. Surrey County Council (SCC) 
as surveying authority has a duty to make an order modifying the 

DMS where evidence is discovered that a public right should be 
added, modified or deleted.  

 
Between 2015 and 2021 representations were made to SCC 
from Network Rail (NR) regarding that part of public footpath 24 

(Leatherhead) which crosses the railway as shown A-B on the 
Drg.  3/1/51/H116. These were accompanied by evidence, which 

NR argued showed that A-B was recorded on the DMS in error.  
NR were informed that it would be normal procedure for them to 
make an application to the Council under s.53 and Schedule 14 

of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 which would require us 
to consider the evidence and make a decision upon it. 

Countryside Access took legal advice on NR’s assertion that we 
had a duty to consider the evidence without an application and 
not to defer it until all Schedule 14 work had been done. Surrey 

Legal confirms (s. 4.2 of the report) that this was the case and 
that we should look at the evidence and make a determination 

on it.  
 
Evidence was sought from various parties with an interest in this 

matter. Substantial evidence was received for and against 
Network Rail’s assertion and otherwise discovered by SCC. This 

is described in section 2 of this report. This matter was weighed 

(Pages 51 - 94) 



 

up on the basis of the legal tests laid out in Annex B and 
sections 1 and 9 of this report. 

 
It is considered that evidence shows that section A-B of public 
footpath 24 (Leatherhead) as shown on Drg. 3/1/51/H116 should 

not be included on the Definitive Map and therefore should be 
deleted from it. A legal order to modify the DMS should be 

made. 
 

9  MOLE VALLEY PARKING REVIEW [EXECUTIVE ITEM - FOR 
DECISION] 
 

To consider the outcome of a review of requests that have been 

received for either the introduction of new parking restrictions or 
changes to existing restrictions at various sites in Mole Valley. 

Requests were received from both local councillors and the 
public alike. 
 

Since the introduction of Decriminalised Parking Enforcement 
(DPE) in May 2005, new parking / waiting restrictions in Mole 

Valley have been introduced in several stages as part of our 
parking review process. 
 

This report details locations and general proposals for the latest 
parking / waiting restriction review, to be progressed in 2021 / 

2022, and seeks approval to carry out statutory advertising of 
the proposals. Proposals also include a number of on-street 
electric vehicle charging point bays. 
 

(Pages 95 - 
154) 

10  RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER [FOR DECISION] 
 

This item provides an update on previous decisions and actions 

agreed by the Committee.  The Committee is asked to agree 
that the items marked as complete are removed from the 

tracker. 
 

(Pages 155 - 
158) 

11  FORWARD PLAN [FOR INFORMATION] 
 

The Local Committee (Mole Valley) will note the contents of the 
forward plan. 
 

(Pages 159 - 
160) 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of the meeting of the  
Mole VALLEY LOCAL COMMITTEE 
held at 2.00 pm on 24 February 2021 

at Virtual. 
 
These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Committee at its next 
meeting. 
 

Surrey County Council Members: 
 
 * Mr Tim Hall (Chairman) 

* Mr Stephen Cooksey (Vice-Chairman) 
* Mrs Helyn Clack 
* Mrs Clare Curran 
* Mr Chris Townsend 
* Mrs Hazel Watson 
 

Borough / District Members: 
 
 * Cllr Rosemary Dickson 

  Cllr Nancy Goodacre 
* Cllr Raj Haque 
* Cllr David Hawksworth CBE 
* Cllr Mary Huggins 
* Cllr Claire Malcomson 
 

* In attendance 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

1/21 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  [Item 1] 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Nancy Goodacre. Cllr Paul 
Kennedy attended as her substitute. 
 

2/21 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  [Item 2] 
 
Minutes of the previous meeting on 9 December 2020 were agreed as a true 
record. 
 

3/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  [Item 3] 
 
Mrs Hazel Watson declared a personal interest in item 4b as she was a 
Governor at The Ashcombe School. 
 

4/21 PETITIONS  [Item 5] 
 
One petition was received before the deadline. The full wording of this and the 
officer response were available to view in the supplementary agenda. 
 

5/21 PETITION TO: INTRODUCE TWO BOX JUNCTIONS IN DORKING  [Item 
5a] 
 
Declarations of Interest: None 
 
Officers attending: Zena Curry, Area Highways Manager (AHM), SCC 

Page 1

ITEM 3



 
Petitions, Public Statements, Questions: Charlotte Whitaker from Dorking 
Town Partnership attended the meeting to present the petition to the Local 
Committee. She stated she didn’t understand why the installation of box 
junctions would make congestion worse, when their purpose was to improve 
congestion. She asked if SCC could reconsider their response and look at the 
junctions again. 
 
Key points from discussion: 
 

 Members acknowledged that something needed to be done about the 
congestion in Dorking. Although members were unsure if box junctions 
were the answer to the problem. 
 

 It was noted that the proposals for box junctions were almost universally 
opposed by residents of the villages to the west of Dorking. And the 
installation of these boxes would further divide the villages from the town. 
 

 Some members suggested that there could be a trial of the box junctions 
to see what effect this had. Although it was argued by other members that 
if the Officer advice was against the installation of the boxes, as they 
would serve no purpose, then members should follow Officer advice and 
not try to pursue the installation. 
 

 The AHM noted that a comprehensive transport study had been 
completed for Dorking and most roads in and around Dorking were 
already over capacity throughout most of the day. She added that the 
installation of box junctions had been looked at on many occasions for 
Dorking and she would not advocate a trial, as it would be unlikely to pass 
the safety audit. 
 

 Although the box junctions were not thought to be the way forward, the 
AHM added further work would continue with local businesses to find a 
solution for Dorking. 
 

 There was a divide in opinion from the committee regarding the way 
forward. 
 

Resolution: 
 
The committee voted on the recommendation and with a vote of 5 for the 
recommendation, 4 against and 3 abstentions, the Mole Valley Local 
Committee agreed to note: 
 
1. That the installation of a yellow box at this junction will not be effective at 

reducing congestion on Vincent Lane or the A25 Westcott Road and will 
likely lead to further congestion. 
 

2. There are no plans to install KEEP CLEAR markings on South Street, 
which could lead additional queuing/congestion on South Street. 

 
Reason for decisions: 
 

Page 2

ITEM 3



The above decisions were made as the local committee agreed, on officer 
recommendation, that the installation of a yellow box junction or KEEP 
CLEAR markings were not viable solutions to the issue at hand.  
 

6/21a PUBLIC QUESTIONS  [Item 4a] 
 
Declarations of Interest: None 
 
Officers attending: Zena Curry, Area Highways Manager (AHM), SCC, Katie 
Stewart, Executive Director for Environment, Transport and Infrastructure 
(ETI), SCC and Carolyn McKenzie, Director for Environment, SCC 
 
Petitions, Public Statements, Questions: Seven written public questions 
were received before the deadline. The full wording of the questions and 
officer responses were included within the supplementary agenda. 
 
Key points from discussion: 
 
Question 2 was submitted by Julia Dickinson who attended the meeting and 
asked the following supplementary question; 
 
In the officer response, it was noted further information is awaited from Coast 
2 Capital. Can the response therefore be updated when this further 
information has been provided? 
 
It was agreed that further information would be provided when available. The 
Local Committee agreed it would also be useful for them to be briefed on this 
topic in the future when the information was available. 
 
Question 1 submitted by Cllr Roger Adams and Question 6 submitted by Cllr 
Paul were in relation to the Norbury Park sawmill. Both attended the meeting 
along with SCC officers; the Executive Director for Environment, Transport 
and Infrastructure and Director for Environment who responded to concerns 
raised. 
 
It was noted there was lots of concern about the closure of the sawmill and 
questions were asked about the decision making process as it appeared the 
sawmill had been profitable for the vast majority of past years. 
 
It was confirmed by Officers that the decision was about who should run the 
sawmill and not about whether it should be there. The decision taken by SCC 
was that it was not financially viable for them to run the sawmill. SCC would 
continue to work with local community interest groups to find a projects that 
could run sustainably at the site. 
 
It was questioned about the cost for SCC to take on the sawmill running and 
what the quoted figure of £280k included. It was confirmed this figure included 
the purchase of the structure and equipment as well as costs for essential site 
improvements. It was confirmed that if SCC took on the running, the site 
would become illegible for certain grants and funding, they otherwise would 
have been able to access.  
 
Members noted their disappointment about the lack of engagement and 
consultation with them. This was acknowledged by Officers and noted that 

Page 3

ITEM 3



conscious efforts would be made in the future to better engage with local 
stakeholders. 
 
Question 3 was submitted by Peter Seaward who attended the meeting and 
asked the following supplementary question; 
 
Thank you for this answer, do we know when these results will be known? 
 
It was confirmed that the School Places Planning Team were due to meet 
with schools from March onwards and it was therefore likely the results would 
be available from early-mid summer. 
 
Question 4 was submitted by Cllr Caroline Salmon who attended the meeting. 
She noted it was disappointing to not have a response as the issue was 
pertinent now. 
 
The AHM requested further information about the issue and agreed to follow 
up on this outside the meeting. 
 
Question 5 was submitted by Cllr Elizabeth Daly, who did not attend the 
meeting nor ask a supplementary question. 
 
Question 7 was submitted by Cllr Paul Kennedy who attended the meeting 
and asked the following supplementary question; 
 
Is it possible to provide a ball park figure for this work based on previous 
work?  
 
The AHM confirmed she would provide the full list of ball park figures for work 
to the Local Committee.  
 
 

6/21b MEMBER QUESTIONS  [Item 4b] 
 
Declarations of Interest: Mrs Hazel Watson declared a personal interest as 
a Governor of The Ashcombe School. 
 
Officers attending: Zena Curry, Area Highways Manager (AHM), SCC 
 
Petitions, Public Statements, Questions: The questions and officer 
responses were provided within the supplementary agenda. Five written 
question was received before the deadline. 
 
Question 1 was submitted by Mrs Hazel Watson, who asked the following 
supplementary question; 
 
Do officers agree that banning a left turn at the junction of Station Road and 
Chalkpit Lane would help the problem? 
 
The AHM noted that all possible options would need to be looked at within the 
feasibility study. She added there would be no reason to ban the left turn on 
safety grounds and also no guarantee that drivers would comply with this. 
She concluded further investigation would be required before any agreement 
or disagreement could be made. 
 

Page 4

ITEM 3



Question 2 was submitted by Mrs Hazel Watson, who asked the following 
supplementary question; 
 
My specific question was not answered in the officer response. Why was only 
one survey carried out at the time, when it was known that more surveys 
would be needed in the future?  
 
The AHM responded by stating the original speed survey had been carried 
out for initial scoping and was just the first step, and not the full study. She 
confirmed the speed survey hadn’t been undertaken to specifically look at 
reducing the speed limit. It was conducted on the request of the Head 
Teacher of Boxhill School, who was concerned about the possible safety 
issues outside the school. 
 
Question 3 was submitted by Cllr Rosemary Dickson, who made the following 
comment in response; 
 
I do see that it is a bigger issue than just simply moving the white line. I am 
surprised there have not been any personal injury claims but I do know the 
museum has been hit by turning vehicles. 
 
The AHM noted the comment and stated she would have a conversation with 
the Road Safety Manager about the junction. She concluded it would be 
unlikely the junction would get a full redesign but it would be useful for officers 
to keep an eye on this. 
 
Question 4 was submitted by Mr Stephen Cooksey, who asked the following 
supplementary question; 
 
Can I seek assurance that the investigative work will take place in the 
relatively near future? 
 
The AHM confirmed that officers would try to progress this work as soon as 
possible; adding that engineers would be in touch shortly to see if the 
divisional member would like to use any of his capital maintenance funding to 
assist. 
 
Question 5 was submitted by Mrs Hazel Watson, who asked the following 
supplementary question; 
 
Are you aware I raised a question yesterday at Cabinet? The Cabinet 
member answered the question and offered to meet to discuss the scoring.  
 
The AHM confirmed she would be happy to meet to discuss the scoring but 
noted the scheme in question only had a priority score of 70, compared to 
other proposed schemes, where the lowest priority score over the 3 year 
programme, was 190. 
 

7/21 UPDATED HIGHWAYS FORWARD PROGRAMME 2021-22 TO 2023-24 
[EXECUTIVE FUNCTION - FOR DECISION]  [Item 6] 
 
Declarations of Interest: None 
 
Officers attending: Zena Curry, Area Highways Manager (AHM), SCC 
 

Page 5

ITEM 3



Petitions, Public Statements, Questions: None 
 
Key points from the discussion: 
 

 A query was made about the clearing of drain and gullies. It was noted 
that drainage didn’t fall under the ITS and was funded through a 
centralised budget. 
 

 Members raised concern around the consultation process and the 
schemes that were chosen to be taken forward. It was confirmed the long 
ITS list consisted of schemes that had come forward from questions or 
petitions raised by residents. These schemes were then scored against 5 
criteria before the highest scoring, affordable projects were proposed to 
the local committee for agreement.  

 
Resolution: 
 
The Local Committee (Mole Valley): 
 
General 
 

i. Noted that the Local Committee’s devolved highways budget for 
capital works in 2021/22 is £537,000. 
 

ii. Agreed that the devolved capital budget for highway works be used to 
progress both capital improvement schemes and capital maintenance 
schemes. 
 

iii. Noted that should there be any changes to the programme of highway 
works as set out in this report, a report will be taken to a future 
meeting of Mole Valley Local Committee to inform members of the 
changes. 
 

iv. Authorised that the Area Highway Manager, in consultation with the 
Local Committee Chairman and Vice-Chairman, be able to allocate 
any additional funding for schemes, in accordance with any guidance 
issued surrounding that funding. 
 

Capital Improvement Schemes 
 

v. Agreed that the capital improvement schemes allocation for Mole 
Valley be used to progress the Integrated Transport Schemes 
programme set out in Annex 1. 
 

vi. Authorise that the Area Highway Manager, in consultation with the 
Local Committee Chairman and Vice-Chairman, be able to vire money 
between the schemes agreed in Annex 1, if required. 
 

vii. Agree that the Local Committee Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Area 
Highway Team Manager, together with the local divisional Member are 
able to progress any scheme from the Integrated Transport Schemes 
programme, including consultation and statutory advertisement that 
may be required under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, for 
completion of those schemes. Where it is agreed that a scheme will 

Page 6

ITEM 3



not be progressed, this will be reported back to the next formal 
meeting of the Local Committee for approval. 

 
Capital Maintenance Schemes (LSR) 
 
viii. Agree that the capital maintenance schemes allocation for Mole Valley 

be divided equitably between County Councillors to carry out capital 
maintenance works in their divisions, and that the schemes to be 
progressed be agreed by divisional members in consultation with the 
Area Maintenance Engineer. 

 
Revenue Maintenance 
 

ix. Note that the members will continue to receive a Member Local 
Highways Fund (revenue) allocation of £7,500 per county member to 
address highway issues in their division; and 
 

x. Agree that the Member Local Highways Fund be managed by the Area 
Maintenance Engineer on behalf of and in consultation with members. 

 
Reason for decisions: 
 
The above decision were made in order to agree a forward programme of 
highways works in Mole Valley for 2021/22 – 2023/24, funded from the Local 
Committee’s devolved budget. 
 

8/21 DECISION TRACKER [FOR INFORMATION]  [Item 7] 
 
The Local Committee noted the decision tracker and agreed items marked as 
closed and complete could be removed. 
 

9/21 FORWARD PLAN [FOR INFORMATION]  [Item 8] 
 
The Local Committee noted the forward plan of items expected to be received 
at future meetings. 
 
 
 
 
Meeting ended at: 4.00 pm 
______________________________________________________________ 
 Chairman 

Page 7

ITEM 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Mole Valley Local Committee – 29 September 2021 

Written Public Question 

 

Question from Ms Monica Weller 

My revised question for SCC Local Committee meeting in September. 

 
Parts of Church Road in Great Bookham near Fiona Close and Sharon Close have become 
a dangerous, ill-maintained rat run where speeding motorists show no regard for 
pedestrians, particularly where they have to manoeuvre along part of the road where there is 
no pavement on either side. One unsuccessfully repaired dip in the road, near the corner of 
Fiona Close and Church Road, literally causes a house to move when speeding vehicles 
thump over it. This stretch of road as it approaches the National Trust Tunnel Car Park has 
become the go-to place for huge numbers of visitors to the Common. We also have a 
climate emergency and need to reduce our carbon footprint. SCC is promoting active travel 
on its website, but I have learned in an email from SCC’s Highways Dept that there is no 
budget available, so Active Travel ideas will not be coming to Great Bookham until at least 
2023/2024.  

 

In 2022, with the proposed changes to the UK’s Highway Code in place, what action will be 

taken by SCC to enforce the new protocol, particularly in Church Road, whereby drivers who 

could potentially cause the most harm, will be expected by law to ensure people on bicycles 

and pedestrians are safe on the shared road? 

 
If SCC’s words are to be believed about its commitment to Active Travel, and not just an 
embarrassing failure, I would like to ask when a more joined-up urgent approach will be 
taken by the council to make Church Road in Bookham a greener, safer place for 
pedestrians and cyclists?  
 

I would like to suggest new road safety signs, selected from the attachments to this email, 

are urgently put in place. 30mph to be painted in white on the road surface in both directions. 

I do not want to see road bumps installed on the road. 

 
Response 

Church Road, Bookham is a residential road and, for most of the length, has properties on 

either side and a pavement available on at least one side of the road.  However, the northern 

end of Church Road runs through Bookham Common, with residential properties on the 

eastern side and Bookham Common to the west. There is access to an established car park 

for visitors to the Common and Bookham Railway Station at the northern end of Church 

Road. There is no pavement on the north western end of Church Street, where the Common 

is located. However, Footpath 87 provides a footpath across the Common for pedestrians 
walking north/south along Church Road to Bookham Railway Station.  

It is appreciated that some residents could feel that there has been an increase in traffic 

using Church Road to access Bookham Common. The road has regular Highway Safety 

Inspections and any undulations that meet the intervention level are identified within those 

inspections and fixed in accordance with our standards and procedures: Highway Safety 
Inspections - standards and procedures - Surrey County Council (surreycc.gov.uk). 

Residents who have any concerns regarding damage to their property, that they consider 

could be due to undulating road surfaces, should firstly contact their home insurance 

Page 9

ITEM 5a

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/policies-plans-consultations/policies-and-plans/highway-safety-inspections-standards-and-procedures
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/policies-plans-consultations/policies-and-plans/highway-safety-inspections-standards-and-procedures


company. They will be able to install the necessary equipment to determine if the property is 
being damaged and the probable cause.   

Active Travel makes an important contribution to the reduction of carbon and forms a central 

part of the Local Transport Strategy (LTP4) for Surrey. In addition to prioritised specific 

Active Travel bids, the approach taken to support walking and cycling networks is through 

the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs). Surrey County Council is 

collaborating with Boroughs and Districts and the intention is to have LCWIPs developed to 

provide countywide coverage, and ready for taking priority schemes forward to delivery 

subject to funding streams availability. The infrastructure plans enable a long-term approach 

to developing local cycling and walking networks, ideally over a 10 year period, and form a 

vital part of the Government’s strategy to increase the number of trips made on foot or by 
cycle.  

Further detailed information and guidance on the LCWIP process can be found on the DfT 

website using the link here:  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-cycling-and-
walking-infrastructure-plans-technical-guidance-and-tools 

It is acknowledged that there are many communities across the county that are keen to see 

active travel schemes and a list for future funding opportunities is being compiled. The 

suggestion for active travel measures installed on Church Road, Bookham has been added 

to this list for future consideration. 

 
The Highway Code changes came into effect on 14th September 2021 and included 33 
updates to existing rules and two new additional laws. The changes do not require local 
authorities to install additional infrastructure to ensure that drivers take on board the changes 
to the guidance within the Highway Code. The existing laws which can only be enforced by 
Surrey Police, such as “Driving without due care and attention” as well as “Dangerous 
driving”, remain in place.   
 

There are a number of stages involved in agreeing to the installation of speed reduction 
measures such as on Church Road. The first stage was achieved when this scheme was 
included on what is called the ITS (Integrated Transport Scheme) list. This list includes all 
the active and proposed highways schemes in the district and provides the basis for 
prioritising the schemes against several criteria.  

 

The members of the Mole Valley Local Committee agreed, at the meeting held on 24th 
February 2021, that funding will be allocated in the next financial year (2022/23) to design a 
scheme to introduce speed reduction measures on Church Road, Bookham for construction 
in the 2023/24 financial year. These measures will reduce vehicle speeds and help to 
improve road safety for all road users using Church Road, Bookham.  

 

Roads are a highly regulated environment and Surrey County Council, along with all local 

highway authorities, can only install signs on the public highway if they are contained within 

the Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016. The majority of the suggested 

signs are not contained within this statutory document, and therefore Surrey County Council 

is not legally permitted to install these signs. However, the suggestion of the “No Footway” 

sign will be considered as part of the design stage for Church Road, where there is no 

pavement next to the road.  

 

Church Road, Bookham is classed as a restricted road under the Road Traffic Regulation 

Act 1984.  The system of street lighting in the road indicates to drivers that the speed limit is 

Page 10

ITEM 5a

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plans-technical-guidance-and-tools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plans-technical-guidance-and-tools


30mph.  Surrey, as highway authority, must comply with national regulations covering the 

signing of speed limits.  For a restricted road such as Church Road, Bookham, the 30mph 

speed limit can only be signed at its terminal points and it is not permitted to use repeater 

signs or 30mph road markings. Therefore, Surrey County Council is not legally permitted to 
install 30mph road markings in Church Road, Bookham as suggested.  

The concerns about road humps to reduce traffic speeds have been noted, and will be taken 
into consideration during the design stage for this prioritised ITS scheme. 

Page 11

ITEM 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

LOCAL COMMITTEE (MOLE VALLEY) 
 

 
DATE:  29 SEPTEMBER 2021   

 
LEAD OFFICER:  DANIEL WILLIAMS, COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS OFFICER 
 
SUBJECT: BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC (BOAT) No. 526 (CAPEL & 

WOTTON) (D287) WOLVENS LANE  

 
DIVISION: DORKING HILLS 
 
SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 

 
Extensive repairs to the surface of Wolvens Lane were carried out in Autumn 2020. 
Prior to the works, the surface of the BOAT, it’s boundary banks and neighbouring 
land and property had suffered significant misuse from motorised vehicles, including 
motorbikes. In addition to some irresponsible vehicle drivers damaging the surface, 
some also cause a danger to other users including walkers, cyclists and horse riders 
by driving at speed through sections with limited visibility. Wolvens Lane has a legal 
width of 10 – 15 feet and several blind bends, which can make it difficult for other 
users to pass vehicles safely. 
 
An extensive consultation was carried out the results of which are contained within 
this report and its accompanying annexes. 
 
Officers now consider that in order to improve the safety of non-motorised users and 
protect the repaired surface from damage, that a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to 
restrict all motorised vehicles with 4 or more wheels and all horse drawn carriages 
exceeding a width of 1500mm (4’11’’) should be made between A and D as shown 
on drawing 3/1/41/H52a (annex A) in line with option 2 detailed in the report (see 
para. 1.4). Existing structures enforce this closure are already in place at points B 
and C, and appropriate signage at points A, B, C and D. 
 

This report seeks approval to publish a Notice of Intention to make a Traffic Regulation 
Order for Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT) No. 526 Capel (D287) Wolvens Lane. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The Local Committee (Mole Valley) is asked to agree that: 

 
i. The grounds for making a TRO as outlined are met. A Notice of Intention to 

make that Order, to restrict all motorised vehicles with 4 or more wheels and 
all horse drawn carriages exceeding a width of 1500mm (4’11’’), to help 
prevent danger to persons or other traffic using the routes and to prevent 
damage to the repaired surface, boundary banks and surrounding associated 
land as shown A-D in pink on Drawing Number 3/1/41/H52a (Annex A) 
should be published for BOAT No. 526 Capel (D287) Wolvens Lane,  
 

ii. Where significant (and relevant) objections are received to an advertised 
proposal to make an Order, the Area Highways Manager will decide in 

Page 13

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

consultation with the divisional member, and the Mole Valley Committee 
Chairman/Vice Chairman whether the Traffic Regulation Order may be made. 

 

iii. The Area Highways Manager may in consultation with the Divisional member 
and the Mole Valley Committee Chairman/Vice Chairman decide whether to 
accede to any unresolved objections and decide whether the TRO may be 
made either with or without modifications, with due regard to the provisions of 
the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) Regulations 1996. 

 
iv. Where substantial (and relevant) objections are received, or significant 

modifications proposed, the Officer with delegated authority in consultation 
with the Divisional member and the Mole Valley Committee Chairman/Vice 
Chairman, may refer the decision on whether the TRO be made back to the 
Mole Valley Committee. A public inquiry might be convened to inform any final 
decision. 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
For reasons of public safety, members are asked to agree that a TRO be made, to 
avoid danger to persons or other users of the route and to prevent damage to the 
repaired surface, boundary banks and adjacent surrounding land. On balance it is 
deemed reasonable and proportionate to make an order as proposed which 
maintains the safety and amenity of the way for the majority of users whilst 
withdrawing access from small numbers of users who cause the most danger and 
damage along the route and whose use cannot be accommodated without detriment 
to the majority of users. 
 
1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND: 
 

1.1 Wolvens Lane (BOAT 526 Capel & Wotton) (hereafter to also be referred to as 
‘the Lane” or ‘Wolvens Lane’) is also a D Road, classified as D287. It runs from 
its junction with the Abinger Road and BOAT 527 in the centre of Coldharbour 
for a distance of 4.15km to meet Sheephouse Lane south of the A25 at 
Wotton. 

1.2 Wolvens Lane is situated in the Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB). AONBs are on par with the UK’s National Parks. Each AONB 
is an outstanding landscape whose distinctive character and natural beauty is 
so precious that it is safeguarded in the national interest. The land over which 
it passes is also designated as Greenbelt and an Area of Great Landscape 
Value. Sections of Wolvens Lane also pass through or run alongside areas 
classed as Ancient Woodland. For the most part, Wolvens Lane is a narrow 
single-track land between ancient boundary banks with very few places where 
wider vehicles can pass each other. It also contains several blind bends and 
rises with poor visibility.  

1.3 Wolvens Lane has suffered from misuse by some irresponsible motorised 
users for a number of years with a certain criminal element. This has led to a 
significant deterioration of the surface with the creation of large wallows, which 
fill with water when wet, together with the degradation of parts of the boundary 
banks. The route and associated surrounding land was resurfaced with stone 
for most of its length last Autumn. Works were also carried out to restore and 
protect the boundary banks, to improve drainage and to restore adjacent 
affected lands. Since 26 October 2020 the route has remained temporarily 

Page 14

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

closed, under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (RTRA), to motorised 
vehicles with 4 or more wheels, and all vehicles wider than 4’11’’. This was 
initially enforced by concrete blocks, later replaced on site with metal gates (at 
B and C) and appropriate traffic signs (at points A, B, C and D). The temporary 
closure is to allow the boundary banks and the surface to consolidate and 
settle down following the surfacing works. The total cost of works so far has 
been £226,000. Further works to the central ‘sandy’ section of the route are 
proposed in Autumn 2021. 

1.4 Following the repairs to the surface, Officers carried out an extensive public 
consultation exercise between 2 March and 19 April 2021 on some options for 
managing the BOAT in the future. The consultation included placing notices on 
site as well as writing to all of the interested parties including user groups, 
Mole Valley District Council, Capel and Wotton Parish Councils, landowners 
and adjoining landowners, the Police, the Surrey Countryside Access Forum 
and Surrey Hills Byways Group. The consultation letter asked for views on 4 
possible options, all of which would apply along the entire length of Wolvens 
Lane: 

(i) To promote a permanent TRO to restrict all motorised vehicles with 2 or 
more wheels and all horse drawn carriages exceeding a width of 
1500mm (4’11’’). 

(ii) To promote a permanent TRO as above for horse drawn carriages but 
only restrict those motorised vehicles with 4 or more wheels. 

(iii) To promote an Experimental TRO, which would ban all motorised 
vehicles, except those who have been issued with a permit to use the 
BOAT. Alternatively, this could be reduced to just those with 4 or more 
wheels who would need a permit. The numbers of permits would be 
restricted. Horse drawn carriages would also be restricted as in option 
(1). 

(iv) The BOAT has no restrictions 

1.5 Greenway - proposals for the provision of a high-quality walking, cycling and 
horse-riding network, spanning Surrey were put forward in June 2020 by the 
Surrey Hills AONB and Cycling UK. It has identified routes to run parallel to 
existing road corridors and integrate with rights of way. The Leith Hill 
Greenway running from Westhumble to Leith Hill includes the route of Wolvens 
Lane. The formation of Greenways seeks to upgrade existing routes to create 
a significant benefit to local networks and ensure traffic free connections 
between significant local landmarks. 

1.6 The committee decision is a non-executive function.  

 
2. ANALYSIS: 

 
2.1 The making of a TRO is a power that may be exercised by the Council. Council 

Policy outlined below at s. 2.2 operates as an initial gateway to the more 
detailed legislative considerations (s. 2.3 onwards) which state what the 
Council may or may not do and what aspects need to be taken into 
consideration and balanced against each other. 

Page 15

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

2.2 Council Policy (See annex B): 

a) That Traffic Regulation Orders be used proactively where a countywide 
assessment indicates a Byway Open to All Traffic is in poor condition, in 
need of significant repair and it is considered necessary to restrict traffic, 
coupled with programmes of repair as resources permit.  
 

b) That where a countywide assessment indicates a Byway Open to All 
Traffic is in reasonable condition a Traffic Regulation Order be only made 
on grounds of significant danger to users of the route, or to prevent 
significant damage to the route. 

 
2.3 The County Council as the Traffic Authority has the power to make a Traffic 

Regulation Order, subject to Parts I to III of schedule 9 of the RTRA where it 
considers it expedient: -  

a) ‘for avoiding danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any other 
road or for preventing the likelihood of any such danger arising, or 

b) for preventing damage to the road or to any building on or near the road, 
or 

c) for facilitating the passage on the road or any other road of any class of 
traffic (including pedestrians), or 

d) for preventing the use of the road by vehicular traffic of a kind which, or 
its use by vehicular traffic in a manner which, is unsuitable having regard 
to the existing character of the road or adjoining property, or 

e) (without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (d) above) for preserving 
the character of the road in a case where it is specially suitable for use by 
persons on horseback or on foot, or 

f) for preserving or improving the amenities of the area through which the 
road runs’ 

g) for any of the purposes specified in paragraphs (a) to (c) of subsection (1) 
of section 87 of the Environment Act 1995 (air quality) 

 
2.4 Section 22 of the RTRA states that in the case of AONBs, the Council should 

also consider the purpose of conserving or enhancing the natural beauty of the 
area, or of affording better opportunities for the public to enjoy the amenities of 
the area, or recreation or the study of nature in the area. 

2.5 The Council must also consider s. 3 (1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 which states:  

1) a traffic regulation order shall not be made with respect to any road which 
would have the effect—  

a) of preventing at any time access for pedestrians, or  

b) of preventing for more than 8 hours in any period of 24 hours access 
for vehicles of any class, to any premises situated on or adjacent to 
the road, or to any other premises accessible for pedestrians, or (as 
the case may be) for vehicles of that class, from, and only from, the 
road.  

This requires that we cannot interfere with vehicular access to properties, 
which can only be exercised along the road in question. The Act does however 
continue in s. 3 (2) to state: 

Page 16

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

2) Subsection (1) above, so far as it relates to vehicles, shall not have effect 
in so far as the authority making the order are satisfied, and it is stated in 
the order that they are satisfied, that—  

a) for avoiding danger to persons or other traffic using the road to which 
the order relates or any other road, or 

b) for preventing the likelihood of any such danger arising, or  
c) for preventing damage to the road or buildings on or near it, or  
d) for facilitating the passage of vehicular traffic on the road, or  
e) for preserving or improving the amenities of an area by prohibiting or 

restricting the use on a road or roads in that area of heavy commercial 
vehicles, it is requisite that subsection (1) above should not apply to 
the order. 

 
2.6 The Council has a duty under Section 122 of the RTRA, to conduct an 

adequate balancing exercise to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe 
movement of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians).  

1) It shall be the duty of every local authority upon whom functions are 
conferred by or under this Act, so to exercise the functions conferred on 
them by this Act as (so far as practicable having regard to the matters 
specified in subsection (2) below) to secure the expeditious, convenient 
and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians) 
and the provision of suitable and adequate parking facilities on and 
off the highway or, in Scotland the road. 

2) The matters referred to in subsection (1) above as being specified in this 
subsection are— 

(a) the desirability of securing and maintaining reasonable access to 
premises; 

(b) the effect on the amenities of any locality affected and (without 
prejudice to the generality of this paragraph) the importance of 
regulating and restricting the use of roads by heavy commercial 
vehicles, so as to preserve or improve the amenities of the areas 
through which the roads run; 

(bb) the strategy prepared under section 80 of the Environment Act 
1995 (national air quality strategy); 

(c) the importance of facilitating the passage of public service vehicles 
and of securing the safety and convenience of persons using or 
desiring to use such vehicles; and 

(d) any other matters appearing to the local authority to be relevant. 

3) The duty imposed by subsection (1) above is subject to the provisions of 
Part II of the Road Traffic Act 1991. 

The Courts have determined that the decision-maker must aim to secure the 
expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic so far 
as practicable whilst having regard to factors which may point in favour of 
imposing a restriction on that movement. Such factors will include the effect of 
such movement on the amenities of locality and any other matters appearing to 

Page 17

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

be relevant, including factors mentioned in section 1 of the Act (See para 2.1) 
as being expedient in deciding whether a TRO should be made. The decision 
maker should balance the consideration and come to an appropriate decision.  
 

2.7 An Experimental Traffic Order may be made under Sections 9 and 10 of the 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. This order can only stay in force for a 
maximum of 18 months while the effects are monitored and assessed. 
Changes can be made during the first six months of the experimental period to 
any of the restrictions (except charges) if necessary, before the Council 
decides whether or not to continue with the changes brought in by the 
experimental order on a permanent basis. Any such order must have a clearly 
defined question which is being addressed.  

2.8 Surrey has not operated a permit scheme before. No statutory guidance exists 
so a system would have to be devised and facilitated by Council Officers. An 
experimental order would allow time for the development of the scheme, its 
implementation, modification and refinement by officers. Advice on operation 
and implementation could be sought from other Counties (such as Kent) who 
have already put permits into effect. 

2.9 The ‘Surrey Priority Statement and Targets for Public Rights of Way’ states 
that the County will process TROs in accordance with County Policy as the 
need arises. Processing TROs is number 4 of 8 in the Priority Statement. See 
Annex C.  

3. OPTIONS: 

 
3.1 Section 1.4 of this report notes that 4 possible options were consulted upon: 

i. To promote a permanent TRO to restrict all motorised vehicles with 2 or 
more wheels and all horse drawn carriages exceeding a width of 1500mm 
(4’11’’). 

ii. To promote a permanent TRO as above for horse drawn carriages but 
only restrict those motorised vehicles with 4 or more wheels. 

iii. To promote an Experimental TRO, which would ban all motorised 
vehicles, except those who have been issued with a permit to use the 
BOAT. Alternatively, this could be reduced to just those with 4 or more 
wheels who would need a permit. The numbers of permits would be 
restricted. Horse drawn carriages would also be restricted as in option 
(1). 

iv. The BOAT has no restrictions. 

3.2 Whilst these options remain a starting point for the consultation and the 
committee, they do not prevent the committee considering or proposing 
alternative options based upon the responses and the officer’s 
recommendations.  

3.3 Options 1 and 2 and 3 would not require any modification to structures 
currently in place. Option 1 would require changes to signage at each end of 
Wolvens Lane and at relevant structures. Option 3 would require significant 
administrative input indefinitely. Option 4 would require the removal of all 
existing regulation structures and signage. 

Page 18

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
4. CONSULTATIONS: 
  

4.1 Notices were placed on-site and all statutory and other interested parties were 
written to, including user groups, Mole Valley District Council, Capel and 
Wotton Parish Councils, landowners and adjoining landowners, the Police, the 
Surrey Countryside Access Forum and Surrey Hills Byways Group. Legal 
Services has approved this report. Substantial evidence was received from 
consultees. A detailed summary of the responses can be found at Annex D. 

4.2 491 responses were received to the consultation. The varied and qualitative 
nature of them means that whilst it is difficult to report exact numbers it is 
possible to infer general trends of support for each option. Some care must be 
taken in the interpretation. Some respondents expressed their preferences in 
general terms, or by supporting one or more options. Sometimes an option 
was expressed as a supporting preference and sometimes as an objecting 
preference, sometimes with caveats or variations from the option. It may be 
possible to make some assumptions when looking at the numbers. For 
example, those supporting option 1, most likely would object to option 4 even if 
this was not explicitly stated. Estimated percentages are drawn from those 
responses that clearly drew attention to support or objection- many fell outside 
this rigid categorisation. 

4.3 Approximately 63% of responses were in support of some sort of restriction to 
motorised vehicles, whilst approximately 35% objected to any type of 
restriction. Option 1 gained the most support (45%) but also the most 
objections (32%). There was only a small amount of explicit support for an 
experimental order and permit scheme (9%). 

Other relevant statistics: 

21 responses suggested imposing a speed limit 
2 people said they used the Byway in motor vehicles because they needed 
disabled access 
2 people suggested proper signage was needed 
6 people suggested imposing a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) 
79 people mentioned danger/safety concerns, of those 13 mentioned near 
misses 
1 person suggested a weight or width limit might be applied 
10 noted that access was required for carriage drivers. 
140 respondents are motorcyclists 
12 respondents had used it in a 4x4 or similar vehicle. 
 

4.4 The Council cannot restrict such private rights or the wayleaves of those 
organisations requiring utilities access. 

4.5 Positive responses were received from BT, SES Water, SGN Gas Distribution 
and UK Power Networks that they had plant either on or adjacent to Wolvens 
Lane. No objections were received to the works which have been already 
undertaken. 

5. FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS: 

 
5.1 If a Notice of Intention to make a TRO is published this would incur 

administrative and advertising costs of approximately £3,000. No additional 
costs on structures or signage are likely to arise. 

Page 19

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

5.2 If a public inquiry is convened the costs of this would be in the region of £10-
15,000. This would include Surrey’s administration costs, legal costs, venue 
hire and the cost of an Inspector provided by the Department of Transport.  

5.3 S. 54(7) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 does not: 

“…oblige a highway authority to provide, on a way shown in a definitive map 
and statement as a BOAT, a metalled carriage-way or a carriage-way which is 
by any other means provided with a surface suitable for the passage of 
vehicles”.  A BOAT is defined by s. 66(1) of the above Act as a “highway over 
which the public have a right of way for vehicular and all other kinds of traffic, 
but which is used by the public mainly for the purpose for which footpaths and 
bridleways are so used”. 

5.4 The Countryside Access team has undertaken substantial repairs along this 
route. It is clear, even given this extensive maintenance work, that this would 
not solve all the issues of safety to the public, nor prevent all future damage to 
the surface and adjoining land.  

5.5 The costs of options 1 and 2 have already largely been met in terms of works.  

5.6 The costs of option 3 would be significantly greater. Any experimental order 
would need to be made and advertised and then monitored. Additional staff 
administration costs and any permit scheme costs would be ongoing. Should 
any experimental order be made permanent then this ‘conversion’ would also 
require advertising. It is estimated the costs of this would initially be around 
£4,000 but would rise over the order period and continue indefinitely. 

5.7 The immediate costs of option 4 pertain to the immediate removal of structures 
and signs on site. In the longer term it is likely that use of the route by 4x4 
vehicles will ultimately lead to damage to the surface and resultant costs of 
repair. 

6. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS: 

 
6.1 It is the objective of Surrey County Council to have due regard to all public 

users of the highway. 

6.2 A TRO limiting use by all motorised vehicles and some carriages of greater 
width than 1500mm will prevent further damage to the surface and safeguard 
other users. This will limit access to small numbers of those for whom this is 
the only possible means of accessing this area of Countryside. Just two of 
those who responded to the consultation mentioned that they ‘required’ a 
motorised vehicle to be able to use the route. 

6.3 The introduction of a permit system would allow some use to continue in a 
controlled manner for those who can demonstrate a defined need.  

6.4 TROs will only be considered to the extent necessary to address the issues 
whilst drawing on principles of least restrictive access where possible. In this 
instance vehicle nuisance, the risk of danger to the public and damage to the 
BOAT and surrounding lands is at such levels that a TRO is considered 
required. 

Page 20

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

7. LOCALISM: 

 
7.1 This report addresses the concerns of Capel and Wotton Parish Councils, local 

landowner owners, local users and Surrey Police who have made 
representation as referred to in section 4.  

8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 
Crime and Disorder Set out below. 

Sustainability (including Climate 
Change and Carbon Emissions) 

Set out below. 

Corporate Parenting/Looked After 
Children 

No significant implications arising 
from this report. 

Safeguarding responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and adults   

No significant implications arising 
from this report. 

Public Health 
 

Set out below. 

 
8.1 Crime and Disorder implications 

 
The closure of Wolvens Lane to motorised vehicles will increase road safety 
and prevent conflict between users. It will also assist in the prevention of 
criminal damage to adjacent land and property and the dumping of vehicles 
and other waste. Please see the comments from Surrey Police in Annex D. 

8.2 Sustainability implications 
 

The proposed restrictions will retain reduced use of the route by motorised 
vehicles, reducing environmental impacts in the local area.  

 
8.3 Public Health 
 

A permanent TRO would encourage the public to use Wolvens Lane on foot, 
bicycle and horseback which would make a contribution to health and 
wellbeing by facilitating safer exercise and activity. 

 
 
9. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
9.1 Officers do not have delegated powers to make or advertise proposals to make 

TROs. 

9.2 The committee’s decision must seek to balance: 

 The factual issues outlined in section 1. 

 The legal considerations outlined in section 2. 

 The representations received to consultations and detailed at section 4 
and annex D. 

9.3 The type of TRO, its extent and how it is enforced will need careful 
consideration. The key issues identified are: 

Page 21

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

i. The narrowness, preventing some classes of user from passing safely. 

ii. The poor lines of sight along the route. 

iii. The protection of amenity for as many all classes of user. 

iv. The damage caused to the BOAT and adjacent land by continued use of 
MPVs 

v. The protection of improvements already undertaken. 

vi. The protection of all existing rights and the expeditious movement of 
vehicles 

vii. The purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty and 
amenity of the area where it falls within an AONB. 

9.4 Surrey Policy directs that TROs may be considered for two key reasons, to 
facilitate (a) repair or (b) safety and to prevent damage. Wolvens Lane has 
recently been repaired to a high standard, with additional works due during 
autumn 2021. These works have been protected from the impacts of 4x4 
vehicles by temporary closure (Para. 1.3). The route is therefore in a good 
state of repair so (a) cannot apply.   

9.5 Surrey Safety Engineering Team Leader (see annex E) has carried out a 
safety audit of Wolvens Lane noting that there are very few safe passing 
places, there is restricted visibility and the risk of conflict between users, with 
pedestrians being particularly vulnerable. This position is strongly supported by 
Surrey Highways who note the removal of structures would create safety 
concerns for walkers, cyclists, equestrians and 2 wheeled motor vehicles, and 
by the Countryside Access Team Manager. These are the professional and 
expert opinions of Surrey County Council officers. 

9.6 Road safety was also highlighted by Surrey Police, as was the fact that it is not 
always possible to prevent some users without impacting upon others. Part (b) 
of Surrey’s policy is therefore engaged.  

9.7 Having established this, members might consider that it is expedient to make 
an order under sections a, c, d or f to a greater or lesser degree (See para. 
2.3). Much of Wolvens Lane also falls within the Surrey Hills AONB so 
members should consider whether a TRO would serve to conserve or enhance 
the natural beauty of the area (see para. 2.4). 

9.8 Motorised vehicles and carriages are legitimate users of any BOAT open 
without restriction and they have a right to be there. This applies both to 4x4 
vehicles and to motorbikes. Preventing or restricting those rights cannot then 
be lightly undertaken. The Council’s duty at section 122 (see para. 2.7) to 
conduct an adequate balancing exercise must consider those rights and 
whether, on balance, their curtailment or restriction can be justified given other 
factors. 

9.9 It is accepted that the introduction of a TRO will make less of the BOAT 
network available for use by certain user groups, perhaps displacing some use 
and that this will remove legal rights from some parties. Consultations suggest 
that the majority of use by motorised vehicles is by motorbikes, whilst the most 

Page 22

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

damage previously caused was by 4x4 vehicles. Similarly, the greatest risk 
(perceived or otherwise) to other users, on the basis of restricted width and 
visibility was also caused by 4x4 vehicles. This seems to be supported by the 
lack of damage to the new surface since the temporary closure was put in the 
place for motorised 4-wheel vehicles and carriages only and the diminishment 
of reports to the police, especially since February 2021. Many users also say 
they are now able to use the route again. It seems then, expeditious to 
continue to restrict access to 4x4 vehicles and wider carriages in line with the 
successful restrictions already in place, whilst allowing use to continue for the 
larger body of user on motorbikes, carriages less than 1500mm in width, 
cyclists, horse riders and pedestrians. 

9.10 The temporary closure which has been in place for almost 1 year has allowed 
the Council to consider the effect of the above restriction in line with option 2, 
in effect, operating as an informal ‘experiment’. That it seems so far successful 
suggests that there is no need to make an experimental order to explore a 
permit system, which would in any case place a significant burden upon 
resources. It is then appropriate, proportionate and balanced, given the issues 
along Wolvens Lane and the breakdown of affected users, to proceed to 
consult on making an TRO in line with option 2.  

9.11 It is the Officer’s recommendation that a Notice of Intention to make a TRO, for 
BOAT No. 526 Capel (D287) Wolvens Lane, in line with option 2, prohibiting all 
vehicles over 1500mm (4ft 11ins) width, be published. A width restriction of 
1500mm (4ft 11ins) will effectively exclude all motor vehicles, except quad- 
and motorbikes, whilst permitting use by many horse-drawn carriages. We 
recommend that this TRO should apply between A-B-C-D shown on plan 
3/1/41/H52a. 

 
10. WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

 
10.1 Should Members decide to proceed with the TRO, a Notice of Intention to 

make a Traffic Regulation Order will be published in a local newspaper, on 
site, on the Surrey webpages and all interested parties and user groups will be 
notified in accordance with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) 
Regulations 1996. 

10.2 Where significant (and relevant) objections are received to an advertised 
proposal to make an Order, the decision to proceed will be decided by the 
Area Highways Manager in consultation with the divisional member, and the 
Local Committee Chairman/Vice Chairman. Together they may decide whether 
to accede to any unresolved objections. The TRO may be made either with or 
without modifications, with due regard to the provisions of the 1996 
Regulations referred to above. 

10.3 Where substantial (and relevant) objections are received, or significant 
modifications proposed, the Area Highways Manager in consultation with the 
Divisional member and the Local Committee Chairman/Vice Chairman, may 
refer the decision on whether the TRO be made back to the Local Committee. 
Alternatively, they could decide that a public inquiry be held by an independent 
inspector to decide the matter. Guidance regarding how such an inquiry would 
be held can be found in the 1996 regulations already referred to.  

 

Page 23

ITEM 7



 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
Contact Officer: Daniel Williams (Countryside Access Officer)  
 
Telephone: 07929 849518 or 0208 541 9245 
Consulted: 

See section 4 of report and annex D 
 
Annexes: 

A Plan 3/1/41/H52a 
B Policy for TROs 
C Priority statement 
D Summary of consultation responses 
 
Sources/background papers: 

 Available to view at Countryside Access offices, Merrow Depot, Guildford by 
appointment 

 

 

Page 24

ITEM 7



Propose d TRO show n A-B (4,330 me tre s)
BOAT 526 Wotton & Cape l (Wolve ns Lane) (D287)       

District of Mole  Valle y

© Crow n copyright and database rights 2021 OS 100019613. U se  of this data is subje ct to te rms and conditions (se e  be low ). Exce pt A-Z Stre e t Atlas © Copyright of the Publishe rs Ge ographe rs’ A-Z Map Company Ltd.

Grid ref. at A 512978, 147384
Drawing no. 3/1/41/H52a
Drawn by DW
Date 12 August 2021

Key
Footpath
Bridleway
Restricted Byway
BOAT

B

C

A

D

GATE with adjacent
gap of 1500mm

GATE with adjacent
gap of 1500mm

BOAT 526/Wolvens Lane

Abinger Road

µ
1:10,000

OS terms & conditions:
You are granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, 
revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Surrey County Council makes it 
available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or 
otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form. 
Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

Sheephouse

Lane

At A3

A n n e x  A

Page 25

ITEM 7



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL’S POLICY ON MAKING TRAFFIC 
REGULATION ORDERS ON BYWAYS OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC 
 
1 Traffic Regulation Orders can be made by the County Council under the Road 

Traffic Regulation Act 1984.  The County Council considers making Traffic 
Regulation Orders only as a last resort in line with Government advice set out in 
“Making the Best of Byways”. 

 
2 The County Council has a countywide assessment of all Byways Open to All Traffic 

in Surrey.  This considers their current condition, spending on maintenance repair 
work within the last 10 years and evidence of vehicle related unlawful activity on or 
adjacent to the byway.  The assessment indicates the principal problem is erosion 
caused by vehicles, which then presents difficulties and dangers to non-motor users. 

 
3 The County Council’s policy is: 
 

• that Traffic Regulation Orders be used pro-actively where a countywide 
assessment indicates a Byway Open to All Traffic is in poor condition, in 
need of significant repair and it is considered necessary to restrict traffic, 
coupled with programmes of repair as resources permit. 
 

• that where a countywide assessment indicates a Byway Open to All Traffic is 
in reasonable condition a Traffic Regulation Order be only made on grounds 
of significant danger to users of the route, or to prevent significant damage to 
the route. 

 
Surrey County Council: Approved January 2009 
 

Page 27

ITEM 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

             
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

    
  

 
  
 

 

Public Rights of Way 

Priority Statement 

For keeping the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review. 

Prepared as a result of legislation contained in Part 
Three of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 

n        2005 
7th Edition:  October 2014 

Page 29

ITEM 7



 

 

    
 

 
 

 
    

   
    

   
  

  
  

 
    

      
     

 
  

 
    

   
   

 
    

    
   

     
    
     

   
 

  
 

       
   

 
     

   
     

     
     

     
   

   
     

       
      
      

       
 

 

PRIORITY STATEMENT AND TARGETS FOR PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 

DEFINITIVE  MAP - BACKGROUND 

The National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 required every County Council 
in England and Wales to publish a Definitive Map and Statement showing all rights of way in 
their area.  The presumed rights of way were surveyed and a draft Definitive Map was 
placed on deposit and advertised in the London Gazette and local newspapers.  Members of 
the public and landowners could object to the inclusion or omission of a route.  When these 
objections had been investigated a provisional map was placed on deposit and landowners 
could raise further objections to this.  Only when all these objections had been resolved 
could the Definitive Map and Statement be published. 

Surrey’s first Definitive Map was put on deposit in 1952, a revised map was deposited in 
1959 and a second revision was put on deposit in 1966.  It took from 1966-1981 for all the 
objections to the second edition to be resolved and the new Definitive Map was published in 
1982. 

DEFINITIVE MAP – KEEPING IT UP TO DATE 

The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 introduced new procedures for updating the 
Definitive Map and Statement for public rights of way.  All changes to the network are now 
subject to individual legal orders so that objections are resolved at this stage. 

The Wildlife and Countryside Act requires the Definitive Map and Statement to be updated 
and thereafter to be kept under continuous review. Some changes, such as Map 
Modification Orders, update the map and statement at the time of the order. Other changes, 
such as Public Path Orders, do not and the map and statement are then updated in an 
annual Legal Event Order. The Definitive Map was redrawn at a scale of 1:10,000 
incorporating all the legal changes to the network since 1966. A consolidated Definitive Map 
and modified Statement was published in March 1996, and has been updated since. 

CLAIMING PREVIOUSLY UNRECORDED RIGHTS OF WAY 

Under Section 53(5) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act any person may apply to the County 
Council for an order modifying the Definitive Map and Statement. These are called Map 
Modification Orders. 

The legislation states that on receipt of an application, the authority shall start to investigate 
and make a decision as soon as reasonably practicable. If the authority has not determined 
the application within 12 months, the applicant has the right to appeal to the Secretary of 
State who can direct the County Council to determine the claim within a given timescale. 
Investigation and determination of Map Modification Orders is a time consuming process, 
particularly if objections are received. Orders can take over a year to complete once started. 
The Secretary of State will take into account the authority’s Priority Statement when 
considering appeals. Claims can be based on user and/or historic evidence.  If after 
investigation it is considered that the balance of probability is that a right of way exists over a 
route and it should be recorded in the Definitive Map and Statement or that the status of a 
right of way should be changed then the County Council must publish a map modification 
order.  The order is subject to objections and if these cannot be resolved they must be 
submitted to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and the 
issue may then be determined by public inquiry. 

Page 30

ITEM 7



 

 

 
    

 
     

    
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

   
  

 

       
  

     
 

  
  

 
     

   
 

    
   

   

    

  
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

  
 
 

   
 

                                                 
      

 

In keeping the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review, we will undertake 
work in the following order of priority, and with the following targets for completing the work: 

1   Publication of Legal Event Orders listing all legal Orders (for e.g. Diversion Orders) 
and other events in order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement including the 
publication of updated map sheets. 

We will publish these annually. 

2 Processing of Rail Crossing Orders under s118A and 119A of the Highways Act1980 
to improve public safety. 

We will start processing Orders to improve public safety as soon as an application is 
received. 

3 Investigation of all claims for Map Modification Orders under Schedule 14 of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

We will start processing the application within 2 years of receipt of an acceptable application 
and make a decision on whether to make a Map Modification Order within 3 years of receipt 
of an acceptable application. If directed to determine the application by the Secretary of 
State, we will process the application in accordance with the direction. 

We will immediately acknowledge receipt, check notice has been served by the applicant 
and contact the landowner(s), if they are known, within 6 months of a claim being received. 

Applications will be dealt with in date order of receipt. In exceptional circumstances an 
application may be processed out of date order. This will be decided by the Countryside 
Access Team Manager in consultation with the Cabinet Member where: 

 Planning permission has been granted which, if fulfilled would have the 
effect of obstructing the alleged right of way; 

 There is a safety issue, e.g. the route is an alternative to using a busy 
road; 

 The alleged route would form part of a Rights of Way Improvement Plan 
improvement; 

 A route anomaly would be resolved. 

On receipt of an application, the route will be recorded on our on-line Register of Map 
Modification Orders and inspected on site.  

4 Processing of Traffic Regulation Orders under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 
where there is a need and after considering a countywide assessment. 

We will process these Orders in accordance with County policy 1. 

5 Processing of applications for Diversion Orders made and funded by landowners, in 
their interest and securing a significant public benefit in accordance with County policy 
2 . 

1 Surrey County Council Policy on making Traffic Regulation Orders on Byways Open to All 
Traffic – Approved January 2009 

Page 31

ITEM 7



 

 

  
 

     
 

 
 

 
          

 
     

 
 

 
  

     
 

  
 
 

   
  

 
 
 

   
 

      
  

    
     

      

 
    

 
 

   
   

    
 

 
      

      
      

 
   

       

 

                                                                                                                                                        
  

  

We will process these Orders on receipt. 

6 Consideration of applications for Public Path Orders made under sections 118B, 
118C, 119B, 119C or 119D of the Highways Act 1980. 

We will process these Orders when resources are available. 

7 Processing of Public Path Orders under sections 26, 118 and 119 of the Highways Act 
1980 to divert, create or extinguish public paths where the County Council are 
promoting them in order to resolve problems or improve the rights of way network. 

We will process these Orders when resources are available. 

8 Processing of Cycle Tracks Orders under the Cycle Tracks Act 1984 where there is a 
need and the route is not suitable as a public bridleway. 

We will process these Orders when resources are available. 

Since systematic review of the Definitive Statement requires major resource expenditure it 
will only be updated to reflect legal events.  Map Modification Orders solely to modify the 
description of paths in the statement will only be made in exceptional circumstances. 

WHERE THE DEFINITIVE MAP & STATEMENT CAN BE INSPECTED 

The Definitive Map for Surrey consists of 89 map sheets and can be inspected together with 
the accompanying Statement at Countryside Access, Merrow Depot, Merrow Lane, 
Guildford or County Hall, Kingston-upon-Thames. Please phone 03456 009 009 for an 
appointment.  Surrey County Council is a member of Travel Wise, and encourages visitors 
to use alternatives to the car. County Hall has secure cycle parking and is well served by 
public transport. 

The Surrey History Centre at 130 Goldsworth Road, Woking (01483 594594) also holds a 
copy of the Map and Statement. 

District and borough councils have copies of the Map and Statement for their area for 
inspection. Please telephone the appropriate authority for an appointment to view these 
documents.  Parish and town councils also have copies of the Map and Statement for their 
areas and, where practicable, should make these available. 

Surrey’s rights of way network can be seen on our website: www.surreycc.gov.uk. Please 
follow the link to the interactive map. Please note the information shown does not constitute 
a legal record and for legal reasons such as buying property the paper copy should always 
be inspected. 

Copyright legislation prevents photocopying complete map sheets.  However the Ordnance 
Survey licence allows an A4 extract from the map to be provided.  A charge will be made to 
cover costs. 

Surrey County Council Policy for processing applications for Public Path Orders under 
sections 118 and 119 of the Highways Act 1980 – Approved January 2009 

2 

Page 32

ITEM 7

www.surreycc.gov.uk


 

Annex D 
 

BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC (BOAT) No. 526 (CAPEL & WOTTON) (D287) 
WOLVENS LANE  

 
1. A public consultation was carried out between 2 March and 19 April 2021. Notices 

were placed on-site and all statutory and other interested parties were written to, 
including user groups, Mole Valley District Council, Capel and Wotton Parish Councils, 
landowners and adjoining landowners, the Police, the Surrey Countryside Access 
Forum and Surrey Hills Byways Group. Legal Services has approved this report. 

2. 491 responses were received to the consultation. The varied and qualitative nature of 
them means that whilst it is difficult to report exact numbers it is possible to infer 
general trends of support for each option. Some care must be taken in the 
interpretation. Some respondents expressed their preferences in general terms, or by 
supporting one or more options. Sometimes an option was expressed as a supporting 
preference and sometimes as an objecting preference, sometimes with caveats which 
are also noted below. It may be possible to make some assumptions when looking at 
the numbers. For example, those supporting option 1, most likely would object to 
option 4 even if this was not explicitly stated. Estimated percentages are drawn from 
those responses that clearly drew attention to support or objection- many fell outside 
this rigid categorisation. 

3. Approximately 63% of responses were in support of some sort of restriction to 
motorised vehicles, whilst approximately 35% objected to any type of restriction. 
Option 1 gained the most support (45%) but also the most objections (32%). There 
was only a small amount of explicit support for an experimental order and permit 
scheme (9%). 

Other relevant statistics include: 

21 suggested imposing a speed limit. 
2 said they used the Byway in motor vehicles because they needed disabled access. 
2 suggested the route needed proper signage. 
6 suggested imposing a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO). 
79 mentioned danger/safety concerns, of those 13 mentioned near misses. 
1 suggested a weight or width limit might be applied. 
10 noted that access was required for carriage drivers. 
140 respondents are motorcyclists. 
12 respondents had used it in a 4x4 or similar vehicle. 
 

 
4. Many responses were not entirely clear what option they were supporting 

5. The following points are a sample of points raised by respondents: 

a. Vehicles (including carriages) endangered or is incompatible with the other 
groups of users. 

b. The current restrictions should be made permanent. 

c. Options 1-2 might stymie business activities. 

d. Closure of Wolvens Lane would reduce or prevent vehicles used in off-roading 
from being abandoned or burnt out. 

Page 33

ITEM 7



e. There should be a weight limit on use. 

f. More motorbikes seem to use it now that it has bacceen resurfaced and they 
travel more quickly as do cyclists. 

g. It should be returned to an ordinary bridleway. 

h. It should be kept closed to 4x4 only. 

i. The value of the investment on its improvement would be protected if limits are 
imposed as to its use. 

j. Those on two wheels cause significantly less damage. 

k. How would a permit system work and be policed? People would simply ignore 
it and locks, keys and codes would simply be copied or passed on. 

l. Driving at speed infringes upon the peace and tranquillity of the area. 

m. The recreational use of the countryside results in loss of amenity and 
challenges whether the Council was taking its stewardship of the AONB 
seriously. 

n. It should be possible to maintain access to those who need its whilst restricting 
recreational use. 

o. Recently it has been a treat to see Wolvens Lane as itis as should be- quiet 
and without traffic. 

p. Larger motorised mobility vehicles must be able to get through. 

q. It would be wrong to close this appreciated byway to all vehicles because of the 
actions of a minority. 

r. As far as I’m aware there haven’t been any accident involving vehicles. 

s. A permanent TRO will not stop the reckless minority, such as teenagers and 
young adults on illegal motocross bikes. 

t. A permit system could work but would need regular police presence and 
enforcement. 

u. All groups can co-exist. 

v. Motorcycles are narrow and can easily pass other users.  

w. Green laning is an important form of exercise for some who cant walk any 
distance. 

x. Motorcycles are fairly benign in terms of damage unless stuck in previous 
water damage. 

y. A speed limit would be a sensible restriction. 

z. Several responsible and organised groups are campaigning to promote the 
safe and legal sue of motorcycles on green roads. 

Page 34

ITEM 7



aa. Covid restrictions have closed many private off-road practice areas. Once 
lockdown has been removed their should be a reduction in both walkers and 
illegal riders.  

bb. There are now very few places where we can ride legally. 

cc. Surrey has over 2000 miles of footpaths and bridleways but only 76 miles of 
BOAT. Closing these will destroy a piece of history. 

dd. I do not believe the minimal motorbike traffic has an impact on air quality. 

ee. Legal motorcyclists are being hounded and blamed for the irresponsible 
behaviour of the few illegal riders. 

ff. As a walker and cyclist only, I have found no problems with off-road 
motorcyclists, who are without fail courteous. 

gg. Restrictions would run counter to allowing as many citizens as possible from 
appreciating the countryside. 

hh. The lane is wide enough to accommodate everybody. 

ii. Closing this lane would only increase the use/load on others in the area. 

jj. Laws already exist to prevent illegal or nuisance use. 

kk. Motorcycles cause less damage than horse because there point load contact 
patch is bigger than a horses hoof. 

ll. I have experienced 2-wheel permit schemes elsewhere and both have failed. 

mm. Legal trail riders have a permit already called road tax. 

nn. There should be appropriate signage/information at the trail head.  

oo. The Police should deal with irresponsible users as they do on ordinary roads. 

 
Responses were received from various key stakeholders, user groups and statutory 
consultees as outlined below. 
 

 Surrey Highways 

 Surrey Police 

 Surrey Safety Engineering Team 

 Mole Valley District Council 

 Capel Parish Council 

 Wotton Parish Council 

 Shere Parish Council 
 Westcott Village Association 

 Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Planning Advisor 

 Wotton Estate 

 Forestry England 

 The Ramblers 

 The British Horse Society 

 Cycling UK 

Page 35

ITEM 7



 The British Driving Society 

 Trail Riders Fellowship (TRF) 

 The Surrey Countryside Access Forum (SCAF) 

 The Surrey Countryside Access Forum (SCAF) 
 Green Lanes Environmental Action Movement (GLEAM) 

 Green Lane Association (GLASS) 

 Dan Brown Horseman 
 
6. Surrey Highways - The legal position on restricting the use all motor vehicles and 

horse drawn vehicles over 1.5m in width on a D-Class Road/Byway is heavily weighted 
towards only installing such restrictions where there is a strong safety reason for doing 
so, rather than for maintenance reasons. Therefore Surrey Highways fully supports the 
comments provided by Matt Smith of the road safety team regarding the reasons for 
the installation of this restriction. 

7. Removal of the current structures would lead to deterioration of the recently repaired 
road surface, which could create safety concerns for walkers, cyclists, equestrian and 
powered 2-wheeled users. 

8. Funding is not available for mitigation measures to provide passing places and 
associated signing for safe use by motor and horse drawn vehicles with a width 
exceeding 1.5 metres (4 feet 11 inches). 

9. Sign only measures would be ineffective at preventing the use of this D-Class road by 
motor and horse drawn vehicles with a width exceeding 1.5 metres (4 feet 11 inches). 

10. Leaving the current structures in place would be the most effective measurement if no 
one requires vehicular access. Surrey Highways has used locked gates and bollards 
with a wide enough gap at the side in order to try to maintain vehicular access for farm 
vehicles. However, these measures are quickly vandalised resulting in motor and 
horse drawn vehicles over 1.5m (4 feet 11 inches) maintaining access in spite of the 
existing signs and TRO being in place. 

11. Surrey Highways fully supports the proposal to restrict access to this byway (D287 
Wolvens Lane) in order to prevent damage to the recently repaired surface. The option 
to leave concrete blocks or some other obstruction to the north of the property, marked 
with reflective material, with appropriate signs, whilst maintaining a sufficient gap to 
enable all users except motor and horse drawn vehicles over 1.5m (4 feet 11 inches) 
to continue to use this byway (D287 Wolvens Lane) is the most effective measure. 

12. Police – Chris Cannon, Road Safety & Traffic Management Team, Surrey and Sussex 
Police has responded taking into consideration the legal restraints and the local 
policing concerns. His preferred option is:  

1) Leave the concrete blocks or some other obstruction at the north end but ensure 
that they are clearly marked and separated so that there is sufficient gap for a 
horse to pass between, but not wide enough for a car.  

2) Implement a No vehicles except for access TRO and related signing along the full 
length.  

3) At the southern end, install a locked gate or something similar, so that access for 
motor vehicles can be restricted to the property holder, but with an access point for 
pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders.  

 
13. He states that road safety is the most pressing consideration here and having potential 

conflicts with our most vulnerable road users, is obviously to be avoided. It is also for 

Page 36

ITEM 7



the local authority to implement a scheme that is not going to be over reliant on 
enforcement, that can be anticipated from the outset. It is difficult to envisage any 
obstruction that provides safe access for horses but restricts access for motorcycles. 

14. He says his preferred option (as set out in 4.4 above), would maintain access to the 
residential property, but physically restrict access to other motor vehicles and in so 
doing, reduces the road safety risk. This would prevent/ deter casual access by a 
motor vehicle and consequently anyone then found on the BOAT in a motor vehicle 
will have had to have intentionally overcome the obstructions, more easily providing 
guilty knowledge which will assist with a conviction. 

15. Mole Valley Safer Neighbourhood Police Team provided anonymised police reports of 
all activities reported to them since 2017. 54 reports in total were allocated to Wolvens 
Lane since January 2017. Most of these related to vehicle nuisance and damage, 
other road related offences or general suspicious activities. There do not appear to 
have been any reports of actual accident or injury. No reports of any kind were 
received after February 2021. 

16. Safety Engineering Team Leader, Surrey County Council (Matt Smith)- has visited the 
site and carried out a safety audit. He has commented as follows: 

 BOAT 526 along Wolvens Lane is approximately 4km long and is generally on a downhill 
gradient from south to north. 

 The resurfacing which has taken place for much of the length of Wolvens Lane has 
improved the surface on which all users of BOAT 526 will benefit, compared to the previous 
surface. 

 The new surface is likely to result in an increase in speeds of all motorised traffic and 
cyclists (especially those cyclists travelling northbound in a downhill direction). 

 There are very few locations where opposing vehicular traffic is able to pass as the width of 
Wolvens Lane is restricted to one lane for the vast majority of its length. 

 Passing and overtaking manoeuvres for cyclists and motorcyclists can be performed. 
However, quad bike users and four-wheeled vehicles are either likely to be required to 
reverse extensive distances or enter the adjacent tree-lined verges (if the available verge 
width allows entry).  

 There are locations with severely restricted forward visibility along Wolvens Lane due to 
vertical and especially horizontal carriageway alignments.  

 Vehicular drivers / riders approaching the sections with restricted visibility may place other 
users (pedestrians, cyclists, equestrians as well as other vehicular users) at risk of conflict. 
This is of concern if vehicular traffics approach speeds are inappropriate.  

 Non-motorised users of Wolvens Lane proceeding in the opposing direction to vehicular 
traffic as well as users proceeding in the same direction as vehicular traffic are at risk of 
conflict if visibility sightlines are restricted. 

 The speed differential between pedestrians and vehicular traffic may place 
pedestrians at increased risk of vulnerability, especially if sightlines are restricted (i.e. 
moderate speeds of vehicular traffic may appear unacceptably fast to pedestrians).   

Page 37

ITEM 7



Opening Wolvens Lane BOAT creates potential safety concerns for users of the route. 
Suggested options for the re-opening of the BOAT are shown below: 
 
Options: 

1) Remove concrete blocks and permit vehicular traffic within Wolvens Lane without further 

mitigation. 

NB. This may result in concern of conflicts due to the potential speed differential between 

permitted users of Wolvens Lane, as well as issues due to restricted sightlines and lack of 

passing places. 

2) Remove concrete blocks and permit vehicular traffic within Wolvens Lane with mitigation 

measures, such as creation of passing places and appropriate signing on the approaches to 

sections where sightline restrictions are present. 

3) Remove concrete blocks and provide No Motor Vehicles (except for access) signing 

restrictions along the full length of Wolvens Lane.  

NB. This is likely to create an expectation of enforcement to be undertaken by Surrey 

Police, so consultation would be required. Plus there is an expectation that such signing 

may be ignored by existing and regular users of Wolverns Lane who use the length on quad 

bikes / motorcycles / four-wheeled vehicles.  

4) Leave the concrete blocks or some other obstruction to the north of the property, but 

ensure that they are clearly marked and separated so that there is sufficient gap for a 

horse to pass between, but not wide enough for a car and retain existing prohibited 

traffic signing.  

 

17. Mole Valley District Council- Community Safety and Enforcement Team in response to 
the suggestion that they could promote a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) had 
concerns that as a Council they do not have any resources for enforcement and would 
be interested to know the Police’s views on enforcement. They are also concerned that 
a PSPO might open the Council up to further requests for PSPOs on non-Council 
owned land and create expectations amongst residents that would not be achievable. 
They had concerns that this might not be the correct mechanism for restricting 
activities on public rights of way. Adria Kinloch was keen to hear what the Police and 
SH Byways User Group views were. 

18. Closure of the BOAT 526 to motorised vehicles would also help reduce, even if not 
completely prevent, vehicles used in off-roading from being abandoned and often burnt 
out.  MVDC has removed 2 such vehicles from Wolvens Lane in the last 2 years at a 
cost of £445. 

19. Capel Parish Council - In response to the consultation, the Parish Council has stated it 
strongly supports option 1, namely the promotion of a permanent TRO on the above 
BOAT to restrict all motorised vehicles with 2 or more wheels and all horse drawn 
carriages exceeding a width of 1500mm (4’11”) from using the BOAT.  The Parish 
Council has had the benefit of advice from Stephen Whale, Counsel, of Landmark 
Chambers. 

20. Prior to the recent works and temporary closure the surface of the BOAT, its boundary 
banks and neighbouring land had suffered significant misuse from motorised vehicles 
including motorbikes.  But this misuse was not the only issue.  Motorised vehicular use 
caused danger to pedestrians and equestrians.  It damaged the BOAT. Motorised 
vehicular use is unsuitable having regard to the existing character of the road and 
adjoining land, which is a beautiful part of the Surrey Hills AONB.  It had significant 
adverse impacts upon the amenities of the area, generating significant noise and light 
pollution as well as being contrary to the objective of improving air quality.  Horse 

Page 38

ITEM 7



drawn carriages exceeding a width of 1500mm give rise to several of these same 
issues. 

21. The temporary closure to motorised vehicles for the recent resurfacing works has been 
enormously positive for local residents, and for the surface of the BOAT and the 
boundary banks.  It has precluded the misuse referred to above over several months, 
as well as preventing the other adverse impacts described.   

22. Officers are right to be concerned that a re-opening of the BOAT to motorised vehicles 
would lead to damage to the surface and boundary banks, undoing the recent 
resurfacing work, and endanger other users.  This would inevitably re-occur.  Use by 
horse drawn carriages exceeding a width of 1500mm would exacerbate these 
problems.  Re-opening would also give rise to a return to all the other adverse impacts 
described above.    

23. The County Council is entitled in the circumstances of this case to rely upon any or all 
of grounds (a)-(g) in section 1 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (“the 1984 Act”) 
to justify the promotion of a TRO of the kind supported.  It would be expedient to make 
such an order having regard to the past issues and the likely future issues following 
any re-opening.  The County Council is not constrained by its policy for making TROs, 
which is narrowly drawn and which does not encompass all of the section 1 statutory 
grounds for making a TRO.  

24. It is customary for TROs to have exemptions, such as for landowner access or for 
emergency vehicles, and the County Council will no doubt consider the feasibility of 
including such exemptions in any proposed order.  Groups such as the Trail Riders 
Fellowship sometimes seek to oppose TROs on procedural grounds, including by 
reference to section 122 of the 1984 Act.  It is perfectly plain that this section does not 
preclude the making of a TRO, but the County Council will need to ensure that it 
carries out the section 122 balancing exercise: see Trail Riders Fellowship v 
Hampshire CC [2020] PTSR 194 at [40] for a helpful summary of the approach to be 
adopted.  Incidentally, the first instance decision in the High Court in that case 
confirms that the County Council would not be obliged to operate a permit scheme 
entitling permit-holders to continue to use the BOAT. 

25. An independent report authored by Kieran Foster and dated 30 September 2020 was 
commissioned by Capel Parish Council. In it he outlined the history, designation and 
recent problems affecting both Wolvens Lane and Coldharbour Lane (BOAT 527). He 
provided both photographic and video evidence alongside written analysis of user 
conflict. Various options were discussed, including both TROs and PSPOs. 

26. In his conclusion and analysis of options he found that the most effective way of 
managing problem behaviours would be through a combination of tactics involving: 

a. A proportionate and targeted legal order to deal with illegal and/or abusive 
use of the byways in question and adjoining land, whilst also retaining legal 
use for responsible users. Enforcement of such a legal order would require 
support from the police. 

b. Depending on the format of the restriction imposed the use of locking metal 
barriers that controlled access to the route and prevented illegal use could 
offer significant benefits in preventing unauthorised users and deterring illegal 
access.   

27. The recommendations set out at the end of the report are as follows: 

Page 39

ITEM 7



i. Capel Parish Council liaise with Mole Valley District Council to impose a PSPO 
on by 526 (and 527) and the surrounding accessible land to prohibit 
unauthorised motor vehicle access 

ii. Restrictions should be consulted carefully with responsible motorised access 
groups. 

iii. A suggested format is: 

a) Restricting motorised use to member of recognized organisations that 
promote responsible use (via use of key or code) 

b) Restricting motorised use in winter 

c) Prohibiting all motorised use at night 

d) Prohibiting permitted users from using winches or anchors to extract 
vehicles. 

e) Alongside the prohibition of all motorised access to identified publicly 
accessible land on either side of the byway at all times (the extent to be 
set out on a map).  

iv. Justifications include the negative impact of irresponsible use and damage, and 
the severe deterioration in the condition of the route in winter months and the 
quality of life of local people 

v. An order of this format would eb a practical and effective way of preventing 
problem use that avoids the need for a complete ban on use by motor vehicles 
and is therefore least interventionist and most proportionate.  

vi. Any PSPO should not restrict any primary source of access for residents or 
their staff, residents or employees. 

vii. It should include the installation of barriers or locking gates at appropriate 
locations, but these should not prevent access for residents. 

viii. A scheme should be set up in partnership with the Parish Council(s), AONB 
and users groups to allow permitted users to pass using either keys or codes.  

ix. Support should be sought from Surrey Police and the Surrey Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 

x. Enforcement would be through spot checks and penalties or prosecution by the 
police or Council enforcement officers. The burden would be reduced since 
anyone without permit would be in contravention of the PSPO. 

xi. Once consultation on the scope and type of restrictions has been agreed a 
proposed PSPO can be drafted and passed to the District Council (the author 
was willing to assist with this).  

xii. The District should carry out the formal stages of statutory consultation before 
moving to any formal adoption and publication of the order. 

Page 40

ITEM 7



xiii. The District should consider the order on the basis of its merits, the evidence 
supplied and how it affected the people of the locality, in accordance with 
legislation.  

 

 
28. Wotton PC – Agreed that their preference was option 3 but as follows: To promote an 

experimental TRO, which would ban all motorised vehicles, except those who had 
been issued with a permit to use the BOAT. Numbers of permits would be restricted. 
Horse drawn carriages would also be restricted as in Option (1). We would assume the 
permits would be issued in relation to landownership, land management and 
maintenance issues on and along the lane. This could include representatives/ agents 
of Wotton Estate, EDG Matthews, Forestry Commission, Surrey County Council and 
other landowners adjoining Wolvens Lane. 

29. Clive Smith, Surrey Hills AONB Planning Adviser – has responded saying that strong 
support is given from an AONB aspect to Option 1 which is to promote a permanent 
TRO on the above route to restrict all motorised vehicles with 2 or more wheels and all 
horse drawn carriages exceeding a width of 1500mm from using the BOAT. Option 2 
would be insufficient for reasons explained later. Option 3 would be difficult to manage, 
enforce and would be open to abuse. Option 4 would seriously damage the wider 
public interest in seeking to enjoy this much valued route, again for reasons explained 
below.  

30. If, or when the BOAT is re-opened to motorised vehicles, some irresponsible 
motorised vehicle drivers will continue to damage the surface and boundary banks. But 
the harm caused to the public interest would go beyond that. Section 85 of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 requires public bodies, including the County 
Council, to have regard in its decision making to the purpose of conserving and 
enhancing the natural beauty of an AONB. It reads: "In exercising or performing any 
functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, 
a relevant authority shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty." 

31. Consequently, when considering the future use of this important public right of way the 
County Council should not only consider it from a highway aspect but also the 
implications a decision would have on the Surrey Hills AONB. Natural beauty is not 
just about the look of a landscape but includes such matters as its tranquillity, sense of 
remoteness and landscape features.  

32. The Surrey Hills AONB Management Plan 2020-2025, which the County Council and 
constituent District and Borough Councils have formally adopted, is at pains to 
conserve and enhance the character of the Surrey Hills AONB and promote its 
benefits for the health and wellbeing of society. Therefore, the use of this route for the 
wider public beyond those wanting to take motorised vehicles and horse drawn 
carriages, needs to be given great weight in any County Council decision of its future.  

33. Wolvens Lane is a valued area for the public to escape the pressures of modern life, 
particularly for those living in urban areas, for their health, including mental health, and 
wellbeing. These benefits have become increasingly recognised as being important. 
Health authorities are beginning to work together with other public bodies, including 
the County Council, to promote measures for the public to get out and enjoy the 
countryside.  

Page 41

ITEM 7



34. Wolvens Lane forms part of the recently formed Leith Hill Greenway, a multiuser route 
starting from Denbies at Dorking. It is a route where users seek to keep away from 
cars. The use of this route by motorised vehicles can often seriously impinge upon the 
enjoyment of a greater proportion of the public wishing to walk, cycle, run or ride on 
horses along this otherwise attractive route. The potential conflict between these users 
and motorised vehicles can pose a danger, or perceived danger. The noise and speed 
of some of these vehicles spoil the tranquillity, sense of remoteness and general 
beauty of this route which the public come hoping to enjoy. Many of the public would 
likely be discouraged from using the route if motorised vehicles were to be present.  

35. Further, motorised vehicles can damage the surface of the route. The Surrey Hills 
AONB Director has observed that the new surface has bedded in well and he 
witnessed many cyclists, walkers and horse riders enjoying it recently. He was 
disturbed by 3 motorcycles the noise and character of which he found intrusive. 

36. These all seem to be weightier considerations in determining the future use of this 
route than the ability of a few in motorised vehicles to use this route. Horse drawn 
carriages wider than 1500mm, though less imposing and damaging than motorised 
vehicles, tend to damage the surface of the route for the enjoyment of other users and 
so also should be precluded.  

37. Westcott Village Association – Tim Way, Chairman of Westcott Village Association has 
provided a representation on behalf of Westcott which is an unparished ward. In 
addition, James Leaver a member of the Committee has been leading on their 
collaboration with Wotton Parish Council and Capel Parish Council (for Coldharbour), 
Wotton Estate and National Trust. They found through this process that their 
respective communities and organisations share very similar views. 

38. The Village Association has been copied into over 30 responses to the consultation 
from members of the Westcott community and beyond and has picked up on recurring 
themes. Following what we understand was an investment in excess of £100,000 for 
the resurfacing works, we believe that Surrey County Council's temporary closure of 
Wolvens Lane to motorised 4WD vehicles was a very wise way to protect this 
investment while it established the longer-term plan. 

39. Over the last few months, with the improved surface, the temporary closure to 
motorised 4WD and the opening of the Leith Hill Greenway, Wolvens Lane has once 
again, become a safe and attractive amenity for walkers, cyclists and horse riders. At 
times, particularly at weekends, the lane has become really quite busy but in a far 
more pleasant way. The environment is now generally much quieter as these users 
are compatible with each other and the protection of the Surrey Hills AONB.  

40. We have noted that the smooth surface does, however, enable users to move faster, 
particularly pedal cyclists, and it is necessary for everyone to stay alert and to be 
considerate to one another.  Scrambler and tourer bikes have also continued to use 
the route during the temporary closure in quite significant numbers. Whilst many riders 
are generally considerate, their bikes are still very noisy and the new surface enables 
greater speed which is incompatible with the change that has been brought about. This 
is particularly concerning where a single-track D class road has a speed limit of 60 
miles per hour. 

41. The old rutted and muddy Wolvens Lane used to draw off-road enthusiasts on 2 and 4 
wheels, motorised and unmotorised. Consultation responses from members of the 
Westcott community confirm past instances where there were near misses with dogs 
and children when walking the lane due to inconsiderate or adrenalin fuelled driving on 

Page 42

ITEM 7



the route or straying off it onto the banks/ adjoining land. The vehicle debris which has 
been collected by James Leaver and family alongside the route highlights just how 
careless and damaging some of this activity used to be. 

42. We are now in a new world with the resurfaced lane which has been warmly 
received.  Some of those same off-road enthusiasts (2 wheel motorised only at the 
moment) are now finding the repaired lane "boring" and there have been many reports 
in consultation responses of motor bikes leaving the lane to perform jumps on and off 
the banks and straying onto adjoining Forestry Commission and Wotton Estate 
land.  The risks for other users, revving of engines, environmental and physical 
damage this causes to the Lane itself and banks is unacceptable. When coupled with 
engine noise and helmets and their focus on thrill seeking, the spatial awareness of 
the rider is compromised and introduces safety risks for other users, their children and 
dogs. As the consultation letters state, challenging these behaviours has occasionally 
been met with a hostile or intimidating response. 

43. The behaviours by this minority place a disproportionate drain on resources of 
the Police, Councils, private landowners, the Forestry Commission and the National 
Trust who waste time pursuing the reporting of antisocial behaviour/ crime and have to 
effect repairs to stumping, fencing etc. It should also be noted that it is virtually 
impossible to report a crime or antisocial behaviour in real time on Wolvens Lane 
because significant parts of it have no mobile phone signal which is an added 
challenge to put a stop to repeat offenders. We have also seen in some of the 
responses you will have received, that even the responsible 4WD and motorbike riders 
seem to be incapable of educating or controlling the errant behaviours of less 
considerate users in their peer group. 

44. We note that all but one response from our community directs Surrey County Council 
to pursue Option 1 and restrict all motorised vehicles. Within your four options 
there is not an option which would restrict all motorised vehicles but enable the 
continuation of horse drawn carriages over 4'11" in width. We think this is a shame and 
would like to see this. We believe this is compatible with the overall objectives, would 
not cause damage to the surface, and would enable the continuation of use by a 
recreational horse and carriage business based in Westcott. It provides economic 
benefit and low impact pub visits and excursions for visitors to our beautiful area. 

45. In summary, WVA's stated preference for Option 1 (accommodating horse drawn 
carriages if possible) is based on the following principles: - 

1. To protect the Council's significant financial investment in the resurfacing work 
2. To preserve the safety and quiet enjoyment of the Lane for compatible users  
3. To preserve the AONB and the sensitive environment the lane passes through 
4. To contain the financial and management burden for the local taxpayer (police and 

councils), landowners and other stakeholders 

Stuart Boreham representing the Green Lane Association (GLASS) would like to work 
with the County Council to introduce physical measures to prevent damage to the 
BOAT and its banks from motorised users. GLASS offer working parties to make 
repairs, give out leaflets to users to encourage good behaviour, would work in 
partnership with the Council providing support against irresponsible behaviour. 

46.  Also, GLASS would help with educating users with the installation of appropriate 
signing. GLASS has provided bespoke signs successfully in Hampshire asking 
vehicular drivers not to use the BOAT under certain weather conditions. He has sent 
an example of a case in Wiltshire where the County Council, in conjunction with the 

Page 43

ITEM 7



landowner and GLASS, had made improvements to a BOAT. This included installing 
posts and wire with old telegraph posts buried underneath at the sides to stop vehicles 
going off the track. Stone axle twisters had also been installed to prevent fly tipping 
and to slow vehicles down.  

47. Permit holders in Kent have to sign up to a Code of Conduct and show vehicle 
documents including car insurance, tax and driving licences. He suggested that if 
Surrey was going to administer a Permit Scheme that maybe permits could be 
restricted to Surrey residents only or within say a 30-mile radius to reduce numbers. 
Any gate locking code needs to changed regularly to prevent misuse. Mr Boreham has 
also cited examples of a voluntary one-way system in Wales, although acknowledged 
the safety implications if it was ignored. He also mentioned that in other areas a lot of 
BOATs have seasonal TROs. 

48. Shere Parish Council - The council at their meeting on 7th April 2021 agreed that they 
would be in favour of Option 1 - To promote a permanent TRO to restrict all motorised 
vehicles with 2 or more wheels and all horse drawn carriages exceeding a width of 
1500mm (4’11’’) from using the BOAT. 

49. Wotton Estate - Edward Cheevers, Senior Surveyor for Batcheller Monkhouse has 
responded as the managing agent for the Wotton Estate. He states that Wotton Estate 
has been a significantly affected partly by the mistreatment of the byway, most notably 
by rogue 4x4 users, due to it owning a significant stretch of the byway and adjoining 
land. The Estate would be in favour of supporting Option 3 and a system whereby 
permits are given to those which have a necessary use of the byway. We do not see 
that the cause of the significant problems which have occurred along the length of the 
byway in recent years have been caused by horse drawn carriages. Hence this group 
may object unless sufficient permits are offered to these users, which at present the 
Estate would support as it does not seem to be them who stray from the byway and 
cause damage. 

50. The most important factor which will need to be managed is that the permit scheme is 
properly rolled out and that there is sufficient traceability on those users given 
access. Alongside this, it will be more important than ever to stop those rogue users 
from gaining access by using force. As we see so often, closure of one area either 
causes more intent on breaking through and resulting in even more harm or moving to 
another area altogether which may not even have been targeted before and thus 
spreading the problem. The Estate would still require access at all times and so this 
will need to be factored into any barriers/gates or otherwise.  

51. Forestry England - Joan Clark, District Land Agent, SE Forest District, has responded 
saying that as a neighbouring landowner of the BOAT in question, they welcomed 
Surrey County Council’s recent efforts to significantly repair Wolvens Lane. They fully 
support the ambition to implement a permanent solution to preventing damage and 
increasing public safety both on the BOAT itself and adjoining land that is inevitably 
impacted by motorised vehicles from the byway. Previous measures taken by them to 
confine the motor vehicle use to the track have failed to resolve the issue and have 
been a drain on their limited resources. Having considered the options put forward, 
they fully support and endorse Surrey County Council to progress and recommend 
Option 1 – “to promote a permanent TRO to restrict all motorised vehicles with 2 or 
more wheels and all horse drawn carriages exceeding a width of 1500mm (4’11’’) from 
using the BOAT”.  

52. As a landowner they feel Option 1 is the most robust, and safest means by which to 
ensure we can continue to provide safe public access to the nation’s forests. When we 

Page 44

ITEM 7



consider the wide range of user groups that are known to make use of this route, it is 
clear that Option 1 continues to promote access to the majority of users including 
walkers, cyclists, horse riders and carriage drivers. They recognise that the 4x4 user 
group that have traditionally used this BOAT will be affected by this proposal but on 
balance the impact is marginal compared to the higher proportion of other users and 
their current and future safety, which remains their upmost concern.  

53. Forestry England feel that the combined effect of the road having an unrestricted 
national speed limit, narrow sections with limited visibility and the historic evidence of 
misuse and environmental damage, particularly on the surrounding ancient woodland, 
provides a strong evidence base for this proposed TRO and resulting restriction. They 
recognise that there will be inevitable challenges in the practical implementation of any 
TRO and would welcome the opportunity to be actively involved in the design and 
specification of the resulting solution that arises from any final option proposed e.g. 
gates/barriers, siting of these etc. This is particularly important given the local nuances 
in the layout of the lane, turning areas and our existing access arrangements into 
Forestry England landholding.  

54. The Ramblers (Dave Cavanagh) - are in favour of Option 1. 

55. The British Horse Society: (Penny Tyson-Davies) - Supports option 3, noting that 
emergency vehicles of various sorts, local residents and larger mobility vehicles will 
need to have access either by key/code or gap and permit. It is unlikely anything will 
stop noisy motorbikes or electric bikes, but they should be properly insured and obey 
rules of speed and quietness. There could be notices informing them of this. Mountain 
bikes some cause more damage and disturbance than motorised vehicles. Barriers to 
prevent fly tipping were favoured. Once the experiment was finished, she believed 
people would be happy with the result and it could be made fully legal especially as 
this area has been so badly abused. Since the repairs those 4x4 people who like to go 
off-roading may no longer be interested.  

56. Cycling UK – Bob Eberhard has stated he supports Option 1. All the criteria (a)-(g) 
identified by the Council for making a TRO apply to Wolvens Lane. In addition, the 
Council must have spent a sizeable proportion of its limited path maintenance budget 
on the repair and resurfacing of Wolvens Lane, which should not have to be repeated 
because of possible further damage because of unrestricted access by cars & motor 
bikes. 

57. The British Driving Society (Gail Brownrigg) preferred option 3 initially as a trial TRO 
period on motorised vehicle, to be reviewed after 6, 12 or 18 months. 

58. Trail Riders Fellowship (TRF) – John Vannuffel and Steven Taylor have responded 
stating that the TRF objects to full restriction of motorcycle access. They would 
consider supporting the use of statutory regulation to place conditions (a permit 
scheme) on responsible motorcycle access but reserves its position as to whether a 
permit system for motorcycle access is justified.  They are unconvinced of the case to 
use an experimental traffic regulation order (“ETRO”) to test a permit system. Permit 
systems are well established as a successful means to improve green roads for all 
responsible users. They need not be complicated to impose and maintain, or an 
inconvenience for responsible users. Indeed, the benefits of a successful permits 
system can improve the road for all responsible users (including trailriders) to enjoy. 
Unlawful behaviour on or near the road has a cost to the public purse that is a factor to 
consider. Permit schemes need not be expensive and can be most cost-effective. A 
permit system can be delivered by traffic regulation order (“TRO”) or public space 
protection order (“PSPO”).  

Page 45

ITEM 7



59. They prefer the PSPO option as being the cheaper and more effective tool. The illegal 
behaviours complained of in the consultation letter, sit more appropriately with the use 
of PSPO powers rather than TRO powers. They reinforce that TRO powers are limited 
to placing restrictions on roads, whereas a PSPO covers the road and reaches beyond 
to adjacent public space The process of making, reviewing and varying (if necessary) 
a PSPO is simpler and less onerous than that for making and varying an ETRO or 
TRO. Although PSPO’s can be kept in effect permanently, the requirement to renew 
them every three years provides a regular timescale to review and improve the 
solution. PSPO restriction can be more readily varied than ETRO (or TRO) restrictions.  

60. The use of physical barriers is not an appropriate or effective means to enforce a 
permit scheme for motorcycle access. They acknowledge that physical barriers have 
proven highly effective at enforcing 4x4 restrictions and observe that this frees up 
police resources to address illegal motoring issues to the benefit of all responsible 
users including trailriders. A motorcycle permit system can be as simple as requiring 
permit holders to carry a photocard driving license and to stop and produce it at the 
request of police, or persons authorised by Surrey County Council to enforce a PSPO. 
The application process need only convey that requirement and record the permit 
holder’s identity (for enforcement purposes). The process of applying for a permit 
provides useful opportunity for education. For example, a learning pack could be 
delivered. The administration of a permit scheme can be automated and need not be 
onerous on Surrey County Council or the users of the scheme.  

61. TRF has worked with East Sussex County Council, Kent County Council, 
Buckinghamshire County Council, and Powys County Council to develop permit 
schemes. Justified permit schemes need not involve a significant degree of difficulty or 
administrative burden and can successfully deliver cost-effective improvements where 
they are convenient for trailriders to use.  

62. Surrey Hills Byways Working Group (SHBWG): No specific response was received on 
behalf of the working group although several individual members responded including 
Clive Smith on behalf of the AONB above.  

63. The Surrey Countryside Access Forum (SCAF) was established as the Statutory 
Advisor on Public Recreation for the County by Surrey County Council under section 
94 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (the CROW Act).  They considered 
the consultation at their meeting in April 2021 and, in summary, members unanimously 
agreed that wherever possible, access to the countryside should be maximised for all 
users, and that the use of existing public rights of way should not be unnecessarily 
restricted. They felt that if restrictions are imposed, they can have the effect of moving 
the problem to other parts of the countryside, causing ever more problems in fewer 
and fewer places. They commented and agreed unanimously that: 

 Motorised vehicles of four or more wheels should not unduly damage a surface 
that was designed for their use. 

 Damage to boundary banks by irresponsible users, or those uneducated in the 
laws relating to public rights of way, could have been prevented quite easily by the 
use of various forms of barriers, be that fencing or posts.  

 Some simple eye-catching and succinct signage should be erected at each access 
point to the BOAT, and also at points along it where drivers or riders might be 
tempted to deviate from the legal route. This should inform them that it is illegal to 
stray off the road, and that penalties can be incurred by those doing so.  

Page 46

ITEM 7



 As usage of the road increases, the likelihood is that the speed of cyclists, 
motorcyclists and motorised vehicles will necessarily decrease as they negotiate 
their way around other users on the road. This happens successfully on other 
BOATs. We would also suggest that were a signed speed limit to be introduced on 
the BOAT. 

 Officers expressed concerns about the width of the BOAT at certain points 
preventing passing. This is true of most single-track country roads, and it is our 
view that users expect in those circumstances to reverse, drive slowly, and/or wait 
for a suitable passing place to occur 

64. The consultation offered four options for consideration. Our response to these options 
is as follows: 

 We would prefer Option 4 – that the BOAT has no restrictions. 
 

 We would like to suggest that a Public Space Protection Order could be instated 
for the first three years after the BOAT is re-opened. This will allow for a review 
period during which there could be a very flexible response by the authorities to 
any unacceptable behaviour by ‘rogue’ users. 

 

 Should the above prove to be unsustainable, then we would be happy to consider 
Option 3 – experimental TRO with permit system – as an option. We do not 
consider the case has been made for any other type of TRO.  

 

 We would like to see a concerted effort by SCC, Surrey Hills AONB, and other user 
groups such as GLASS, TRF and Cycling UK, to further promote and advertise 
Codes of Conduct and the legal status of PROWs to new users coming into the 
countryside who are perhaps not so familiar with the law and what is appropriate 
behaviour. 

 
65. The SCAF concluded that Wolvens Lane is a wonderful example of a BOAT that 

allows access to some of the most beautiful parts of the Surrey Hills to users who, for 
various reasons including failing health or increasing age, find access into the 
countryside difficult. It is a jewel in Surrey’s crown. For them to be able to drive there, 
either in horse-drawn carriage or 4x4, is extremely important both for their well-being 
and mental health. Wolvens Lane is one of the many BOATs in Surrey that provides 
such an opportunity, and so should be kept open to all users. 

66. Green Lanes Environmental Action Movement (GLEAM): Diana Mallinson noted that 
they were aware of long-standing problems on this lane and surrounding land from 
their own and member observations and the minutes of SBUG. She acknowledged 
that Surrey, the Police and others had taken measures to try to stop recreational 4x4 
users and motorcyclists from damaging the land and banks, such as stumps, fencing 
and barriers. The Police have also issued notices under 2. 59 of the Police Reform Act 
2002 and coronavirus regulations. These measures have not worked.  

67. Surrey repaired the land in 2015 and then again in 2020 at a cost of £25,000 per 
kilometre. GLEAM supports Option 1 prohibiting all motor vehicles (with exceptions for 
access, emergency vehicles and invalid carriages. They do not think Option 3 would 
work as it relies in part on voluntary policing. With regard to the points in sections 1-22 
of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. 

a. Avoiding danger – parts of the land are too marrow to allow 4x4 to pass in 
safety or for a motorbike to pass a horse 

Page 47

ITEM 7



b. Preventing damage – Surrey have had to make substantial repairs twice in 
last 5 years. 

c. Facilitating passage of any class off traffic – parts of the lane are too narrow 
for 4x4 to pass another with ease  

d. Preventing use of the road by vehicular traffic which is unsuitable for the 
character of the road – This is a historic sunken lane, not suitable for motor 
vehicles. 

e. For preserving the character of the road where it is especially suitable for 
those on foot or on horseback – A BOAT is a right of way for vehicles used 
mainly by walkers and horse riders. 

f. For preserving or improving the amenity of the area – The land and the area 
around it is being degraded by damage to the boundaries and adjoining land 
by motor vehicles. 

g. Conserving or enhancing natural beauty – the damage and noise caused by 
the vehicles degrade the natural beauty of this part of the AONB. 

h. Enjoyment of the AONB by the public – the non-motorised public cannot 
enjoy the amenity of the land and adjacent land when motor vehicles are 
using the land or have caused damage to it 

68. Green Lane Association (GLASS): Phil Hobson their rights of way officer wrote on their 
behalf with the following comments.  

69. Under the Temporary Traffic Regulation Order currently in force the BOAT has 
remained open to motorcycles and horse drawn vehicles under 1.5m in width. 

70. This is a vehicular highway maintainable at public expense. The lawful passage of 
vehicles will result in normal damage requiring normal maintenance. It acknowledged 
that there has been misguided, irresponsible and damaging use of the highway and its 
banks. GLASS would support measures to prevent deviation from the highway. It is not 
clear why concerns about damage have arisen now that repairs have taken place. It is 
considered that measures to control such damage should have been in place already 
and was interested to know what if any such measures had been considered. 

71. It is obvious that users may cause a danger to other users. The Council should employ 
whatever measures it would normally apply in such situations in order to reduce the 
potential for conflict. 

72. The assertion that the route is dangerous on narrow sections with no room for passing 
places is equally applicable to any narrow rural land without footway. The facts support 
the conclusion that measures might be put in place such as passing places, refuges, 
warning signs, speed limits, traffic calming or a one-way system. If no such measures 
have been fully considered it would suggest on balance that the issues cited are not of 
sufficient significance to warrant the proposed TRO. 

73. Alternative measures are available to implement some traffic management, such a 
PSPOs, which are more adaptable and can be periodically reviewed, allowing for the 
adjustment of restrictions on the basis of evidence. 

Page 48

ITEM 7



74. Repairs have been undertaken to the route so there is no need for a TRO on the basis 
that the way is in “poor condition, in need of significant repair and it is considered 
necessary to restrict traffic, coupled with programmes of repair as necessary”. Is it the 
Council’s policy to repairs to such a standard, exceeding what would normally be 
required, so that vehicle users are encouraged to behave in such a manner that is 
likely to cause danger to others? 

75. The submissions of Mr McLachlan of Capel Parish Council at the Mole Valley meeting 
of March 2020, outlining his desired outcome of the prohibition of motorised vehicles, 
are somewhat at odds with the conclusions reached in the independent report 
commissioned by the Parish. At this meeting Surrey acknowledged that damage had 
occurred, but works had been undertaken to successfully curtail such acts. The 
Council said it was not aware of any increase in abusive behaviour and no such 
reports had been made to SHBWG. It was further stated that funding had been 
acquired for further repairs which would include measures to prevent egress and noted 
that BOATS were only 4% of the network, providing legitimate means of access for 
those who would otherwise be unable to. The Council concluded there was no need 
for a TRO. What could then have happened in this time, given that it has not been 
open to motorised vehicles, to change the Council’s position. 

76. If the Council can demonstrate use to the detriment of others, and that less restrictive 
measures have been unsuccessful then GLASS would support the introduction of 
more robust measures.  

77. GLASS has supported restricted measures elsewhere and were involved in the 
discussions which led to the report written by Kieron Foster for Capel Parish Council 
and which outlined several possible restrictions. 

78. GLASS is not persuaded there is a strong case for a TRO to be made. The Council 
has made repairs, so the next step should be to see if these measures have resolved 
the issues to a satisfactory extent. If it is subsequently demonstrated that some form of 
traffic management is required then Surrey should give consideration to a PSPO, 
which is a more flexible tool. 

79. Private rights and wayleaves: In addition to considerations of repair it is also essential 
that a full awareness of private rights is obtained. The Council cannot restrict such 
private rights or the wayleaves of those organisations requiring utilities access. 

80. Dan Brown Horseman owns a local business which uses Wolvens Lane frequently to 
access the countryside through providing carriage driving to all, particularly the young, 
old and those with disabilities. Most of his carriages have a width of 1.5 metres but 
some are wider. When taking their horses into account this exceeds 1.5 metres. He 
was concerned that any solid restriction at that width would be dangerous for his 
horses. The alternative of a farm width gate and key works well elsewhere and would 
be essential to allow his business to use it. An immovable width barrier would 
significantly affect his business. 

81. Whilst he appreciated the damage caused to the banks along Wolvens Lane and 
welcomed measures to keep 4x4 drivers on the correct route had had never in 40 
years experienced any problems with 4x4s. Cycling probably had a wider reaching 
impact. He believed sharing was probably the best way forward, in the assumption that 
the way was adequately maintained.  

Page 49

ITEM 7



82. He also noted that whilst there were many nearby routes for pedestrians and horse 
riders there were none for motor vehicles. Closure of the route would remove the 
amenity for the use of 4x4 drivers and potentially others.  

83. In conclusion he thought options 1 and 2 should be avoided. He had concerns about 
the policing, cost and administration of option 3 and supported option 4. His 
suggestion was that (assuming access was available for carriages all year round) that 
a seasonal closure might be considered during wet winter months. 

 
 

Page 50

ITEM 7



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

LOCAL COMMITTEE (MOLE VALLEY) 
 

 
DATE:  29 September 2021   

 
LEAD OFFICER:  DANIEL WILLIAMS, COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS OFFICER 
 
SUBJECT: PUBLIC FOOTPATH 24 (LEATHERHEAD)- GREEN LANE 

LEVEL CROSSING INVESTIGATION 
 
DIVISION: ASHTEAD 
 
SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 
 

Once prepared and until subsequently modified, the Definitive Map and Statement 
(DMS) is conclusive evidence that a right of way exists and of its particulars. Surrey 
County Council (SCC) as surveying authority has a duty to make an order modifying 
the DMS where evidence is discovered that a public right should be added, modified 
or deleted.  
 
Between 2015 and 2021 representations were made to SCC from Network Rail (NR) 
regarding that part of public footpath 24 (Leatherhead) which crosses the railway as 
shown A-B on the Drg.  3/1/51/H116. These were accompanied by evidence, which 
NR argued showed that A-B was recorded on the DMS in error.  NR were informed 
that it would be normal procedure for them to make an application to the Council 
under s.53 and Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 which would 
require us to consider the evidence and make a decision upon it. Countryside 
Access took legal advice on NR’s assertion that we had a duty to consider the 
evidence without an application and not to defer it until all Schedule 14 work had 
been done. Surrey Legal confirms (s. 4.2 of the report) that this was the case and 
that we should look at the evidence and make a determination on it.  
 
Evidence was sought from various parties with an interest in this matter. Substantial 
evidence was received for and against Network Rail’s assertion and otherwise 
discovered by SCC. This is described in section 2 of this report. This matter was 
weighed up on the basis of the legal tests laid out in Annex B and sections 1 and 9 
of this report. 
 
It is considered that evidence shows that section A-B of public footpath 24 
(Leatherhead) as shown on Drg. 3/1/51/H116 should not be included on the 
Definitive Map and therefore should be deleted from it. A legal order to modify the 
DMS should be made. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Local Committee (Mole Valley) is asked to agree that:  

 
(i) There are no public footpath rights over A-B on Drg. No. 3/1/51/H116 and 

that this part of the route should be deleted from the Definitive Map. 
 

(ii) A Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) should be made and 
advertised to implement these changes. If objections are maintained to 

Page 51

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

such an Order, it will be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for determination. 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The County Council has a duty under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (WCA 1981) to modify the (DMS) if it discovers evidence which on balance 
supports a modification.  
 
The evidence considered in this case shows that: 

i. No evidence has been presented which can show that a public right of 
way was in place prior to the construction of the railway. 

ii. A private crossing was created in 1857 when the railway was laid out and 
this position is confirmed in 1880. 

iii. The existence of a public right has been challenged over extended 
periods by the railway companies, by locked gate, by notice, in legal 
agreements and in writing. 

iv. The British Transport Act 1949 and earlier acts made any trespass a 
criminal offence. This provides that rights could not arise through long 
use, as a result of statutory and operational incompatibility and a lack of 
capacity to dedicate. 

v. The Inspector at Inquiry in 1954 confirmed no public right existed. 
vi. No right appeared on the 1952 and 1959 maps but did appear on the 

1966 map and subsequently. 
vii. There is no evidence to indicate that the route was included in 1966 as a 

result of new evidence or any legal process. 
viii. The route (A-B) has not been included on any versions of the Definitive 

Statement since the first version was published in 1952. It is quite clearly 
‘excluded’. 

ix. Notices were erected and maintained on site from 1934 until sometime 
between 1971 and 1983 which indicated that the way was not dedicated 
to the public. 

x. It is not possible for a right of way to be dedicated for the purposes of 
section 31 of the 1980  Act when use is by virtue of it already being 
shown on the Definitive Map; use in such circumstances cannot be ‘as of 
right’ as rights that cannot be prevented cannot be acquired (See para 
1.9). 
 

There is new, sufficient and cogent evidence that the inclusion of A-B on the 1966 
map must have been a cartographic error which has been carried through to the 
present day. No convincing evidence has been presented which indicates that the 
inclusion on the map in 1966 was valid or that rights have somehow otherwise 
arisen. 
 
1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND: 
 

1.1 The relevant section of public footpath 24 (Leatherhead) runs for 17 metres 
over railway land, as shown A-B on Drg. No. 3/1/51/H116. It is indicated on the 
current Definitive Map with the relevant date of 22 March 2006 (Annex A). It 
runs between gates on either side of the railway. Several warning notices (by 
Network Rail and predecessors) are posted on site on either side to the effect: 
“Stop look listen- beware of trains”, ‘Warning do not trespass on the railway 
penalty £1000”, “Danger, do not touch live rail” and “cyclists dismount”. 

 
1.2 The current Definitive Statement records that the path goes: 

Page 52

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
To the northern boundary of the railway 
 
And then: 
 
Path recommences on southern side of railway. 
 
This shows a conflict between the map and the statement which has been in 
place since the 1966 review of the Definitive Map (see paras. 2.2-2.11) 
 

1.3 Section 32(4) of the 1949 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949 (NPACA 1949) provided, as does s. 56(1)(e) of the WCA 1981 that, 
where a way is shown on the Definitive Map, any particulars in the statement 
as to the position or width of the way are conclusive evidence as to the position 
and width of the way. There is no provision within any Act for deciding whether, 
in the case of conflict, the map or the statement takes precedence, although s. 
56(1)(a) of the 1981 Act states that the map is conclusive evidence that there 
were rights on foot at the relevant date of the map without prejudice to any 
other rights. 
 

1.4 Section 53(2) of the WCA 1981 places a duty on Surrey County Council (SCC) 
as Surveying Authority to keep the DMS under continuous review. This means 
modifying the map and statement to take into account the discovery of relevant 
evidence as soon as reasonably practicable. This may be that a right subsists 
or is reasonably alleged to subsist; that a way should be shown as a highway 
of a different status or that there is no public right of way over land shown in 
the map and statement. This duty is placed upon the Council irrelevant of 
whether an application is made by any party to modify the DMS under s. 53 
and Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The only relevant 
considerations are whether the evidence is sufficient to raise a presumption 
that the DMS should be modified. Other issues such as security, privacy, 
safety or convenience are legally irrelevant, except where statute explicitly 
says otherwise. 

 
1.5 In the event of a discrepancy between the map and statement, it is the 

Council’s duty to determine, on the basis of evidence, which of these two 
documents is the correct record of public right of way 24 (Leatherhead). In the 
case R (Norfolk CC) v Environment Secretary [2006] the judge summarised 
the above as follows1: 

 
“At review, neither the map nor its accompanying statement is conclusive 
evidence of its contents. In the case of irreconcilable conflict between the 
map and the statement, there is no evidential presumption that the map is 
correct and the statement not correct. The conflict is evidence of error in the 
preparation of the map and statement which displaces the Trevelyan 
presumption. Each should be accorded the weight analysis of the documents 
themselves and the extrinsic evidence, including the situation on the ground 
at the relevant date, demonstrates is appropriate”. 

Two possible outcomes might arise to reconcile the documents 
(notwithstanding the discovery of evidence which might suggest other changes 
of status or extent are required). 

 

                                                 
1 R (Norfolk CC) v Environment Secretary [2006] 1 WLR 1103 para. 73 

Page 53

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
OPTION 1: 
The Definitive Map is modified to delete the section across the railway land to 
bring it in line with the Definitive Statement. 
OPTION 2:  
The Definitive Statement is modified to add the excluded section, as currently 
shown on the Definitive Map. 

 
These are discussed in more detail below. 

 
1.6 OPTION 1 : Under Section 53(3)(c)(iii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 the Surveying Authority must be able to conclude that there is no public 
right of way over land shown in the map and statement as a highway of any 
description. 

 
The evidence needed to remove what is shown as a public right on such an 
authoritative record as the DMS- and this applies equally to the downgrading of 
a way with ‘higher’ rights to a way with ‘lower’ rights as well as complete 
deletion- will need to fulfil the following requirements2: 
 
These are that: 
 

 The evidence must be new- an order to remove a right of way cannot be 
founded simply on the re-examination of evidence known at the time the 
Definitive Map was surveyed and made 

 The evidence must be of sufficient substance to displace the 
presumption that the Definitive Map is correct. 

 The evidence must be cogent. 

While all three conditions must be met they will be assessed in the order listed. 
Before deciding to make an order, authorities must take into consideration all 
other relevant evidence available to them concerning the status of the right of 
way and they must be satisfied that the evidence shows on the balance of 
probability that the map or statement should be modified. 

 
1.7 Evidence is then required that A-B was included (on the map) in error and no 

public rights existed over the route at the relevant date. No presumption in 
favour of the map at the expense of the statement should occur. The evidence 
should be approached on is own merits and a decision made on the balance of 
probabilities.  
 

1.8 A precondition for the exercise of the statutory power contained in s. 
53(3)(c)(iii) is the discovery of evidence. Case law3 has shown that where there 
is a divergence between the map and statement, perhaps in the form of a 
drafting error, this can then be characterised as the discovery of evidence or 
‘recent research’ and that it should not be necessary to also characterise it as 
new. Nevertheless, as I shall explain, given that this route does not seem to 
have been added to the map on the basis of any evidence-based decision, 
then all evidence considered might be characterised as new. 

 

                                                 
2 Para. 4.32-4.35 Planning Inspectorate Circular 1/09 Version 2, Released October 2009.  
3 Kotarski v SSEFRA & Devon CC [2010] EWHC 1036 (Admin). Paras 24-27. 

Page 54

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

1.9 In the case of deletions, guidance issued by DEFRA4 suggests that a case for 
the dedication of a right on the basis of use in the period between the 
recording of the right of way and its subsequent removal must fail. It is not 
possible for a right of way to be dedicated for the purposes of section 31 of the 
1980 Act when use is by virtue of it already being shown on the Definitive Map; 
use in such circumstances cannot be ‘as of right’ as rights that cannot be 
prevented cannot be acquired. In other words, rights cannot have been 
acquired since the route was added to the map in error. 

 
1.10 OPTION 2: Or, under Section 53(3)(c)(i)  of the WCA 1981 the “authority shall 

make such modifications to the DMS as appear to them to be requisite in 
consequence of the discovery of evidence which (when considered with all 
other relevant evidence available to them) shows that a right of way not shown 
on the DMS subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area 
to which the map relates”. 

 
1.11 This involves two tests: 

Test A: Does a right of way subsist on a balance of probabilities?  This 
requires clear evidence in favour of the Appellant and no credible evidence to 
the contrary.        
Test B: Is it reasonable to allege that a right of way subsists?  If there is a 
conflict of credible evidence, and no incontrovertible evidence that a way 
cannot be reasonably alleged to subsist, then the answer must be that it is 
reasonable to allege that one does subsist. 

 
For the purpose of making an Order to modify the Definitive Statement it is 
only necessary to meet the second (lesser) test. 

1.12 Only a small amount of first-hand evidence of ‘use’ has been submitted with 
regard to this route so we cannot rely upon section 31(1) of the Highways Act 
1980 (1980 Act). Nor can we infer dedication at common law (see section 
31(9) of the 1980 Act where there is evidence that a landowner has dedicated 
a right of way and that the public has accepted the dedication. Some statistics 
of daily use have been provided and are outlined at para.  2.41. In this case 
the partial user evidence and the documentary evidence must enable an 
inference of dedication and acceptance of a right of way. Section 32 of the 
1980 Act requires a court or tribunal to take into account any map, plan or 
history of the locality, or other relevant document which is tendered in 
evidence, giving it such weight as appropriate before determining whether or 
not a way has been dedicated as a highway. If the evidence is sufficient to 
show that at some stage in the past the route did carry public rights then the 
accepted legal principle “once a highway always a highway” will apply if no 
lawful extinguishment can be shown. The caveat outlined in para. 1.9 must 
also be considered however. 
 

1.13 Additional aspects which also must be considered, include whether the 
dedication of rights was prevented by past and current legal regimes; whether 
Network Rail or their predecessors had the legal capacity to dedicate and 
whether cul-de-sacs should be created on the map as a result of changes 
made. 

 
1.14 This item seeks a decision based upon this report. This is a non-Executive 

Function. 

                                                 
4 Ibid. 

Page 55

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
 
2. HISTORY AND ANALYSIS: 

 
2.1 Given the reference to section 32 of the 1980 Act in para. 1.12 above, 

evidence must be the basis of determining that no public rights are shown to 
exist despite the inclusion of a way on the DMS. 

 
Evidence from the Surrey Definitive Map and Statement 

 
2.2 The DMS is a legal document and conclusive evidence of the existence of 

public rights (and their particulars) at the relevant time on the map. 
 

2.3 The earliest versions of the Definitive Map were produced under the NPACA 
1949 and were subject to (in theory) a wholesale review every five years. 
These were the first maps of rights of way to be legally conclusive. 
 

2.4 Prior to this, maps were prepared in response to the 1932 Rights of Way Act. 
These maps had no statutory weight unlike those prepared under the later 
1949 Act5 and are NOT definitive in nature but were intended to be a resource 
and a source of information for authorities to draw upon. Their preparation was 
not without controversy. During 1934 and 1935 there were attempts to 
establish whether the public had rights across the level crossing or not. In 
response to an enquiry (dated 14 February 1934) about the status of the 
crossing, Southern Railway stated to the Urban District that: 
 
“no public footpath has existed over the railway. This is borne out by the fact 
that no wicket gates or stiles were provided when the line was constructed”. 
 
They also drew attention to the fact that: 

“The present wicket gates were provided in 1911 by agreement with the 
Epsom Rural District Council and as a convenience for persons who had 
shewn themselves entitled to use the vehicular crossing and did not want the 
trouble of unlocking the gates. By such documents the Company’s 
predecessors repudiated any claim to a public footpath at the crossing”. 
 
Subsequently then when maps were drawn up by Leatherhead Urban District 
Council it is surprising to see that the footpath was drawn across the railway. 
The map (see below) deposited in 1937 for the purposes of the 1932 Rights of 
Way Act by Leatherhead Urban District Council shows a red solid line 
annotation crossing the railway. 

 

                                                 
5 In fact this Act placed no requirement on any authority to prepare maps of public rights of 
way, being mostly concerned with outlining in statute how public rights might arise.  

Page 56

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
 

 
2.5 Prior to the publication of the 1952 Definitive Map (in 1957), ‘Draft Definitive 

Maps’ were drawn up for the entire county in 1950 for public consultation. 
Initially these were drawn up on by the various parishes, districts and boroughs 
on a locality basis and submitted to the County Council. The first 1950 version 
is shown below. 

 

 
 
1950: The inclusion of a way (or otherwise) on the DMS was the subject of 

extended deliberation during the compilation of the 1952 version. On this early 
draft version of the DMS, public footpath 24 was recorded across the railway 
by Leatherhead Urban District Council. 
 

2.6 A schedule to accompany this map was also produced by the District Council 
in 1951. This is rather less clear about whether the route over the railway is 
included. 
 

 
 

Page 57

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

This prompted a formal objection from the Railway Executive to SCC regarding 
its inclusion. As a result, SCC determined to modify the particulars contained in 
the DMS by the deletion of the footpath from Barnetwood Lane opposite its 
junction with Agates Lane north-westwards over the railway to Links Road. 
Objections were subsequently made by Leatherhead and District Countryside 
Protection Society and Leatherhead Urban District Council amongst others. A 
public hearing was convened on 14 February 1955 to determine this matter 
and was chaired by the independent Inspector Mr J. F. Hedley. Following the 
hearing of evidence Mr Hedley concluded: 
 
“From the evidence submitted I am of opinion that there has never been a 
public right of way over the Green Lane crossing but I am of the opinion that 
the Draft Map and Statement should be amended to show a right of way on 
foot from Barnett Wood Lane along Green Lane as far as the Epsom and 
Leatherhead railway line and a similar R/W from the north of the crossing to 
Links Road”.  
 

2.7 Several key points of history arose during the inquiry. It seems that from 1903-
1909 the gates on either side of the railway were kept locked to prevent 
unauthorised use of the crossing. The wicket gates were provided in 1911 
under the terms of an agreement with Epsom Rural District Council, for the 
convenience of those persons who had a private right to use the crossing. A 
local user Mr Devitt acknowledged that members of the public climbed over the 
gate prior to that. Another user claimed that there had always been a public 
right of way here and referred to the Tithe Apportionment Map (See para. 2.40) 
and Ordnance Survey maps of 1867 and 1895. She had however no personal 
knowledge of the area during the period 1903-09 when the gates were locked.  
 

2.8 As a result of the inquiry, the footpath was deleted in its entirety from Barnett 
Wood Lane to Links Lane and then was added back to the map as: 

 
i.  a footpath from Barnetwood Lane along Green Lane to a point immediately 

south of the Epsom and Leatherhead Railway, and 

ii. a footpath from a point immediately north of the Epsom to Leatherhead 
railways in a north-westerly direction to Links Road. 

Subsequently the draft definitive map of 1952 reveals the right of way stopping 
at each side of the railway. Also indicated here are notations ‘S’ indicating the 
presence of stiles and ‘N’ indicating the presence of a notice. These are listed 
clearly in the draft Definitive Statement which accompanied the map at the 
time. 

 

Page 58

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 59

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
 
 

The statement remains identical in all its earlier versions to that outlined in 
para. 1.2.  
 

2.9 The 1952 and 1959 maps (shown below) show that a purple line clearly 
ceases on each side of the railway land as required by the determination made 
by the Inspector Mr Hedley. No line crosses the railway. 
 
 

 
1952 

Page 60

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
1959 
 
 
The map published in 1966 is shown below. This clearly shows footpath 24 
continuing across the railway as a continuous purple line.  

 

 
1966 
 
The 1966 definitive statement does not concur with this however. 
 

Page 61

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
 
2.10 No evidence has been uncovered to suggest that any legal order or other legal 

mechanism was employed or enacted in order to create rights across the 
railway. There is no evidence that any evidence was put forward to support its 
inclusion on the map or conversely that any objection was raised with the 
Council to its inclusion. 
 

2.11 The current DMS was consolidated from the earlier 1966 records and 
subsequent legal orders to produce the current set of black and white maps 
accompanied by Definitive Statements for each route. Each of the 89 sheets 
covering the County had an initial relevant date of 1 March 1996. These sheets 
were subsequently updated (where relevant) on a piecemeal basis by legal 
order. Each time this happened that sheet would be given a new relevant date. 
Footpath 24 (Leatherhead) appears on sheet TQ15 NE and has the relevant 
date of 22 March 2006. The accompanying statement does not have a relevant 
date but is also continuously updated where affected by legal orders. Map 
TQ15 NE (below) shows footpath 24 running north-westwards from Barnett 
Wood Lane. The pecked line runs along Green Lane and progresses over the 
railway line. Thereafter it continues along an un-named path enclosed by 
fences to Links Road and beyond. The route has been shown this way since 
the map was redrawn onto this base map in 1996. In contrast however the 
statement below clearly notes that the footpath does not cross the railway but 
ends at the boundary of the railway land and recommences on the other side. 

 

Page 62

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Evidence submitted by Network Rail 

 
2.12 Since 2015 Network Rail has submitted evidence in support of the position that 

the Definitive Map is in error and should be brought in line with the Definitive 
Statement. I shall outline this evidence in chronological order; drawing 
thematic links between the evidence where relevant. An analysis of the 
importance of their key points will take place in the conclusion of this report at 
section 9.  
 

Page 63

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

2.13 Network Rail has drawn particular attention to the various Acts and associated 
documents which led to the laying out and construction of the railway line 
during the 1840s and 1850s (Annex C). They assert that prior to the 
construction of the railway there was no path or road in existence at the 
location of the Green Lane crossing. The railway line was authorised by the 
Epsom and Leatherhead Railway Act 1856 which contains no provisions 
relating to the crossing, but did incorporate the Railways Clauses 
Consolidation Act 1845 which imposed a specific obligation for the railway 
company to provide and maintain certain works ‘for the Accommodation of the 
Owners and Occupiers of Lands adjoining the Railway’. In other words, to 
facilitate the crossing of the railway. The crossing was provided as a new work 
for the benefit of and the sole use of the landowner and its successors in title. 
The Book of Reference and Deposited plan accompanying the 1857 Act 
described the land over which the path now runs as ‘Arable’, owned by the 
Honourable Mary Howard. They mention no path, neither private nor public. 
Closer examination shows part of what became footpath 24 is indicated as a 
narrow enclosure, leading to a wooded shaw. There is nothing in either 
document to suggest its status. 
 

2.14 Several earlier Railway Acts and Plans were also supplied, although as none 
of these were ever enacted their significance is limited. They show a similar 
situation to the Act which was ultimately enacted. 

 
2.15 In a conveyance schedule dated 1857 with regard to land owned by Mary 

Howard there is reference to various accommodation6 works. One of these is  
 

“..a level crossing …on the farm in the occupation of John Agates…to be the 
usual field crossing for carriages and to be placed as requested by said Mary 
Howard”. 
 

2.16 The accompanying plan shows the tip of the narrow strip of land which equates 
to part of Green Lane to the south of the railway. This however ends some 
distance before the railway, adjacent to the shaw. There is no indication of any 
public rights being granted at this time or already being in existence. A later 
memorandum in this document explicitly confirms: 

 
“In respect of the wicket gates provided at this crossing to accommodate 
pedestrians, the Companies doing so without admitting the right of the public to 
cross the line at the point A (Agates Crossing)”. 

2.17 Network Rail suggest that the most likely reason for the railway company to 
provide a crossing at this point was to create a statutory easement for a private 
right of way solely for the benefit of a landowner and not for the use of the 
public. They continue, to argue that such a way must be maintained for only as 
long as the landowner requires it or there is a change in the land use which lies 
outside of the purpose for which the crossing was provided.  
 

2.18 Other documents from the archives of Network Rail continue to support the 
position that the crossing was not public. A detailed file note dated 3 March 
1922 considers Agates Crossing. Of key importance are the following extracts: 

 
“…what is now ‘Green Lane’ did not exist in field 26, nor is a track of any sort 
shown. Apparently when this field was severed Green Lane was extended up 

                                                 
6 Works required to facilitate access to private land/property.  

Page 64

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

to the Railway and a level crossing constructed for Farmer Agate’s use, but 
nothing further…” 

“….it would appear that a footpath had subsequently been formed, extending 
from the level crossing to an apparently newly constructed road about 530 
yards away”. 
 
“..it would seem as if this crossing was an ordinary farmer’s occupation 
crossing with no public footpath rights”. 

2.19 The file acknowledges that it had been considered from many points of view, 
although no further information was supplied to suggest what these might have 
been. Thereafter Network Rail (or rather its various predecessors) had 
continuing concerns about this crossing. In November 1933 it arranged for 
notices pursuant to the Rights of Way Act 1932 to be exhibited. In January 
1934 this was confirmed as done. A letter dated March 1934 confirmed that the 
crossing was a made up ballast crossing which is the usual form of crossing for 
agricultural purposes.  
 

2.20 An undated letter (circa 1930s) from the Railway Executive to the Urban 
District Council noted that the map prepared by them under the 1932 Rights of 
Way Act showed public footpath 24 passing over the railway at the crossing. 
The Executive pointed out that they did not admit that the wicket gate at the 
crossing was provided for the purpose of a public footpath and that the gates 
were subject of a Memorandum sealed by the Epsom Rural District Council on 
22 November 1911. This letter also referred to correspondence between 
Southern Railways Traffic Manager and the Urban District where reference 
was made to the Notices erected in 1934. They asked that the alleged footpath 
24 be deleted from the map so far as it affected the railway. No response has 
been sourced to this letter. 

  
2.21 In 1951 a memorandum by the Chief Civil Engineer of the South Region of 

British Railways made reference to the notice plates exhibited at the crossing.  
 

On up and down sides. 

Southern Railway Warning 

Notice is hereby given under section 97(2) of the Southern Railway Act 1924, 
to persons not to trespass upon the railway. Penalty not exceeding 40/-. 

Rights of Way Act 1932 

The Southern Railways Company hereby give notice that this way is not 
dedicated to the Public. 

Warning 

Stop, look and listen, before crossing the line 

 

 

 

 

Page 65

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

On down side only: 

London and Western Railway 

In order to ensure as far as possible the safety not only of trains running on the 
Railway but also of the persons and traffic entitled to use this crossing, notice 
of the intention to pass traction and other road engines through this gate and 
over the railway must be previously given to the Company’s servants at the 
nearest station. 

2.22 In 1967 British Railways considered the possibility of closing the crossing. 
There is no evidence of any actions taken towards this.  
 

2.23 On 12 February 1969 internal correspondence noted that the crossing was laid 
out as an accommodation work on the deposited plan for the railway 
authorised by the Epsom and Leatherhead Railways Act 1856 under the terms 
of the Conveyance from the Hon. Mary Howard. It mentions that wicket gates 
were provided in pursuance of the aforementioned agreement with Epsom 
Rural District Council in 1911 and notes that the path was claimed by 
Leatherhead Urban District Council as a public footpath under the NPACA 
1949 to which the board objected and achieved the deletion of the length 
across the railway between the fences (as mentioned in paras. 2.9-2.11). 
 

2.24 Photographs of the various signs on each side of the railway crossing dated 29 
April 1971 were provided which clearly show the wicket gates, the crossing 
boards and an assortment of notices, some of which appear to be the same as 
those referred to above.  

 
2.25 On the basis of the above Network Rail assert that: 

 
i. There were never any public rights at the crossing pre-dating the railway and 

the constructing railway company made no provision for public rights. The 
various railway undertakers, including Network Rail have always maintained 
there were no public rights scheduled in the level crossing. 

ii. In 1953 the Council claimed a public right of way over the crossing and the 
British Transport Commission’s objection to the claim was subsequently 
upheld; but the Council neglected to modify the Definitive Map although the 
statement was corrected. This in itself reinforces there were no public rights 
over the level crossing. The Council has failed in its duty to modify the 
Definitive Map to correct the error that it made in 1954. 

iii. The public cannot acquire a right of way over an operational railway ‘on the 
level’ because to do so would be inconsistent with its statutory purpose. Use 
was ‘contentious’ and ‘sufficient’ notices have been maintained on site and at 
both ends of the platform of the nearest stations as required by the British 
Transport Commission Act 1953 (BTC Act 1953).  

iv. Network Rail does not have the capacity to dedicate a right of way in respect 
of the private level crossing as to do so would be incompatible with both the 
safe and efficient running of the railway, and inconsistent with the regulatory 
framework under which it operates. 

 

Page 66

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

Evidence submitted by Ashtead Residents Association 

 
2.26 In response to the decision to consider the evidence put before SCC by 

Network Rail, representations were invited from other interested parties (see 
section 4). A response was received from Ashtead Residents Association 
(ARA) who submitted several pieces of evidence and alternative interpretations 
of Network Rail’s and other evidence. Their evidence is summarised below in 
chronological order and will be analysed in section 9.  
 
ARA argue that: 
 
“The route under discussion proceeds from Agates Lane: on high ground 
between it and Skinners Lane, respected by a kink in the latter, once stood the 
Saxon homestead later to become known as Little Ashtead Manor, the Old 
Court……..The way continues to Epsom Gap and via the present footpath 25, 
Ashtead Gap. The ‘Gaps’ relate to gates which were set up there through a 
ditch and fence established under the auspices of…Countess of Arundel…in 
1619”.  

2.27 A sketch map dated 1638, credited to John Lawrence and annotated with red 
pen is supplied which they argue supports this. 
 

2.28 Roques’ map (1768) indicates the line proceeding from what much later 
became Agates Lane across the Rye to Seymours Manor to Ashtead Woods. 
 

2.29 The Wyburd Survey 1802 shows the track in the form of an enclosure 
extending two field lengths down from Barnetwood/Marsh Lane. The upper 
part is described as ‘Driftway’ by definition ‘a common road or path for driving 
cattle…’. Further north the alignment has become ’Shaw’, a strip of woodland 
to provide cover for game. 

 
2.30 The 1838 Tithe Map shows plot 189 extending from Barnett Wood Lane to the 

field boundaries and beyond and described as ‘Driftway’, i.e. part of the ancient 
drove way along which herds were moved between the village and market in 
Kingston. 

 
2.31 The Dorking to Epsom Railway Plan 1845 (annex C) shows the occupation 

crossing was required in substitution to an existing access to the watering hole 
on the Rye (a brook) and not as an original creation simply to provide access 
to fields divided by the new railway line form the home farm. The Green 
Lane/Driftway was re-established west of the Shaw. There were gates but not 
locked and available to use without let or hindrance. There is no evidence that 
the railway exercised any control at that stage. “…the driftway enclosure has 
been outlined but not numbered or names. From where it meets the Shaw, plot 
25, at its northern end, the footpath turns west across Plot 28 before returning 
northwards alongside plot 28 before returning northwards alongside plots 29 
and 30 down to cross the rye brook. The terrier records plot 28 and 29 as 
Arable and Plot 30 pasture, each field containing the footpath. 
 

2.32 The 1855 plan of Epsom and Leatherhead Railway shows the driftway 
enclosure outlined but not numbered or named. From where it meets the 
Shaw, Plot 25 at its northern end a network of footpaths appears proceeding 
either side of adjacent plots Plots 23 and 24, between plots 26 and 27/28, 
another track extends all the way down to Rye Brook and watering hole. The 

Page 67

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

latter is described as ‘occupation road’. Diversion of the ways to field edges 
can be explained by a need to skirt arable land on conversion from pasture.  
 

2.33 A conveyance and accompanying plan of 13 February 1880, relating to the 
purchase of the estate by Francis Soames specified a ‘…..right of way in 
common with other persons entitled thereto, with or without horses, carts and 
carriages, over and along the road or way crossing London-South-western 
Railway to Barnett Wood Lane”. The inference ‘those entitled to use it’ within it, 
do not imply a narrow interpretation. There is no evidence to suggest the way 
is not used by the public.  

 
2.34 In 1870 and then later in 1889 both a subway and then a road bridge were 

requested for carriages and foot passengers in lieu of the crossing. Both were 
rejected by the Railway Company. Access via ladder stiles continued abutting 
double gates. The gates were locked with keys provided for landowners. 

 
2.35 The 1895 Ordnance Survey map shows the driftway as ‘green lane’, which has 

no legal meaning but many such lanes represent ancient routes that have 
existed for millennia. The route continued over the railway line to the old 
ford/watering place 
 

2.36 No controversy arose until in 1909 the firm who owned the lane wrote to 
Ashtead Parish Council stating ‘with regard to the Caen Estate that there was 
no right of way over the property’.  Evidence of the reaction to this by parish 
councillors can be found in parish magazines from the time. Ashtead Parish 
Council minutes for 19 April 1909 show that adjacent landowner Mr Soames 
requested that a stile or wicket gate be erected to the recently enclosed fence 
enclosing his land. The minutes admit that the gates ‘were always kept locked’ 
and were ‘worn by people getting over the gate’. Gates were later replaced in 
their original position and wickets removed. The Parish wrote to the Railways 
Company requesting that wicket gates or stiles be reinstated. This was done in 
July 1910 without any admission that a right existed. The Railway company 
wrote to the Council asking for an agreement on the matter. This was reached 
via the aforementioned 1911 memorandum. Neither Ashtead Parish nor 
Epsom RDC conceded that this crossing was NOT a public right of way and in 
fact maintained the opposite view.  

 
2.37 In minutes of the Epsom Rural District Council of July 1912 it was noted that 

Ashtead Parish Council consented to the erection of the wicket gates provided 
that the Council claimed that the footpath existed and was one over which they 
had sole control. Despite a resolution that the Clerk be instructed to exchange 
counter parts of the agreement with the Railway Company no evidence has 
been uncovered that this was ever done or what the response to it might have 
been. 

 
2.38 The ARA refer to a recent case in the High Court at Wrexham7. They contend 

this shows great similarity to the situation at Green Lane, particularly with 
regard to the path and occupation road shown on the railway maps prior to 
construction of the line as evidenced in the documents and maps. They quoted 
from it: 
 
“The inspector then examined the documentary evidence in turn and dealt with 
OS maps, an 1840 Tithe map, railway plans, and other documents. Her core 

                                                 
7 Network Rail Ltd v Welsh Ministers [2020] EWHC 1993 (Admin) 

Page 68

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

reasoning in confirming the order was that she was satisfied that the evidence 
pointed towards the order route being available on the ground and used by the 
public on foot before the statutory process necessary to construct the railway 
lines was commenced in 1853”. 

 
2.39 It is the contention of ARA that this is a well-established right of way from its 

days as a cattle droving route to the market at Kingston, to the modern era 
where it is an essential route for residents to reach shops and for 
schoolchildren to safely reach cycle paths and leisure walkers.  
 

2.40 The definition section of the 1835 Highways Act does not define driftway. This 
act was primarily concerned with problems of repair. Where a driftway appears 
in conjunction with the word ‘private’ this is to imply ‘privately maintainable’ 
only. 

 
Evidence submitted by Mr Peter Williams 

 
 

2.41 From summer 1983 until 2021 the shortest route to the butcher, pharmacy and 
post office was via the Green Lane foot crossing. Between those dates he was 
never prevented from crossing on foot due to the gates being locked.  
 

2.42 From 1983 until January 2016 there was no notice on either side saying that 
the way was not ‘dedicated to the public. They had no reason to study the 
definitive map until the notice appeared. 

 
2.43 The test (as laid out here in para. 1.9) is not even-handed and not fair. 

 
2.44 It makes no sense that the footpath would be cut in-half, becoming two cul-de-

sacs.  
 
2.45 It is nonsense to suggest that you can have an unlocked and well-maintained 

foot crossing like this yet claim every user was trespassing and could be fined. 
 

2.46 Signs were erected by Network Rail in 2016 to the effect of “Highways Act 
1980. Network Rail hereby give notice that this way is not dedicated to the 
public”. Surely Network Rail should not have put these signs up if they had 
been illegal. How can the permanent notices which were in place in 1971 be 
justified. 

 
2.47 I understand that safety and convenience are not relevant matters. The 

Council should not be subject to pressures on such matters that could affect its 
reading.  

 
2.48 The railway company had allowed the public right of way to be created (or 

reinstated) by neither locking gates after the 1981 Act nor displaying onsite 
notices whose words were in the definitive statement text. 

 
Evidence submitted by Mr B. E. Bouchard 
 
2.49 The Parish had from time to time immemorial, a network of footpaths providing 

free movement by custom and common usage as exemplified in Surrey 
Quarter Sessions for Easter 1661. From 1 March 1661 a footpath leading from 
Ashtead to Kingston had been forcibly obstructed with a ditch and fences”. 
 

Page 69

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

2.50 Ashtead’s ancient droveway, extended as a thoroughfare from a reserve 
mapped as the driftway by 1802 through a ford across The Rye to Epsom gap 
(a gate set up there through a ditch and fence established under the auspices 
of the Lady of the Manor. 
 

2.51 Under the General Highways Act 1835 Parishes were under a duty to maintain 
highways and the legislation mentioned driftway in conjunction with the word 
‘private’ to make it clear that it was not maintainable at public expense. 
Driftways are found described as ‘private roads’ without that term implying any 
restriction of use. 
 

2.52 The 1845 Railway Plan (annex D) shows the way emanating from the driftway 
and skirting plots 28 and 26 to reach the Rye and described as footpath in the 
terrier. It crossed both ‘Limits of deviation’ and was cut by the railway. 
Footpaths commonly meander in use and may be temporarily diverted in order 
to go around the edge of arable fields. Such variations neither alter the route’s 
intrinsic nature nor its continuity. 
 

2.53 On the 1855 Railway plan the stretch of footpath along the edge of field 26 had 
been consolidated into an occupation road. Since this was to be severed by 
the railway, the promotors would have been obliged to reinstate the link. 
Thereafter the public experience unimpeded passage for the next 50 years. 
Requests for bridges or tunnels were not based on any lack of entitlement to 
cross at ground level.  
 

2.54 When the Ashtead Estate was sold in 1987 a provision was made for a right of 
way with or without horses, carts and carriages over the road crossing the 
railway. 
 

2.55 The 1895 Ordnance Survey map is extended as parallel dotted lines to, across 
and from the railway lines, noted F.P at intervals. 
 

2.56 In 1908, in accordance with the 1894 Local Government Act, the Parish 
Council gave ‘considerable attention to the necessity for preserving to the 
public a number of footpaths in the Parish which the old inhabitants believe to 
be public’, specified the following year to include Green Lane to Ashtead 
Woods. Under that Act no right of way could be extinguished or diverted 
without the permission of both the Parish and Rural District. 
 

2.57 In 1909 Joseph Soames arranged for the crossing to be barred. This was 
declared unlawful by the Parish Council supported by the Steward of the 
Manor. The railway company had removed existing ladder stiles and Epsom 
Rural District Council asked to initiate legal proceedings, but wicket gates were 
substituted. Each side reserved its own position and the status quo was 
maintained until the public hearing in1950. Viewed after the event it did not 
proceed with proper legal candour with the failure by the Railway to disclose 
the existence of the 1845 Railway Plan and the suppression of recognition of a 
pre-existing accommodation road in 1855. 
 

2.58 J. Soames claimed in 1909 that no rights of way existed across any of his land, 
demonstrably a falsehood. Following his demise this was not repeated by the 
family form of Solicitors but had been espoused by the Railway company. 
There is no direct evidence that the short way across the railway track-bed was 
of a different character to the rest of the way on both sides. 
 

Page 70

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

2.59 The onus of proof lies upon whoever advocates change. The case of Network 
Rail Ltd V Welsh Ministers, No. CO/3369/2019 says “the order route being 
available on the ground and used by the public on foot before the statutory 
process to construct the railway lines was commenced….” supports a 
presumption that the definitive map is correct. 

 
Historic evidence 

 
2.60 Tithe Map and Award: The Tithe Apportionment and Map dating from 1838, 

which was prior to the planning and construction of the railway. A narrow plot 
equating to the most southern section of Green Lane is shown and numbered 
189 on the plan. The apportionment records this as ‘driftway’. This then 
appears to end at plot 190 (The Three Acres- Arable). No indication is given as 
to who might have a right to use the driftway but both 189 and 190 were 
occupied by Michael Agate and owned by Fulke Greville Howard. The Altered 
Tithe Apportionment Map of 1887 shows the southern section of Green Lane 
up to the London and South Western Railway. No crossing is shown across 
the railway. A wide track is shown on the northern side leading to an unnamed 
road (later to become Links Road).  

 
2.61 Historic Maps: No route of any kind equating to footpath 24 and the crossing 

is visible on historic maps from J Senex 1729, Bowen 1753, Roques 1770, 
Lindley Crosley 1793 or Greenwood 1823. A short spur of Green Lane is 
shown extending north from Barnetwood Lane on maps produced by the 
Ordnance Survey in 1804 and Colonel Mudge 1816. This probably equates 
approximately to the driftway recorded on the Tithe Map, but does not extend 
as far as where the railway would subsequently run. 

 
2.62 Ordnance Survey records: The Ordnance Survey First Edition County Series 

map dated 1877 shows a route known as ‘Green Lane’ running north-westerly 
from Barnettwood Lane to the southern side of the crossing point. It meets a 
solid boundary at the railway land although a faint double pecked line crosses 
the railway indicating that some kind of crossing feature was surveyed on the 
ground. There is no sign of any track continuing on the northern side. A solid 
line also separated Green Lane from Barnettwood Lane, which may indicate 
some kind of barrier or gate.  

 
2.63 The Ordnance Survey Book of reference for the 1877 map records the length 

of Green Lane running as far as the southern side of the railway as ‘Private 
road’. This is enclosed by solid lines. The field on the northern side of the 
railway is recorded as ‘Arable’. These records are however not definitive in 
terms of the status of a way.  

 
2.64 The equivalent map published in 1897 shows a similar situation south of and 

across the railway. The map also however shows a track shown by double 
pecked lines continuing to the north-west of the railway labelled F.P. The 1913 
edition shows a similar situation, although there is no obvious sign of a 
crossing across the railway land. Agates Lane is visible for the first time. Green 
Lane is now only separated from Barnettwood Lane by a pecked line, which 
indicates perhaps only a change in surface. The 1932 edition indicates that a 
more substantial crossing of the railway has been constructed, although solid 
lines continue to suggest the presence of gates. The footpath northwards from 
the railway is now enclosed by housing plots. The 1976 map details a complex 
system of enclosures each side of the railway, which relate closely to the 
present day.  

Page 71

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
2.65 Whilst Ordnance Survey maps are good evidence of the physical existence of 

part of the feature to become known as Green Lane and its subsequent 
development they do not indicate public status, levels of use, nor every route 
being used at the time of survey.  

 
2.66 Highways minutes: On 25 May 1892 the Highway Board for the District of 

Epsom considered a list of public bridleways and footpaths submitted by The 
Surveyor which were in the District. 18 routes were listed in the Parish of 
Ashtead. On 6 February 1907 the Highways and General Purposes Committee 
of Epsom Rural District Council considered a similar report from the Surveyor. 
33 routes were listed in the Parish of Ashtead. In neither report does any route 
equate to any part of Green Lane or the railway crossing. 

 
2.67 1911 Memorandum: This Memorandum was sealed by the District Council of 

Epsom on 22 November 1911. It acknowledged that they alleged a public 
footpath across the railway whilst the railway company denied the same, whilst 
agreeing, without prejudice or admission that a public footpath exists, to fix 
wicket gates on each side of their railway for the use of persons desiring to 
cross the railway on foot, subject nevertheless to the rights (if any) of any 
person’s right to have such wicket gates removed and railway fences restored. 

 
Evidence of use 

 
2.68 First-hand evidence of use was submitted by 4 local residents dating from 

January 1978 to the present day. They also noted use, where relevant by their 
respective partners and children. All said they had used the way freely to go 
across the crossing, to access the common, the butchers, pharmacy, Post 
Office, Schools and more. Use was both for specific purposes and general 
recreation. None had seen any notices which they thought had challenged 
their use until January 2016 when it was noted that signs appeared referring to 
the 1980 Act to the effect that the way ‘is not dedicated to the public’. Not 
everyone recalled this notice.  
 

2.69 Evidence presented by the ARA but collected by Network Rail using cameras, 
suggested the following indicative levels of use over the last year. In November 
2020 over 598 people used the crossing over 3 days before equipment failure. 
Network Rail had noted an increase in use during the lockdowns of 2020 
although an earlier 9-day census in December 2019 suggested 2446 people 
and 635 cyclists used the crossing during the period. Footage included adults 
and school children not dismounting from bikes, joggers with headphones and 
people standing taking selfies or photos of the tracks. To contrast with this they 
also noted that 234 trains used the line every day on average with a line speed 
of 60 mph.  

 
Landowners and adjacent landowners 
 

2.70 The entirety of public footpath no. 24 is unregistered, although the section 
currently shown crossing the railway is claimed by Network Rail, including the 
fences and gates on each side. 

 
Legal considerations 

 
2.71 A number of legal considerations are pertinent in this matter as to whether 

either option 1 or option 2 can be shown to be the correct legal conclusion. 

Page 72

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

They concern whether public rights can be acquired over a railway crossing 
and whether as a result of this cul-de-sac ways may or may not be recorded. 

 
2.72 Statutory and Operational Incompatibility: Section 31(8) of the 1980 Act 

states  
 

“Nothing in this section affects any incapacity of a corporation or other body or 
person in possession of land for public or statutory purposes to dedicate a way 
over that land as a highway if the existence of a highway would be 
incompatible with those purposes." 

 

This was itself preceded by similar sections in earlier relevant Acts, including 
that of 1932 (See para. 2.4). Whilst there may be some public interest to 
recognise public rights over this footpath, a balance must be struck regarding 
public interest and protection. Section 55 of the BTC Act 1949 made it an 
offence to trespass on railway land with the objective of promoting and 
securing the safe and efficient operation of the railways. This gives rise to the 
public interest of protecting the public themselves and protecting the operation 
of the railway and its services. Relevant case law (1957 and 20178) confirmed 
that the public safety objective of preventing people from trespassing, by 
means of criminal sanction, is of greater weight; and that use of a crossing, 
such as in this case, amounted to an offence under s. 55(1) of the 1949 Act. 
The implication of this is that the operation of both s. 31(1) of the Highways Act 
(known as statutory deemed dedication) and that of common law dedication 
(see para. 1.12) are incompatible with s. 55 of the 1949 Act. In the case of the 
former on the basis that it is enshrined in s. 31(8) of the 1980 Act. Therefore, if 
the conditions laid out by the 1949 Act are met, public rights could not have 
been acquired by any amount of use since that time. The conditions of the 
1949 Act are that:  

 
Para 24. 2017 Case: For a penalty of trespass to be applicable under section 
55 of the 1949 Act it is necessary that notice to not trespass on the railway has 
been given at the railway station nearest to the point where the trespass is 
alleged to have taken place and that such notices have been renewed when 
defaced or destroyed. (This is 55(3-4)) 

 
2.73 Subject to section 55 of the 1949 Act, any use of a crossing by the public may 

be unlawful and it is not possible for Network Rail to grant lawful authority for 
such use. This use is not just deemed incompatible from the viewpoint of the 
1949 Act but the Railway Regulation Act 1840 (s. 16) and Regulation of 
Railways Act 1868 (s. 23) also made trespass a criminal offence with 
presumably the same consequences. 

 
2.74 Capacity to dedicate: The above then impacts upon Network Rail’s capacity 

to dedicate which seems to be at odds with both its statutory duties and the 
criminality of use as determined by the 1949 Act. Any use after this date would 
be negated by the effect of s. 55 of the Act. Network Rail were shown in the 
2017 case to lack the capacity to dedicate a public right of way where the way 
across the live rails is of a character which could not give rise to a presumption 
of dedication at common law. 

                                                 
8 British Transport Commission v Westmorland County Council 9HL0 [1957] 2 All ER 353, 
[1958] AC 126 and The Ramblers Association v Secretary of State for Environment Food and 
Rural Affairs [2017] EWHC 716 (Admin) 

Page 73

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

 
2.75 Cul-de-sacs: The issue of the remaining sections of footpath to the north and 

the south of the railway land has not been raised by either party. As explained 
in para. 2.8 these were added to the definitive map by the Inspector following 
inquiry in 1955. The remainder of this land has not been subject to the same 
statutory restrictions as the railway land and whilst there is nothing in law 
preventing a public right of way being a cul-de-sac, the deletion of the footpath 
over the railway would leave two cul-de-sacs ending at a point where there 
was no legitimate point of termination or public resort. If that is so then the two 
cul-de-sacs added to the map by the Inspector might reasonably be deleted 
from both the definitive map and statement. 

 
3. OPTIONS: 

 
3.1 The Committee may agree or disagree with the officer’s recommendation. 

Alternatively, they may decide that the evidence submitted shows that the 
routes should be of a different status or contain different particulars. Decisions 
can only be made on the basis of evidence. The recommendation is based 
upon the evidence submitted and interpreted under the current legislation. 
Matters such as convenience, amenity, security or safety are irrelevant (see 
Annexe B) except where such considerations are imposed by statute. 

3.2 Due to the fact that no application was made under Schedule 14 to the WCA 
1981, where the County Council decides not to make an order, there is no 
facility for the decision be appealed to the Secretary of State 

4. CONSULTATIONS: 
  
4.1 The following persons and bodies were consulted. 

County Councillor: Chris 
Townsend 

Suggested that this would be controversial and 
viewed critically by committee. He wondered 
why this had been picked up when no 
application was made. He thought Network Rail 
were not pursuing this. 

District Councillor:  David 
Hawksworth 

Noted that a lot of work had been undertaken 
on this case and why the fact that public 
access had been allowed for approaching 150 
years should not be given more weight. Where 
this route may have been elsewhere prior to 
the railway it seemed to him that it was 
probably moved to remove the ‘dog-leg’, thus 
closing the old route and instituting a new one 
which they maintained and allowed use of up to 
this day. 

District Councillor: Patricia 
Wiltshire 

Noted that she used the crossing personally 
and it is the safest crossing she had 
encountered. It would be an enormous burden 
on the residents should the crossing be closed. 
She thought a pragmatic approach be taken 
considering the welfare of residents and 
Network Rail should be challenged at the 
highest level to maintain public convenience 

Mole Valley Planning 
Department 

No response 

Page 74

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

Ramblers: Robert Alcock No response 
British Horse Society: Sarah 
Rayfield 

No response 

British Horse Society: Penny 
Tyson-Davies 

No response 

Open Spaces Society: Christine 
Hunter 

No response 

Cycling UK: Robert Eberhard I use this crossing about a dozen times per 
year as part of a cycle route. Others will point 
out that the stile recorded in the Definitive 
Statement is now a kissing gate.  

Byways and Bridleways Trust No response 
Ashtead Residents: The main objectors are acting on behalf of the 

Ashtead Residents and have submitted 
substantial evidence which was considered 
above.  

Corporation of London No response 

 
4.2 SCC Legal Services have been consulted and have approved this report. They 

advised prior to this report that the evidence should be considered without the 
receipt of an application made under Schedule 14 to the WCA 1981 in 
accordance with the Council’s statutory duties. There is in this case then no 
‘applicant’.  

5. FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS: 

 
5.1 Council is under a duty to make a MMO to modify the DMS where evidence is 

discovered which, taken as a whole shows that a modification order should be 
made. 

5.2 The cost of advertising a Map Modification Order would be approximately 
£1200, which would be met from the County Council’s Countryside Access 
budget. If objections are received and a Public Inquiry held, additional costs of 
around £4000 will also be met from the same budget. Most costs are fixed by 
our duties under Schedule 15 of the WCA 1981.     

6. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS: 
 
6.1 These factors cannot be a consideration under the current legislation. 

 
7. LOCALISM: 

 
This issue is not relevant and cannot be considered under the current 
legislation 

8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 
Crime and Disorder None of these are relevant 

considerations under the current 
legislation. 

Page 75

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

Sustainability (including Climate 
Change and Carbon Emissions) 

None of these are relevant 
considerations under the current 
legislation. 

Corporate Parenting/Looked After 
Children 

None of these are relevant 
considerations under the current 
legislation. 

Safeguarding responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and adults   

None of these are relevant 
considerations under the current 
legislation. 

Public Health 
 

None of these are relevant 
considerations under the current 
legislation. 

 
Human Rights Act 1998: Local Authorities are required to act to uphold 
European Convention rights which are now enforceable in British courts as a 
result of the Human Rights Act 1998. Primary Legislation, of which the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 is an example, may require the County Council to 
act in a particular way. While the Council must interpret primary legislation is a 
way that is compatible with Convention rights that duty does not apply if the 
County Council could not have acted differently. In this instance it is first 
necessary to consider whether the action recommended in this report impacts 
a Convention right. The making of this order may affect the rights of the 
landowner/occupier under Article 8 of the Convention, the right to respect for 
family and private life and Article 1 of Protocol 1, the right to protection of 
property. The Act makes it clear that such rights may only be interfered with in 
a way that is in accordance with the law. Here the action by the County Council 
as surveying authority is prescribed by law as detailed in paragraph 9.2-9.6 
and Annex A of this report. As such the recommendations in this report are not 
considered to be in breach of the 1998 Act. 

 
9. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
9.1 Any decision must be made on the legal basis set out in Annexe B and in 

section 1 of this report. The two options outlined in section 1 will be considered 
in reverse. 

 
9.2 The section of path in question runs for 17 metres over the railway land, 

between gates on either side. Several notices (by Network Rail and 
predecessors) are posted on site on either side as noted in s. 1.1. It is not 
know when the notices referred to in 2.21 disappeared, but most likely 
between 1971 and 1983. 

 
9.3 The user evidence dating from the 1930s is partial and was considered 

insufficient at the inquiry of 1954 and so must be insufficient now. A small 
amount of recent evidence of use has been submitted. It is acknowledged that 
it is very well used and this is supported by recent Network Rail statistics. The 
data currently available would nevertheless not be deemed sufficient to give 
rise to rights as a result of long use. Option 2 must therefore fail on the basis of 
user evidence, irrelevant of whether this use could have given rise to rights or 
not, which is deemed unlikely. 

 
9.4 The Definitive Map history indicates that whilst the railway crossing section of 

footpath 24 had been considered for inclusion on the Definitive Map it has 
never been legally included. The conclusions of the Inspector during the 1954 

Page 76

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

inquiry confirms this. There is no evidence to suggest that the route was put 
forward with evidence for inclusion on the 1966 map. It seems most likely then 
that this was a cartographic error. 

 
9.5 Various evidence has been proposed that rights existed prior to the 1954 

Inquiry. This includes reference to it being an ancient highway of some sort or 
having being well used by local persons over a long period prior to the Inquiry. 
This evidence does not stand up well to scrutiny however. 

 
9.6 With regard to Option 1; historic and later Ordnance Survey mapping, makes it 

clear that the short section of driftway running to the woodland shaw has long 
been in existence- the earliest map on which it is shown is from 1802. There is 
no evidence that this continued in any way to the point of the railway crossing 
until the railway itself was constructed. This does not necessarily mean there 
was no route- the maps can only reveal such evidence as the purpose for their 
surveying allows. These maps may be good evidence of the physical existence 
of a way, but do not reveal much about whether the way was for public or 
private use or anything about numbers- we cannot read things into them that 
are not there. The 1857 conveyance records that the way was laid out as an 
accommodation road for the use of a limited body of people and not for the 
public at large. There is no indication it was to accommodate an existing way, 
public or otherwise. It appears that that no wicket gates or stiles were provided 
when the crossing was first constructed- apparently use took place by climbing 
over the gate. A wider network of routes referred to by ARA and shown on both 
Railway Act maps with pecked lines do not equate to the route in question and 
we can know nothing about their use or status or whether they have ever in 
any way been realised. There is no evidence that any other routes were either 
public, nor that they were subsequently diverted to the position of the railway 
crossing. Railway deposited documents were prepared as part of a public 
process and were usually based on a specific survey. Public rights of way 
which crossed the possible route of a railway had to be retained and 
accommodated according to their status. As non were laid out here, 
maintained or diverted, it seems that the most likely answer is that there were 
none to record and non were granted. This is supported by the clear 
appearance elsewhere in the terriers of ‘public footpaths’ and ‘public highways’ 
to distinguish those features from the non-public. 
 

9.7 In a similar fashion, references to documents such as the conveyance of 1880 
show reference only to a route, which was laid out for the use of an 
unidentified class of user. Whilst it is shown crossing the railway it then ceases 
at the edge of a plot of private land. The clearly suggests that the use was by 
the landowner and guests to access their land. No continuation of the right is 
shown because the landowner would require none to be shown on their land. 
The public however would do. 

 
9.8 In terms of later challenges to use by the public it is recorded that the gate 

across the railway was locked between 1903 and 1909. Then the 1911 
memorandum indicated that the Railway Company admitted no public right of 
way, even if they admitted without prejudice to there being a way that could be 
used. In 1934 notices pursuant to the Rights of Way Act 1932 were erected 
both sides of the railway, which both challenged use and admitted that no 
rights exist. It is not known if any other notices were erected on site before this. 
The 1932 Act provided for the first time effective legal mechanisms for the 
landowner to express their intentions. Various effective notices have been 
maintained on-site up until sometime between 1971 and 1983. The railway 

Page 77

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

company defended this position when they successfully challenged the 1952 
draft Definitive Map.  

 
9.9 Railway land is subject to s. 55 of the British Transport Act 1949 which made 

trespass on it a criminal offence. This is the Act currently in operation but it 
was preceded by earlier Acts in 1840 and 1868 which contained similar 
provisions to make trespass an offence. There is no evidence that Network 
Rail could or have ever tried to waive this offence, either by overt actions or 
acquiescence- quite the opposite in fact. By applying the principle that 
advantage cannot be obtained from a criminal offence it seems reasonable to 
assume that it would never have been possible for the public to have acquired 
a right as a result of long use. Moreover, use would have been incompatible 
with the statutory protection and operation of the lines. Case law9 from 1958 
and 2017 supports the assertion that rights could not have been acquired over 
a level crossing as a result of long use. The level crossing is land over which 
Network Rail requires operational control and which would be incompatible 
with its use as a public footpath. This further underlines the dismissal of option 
2 and the acceptance of option 1. 

 
9.10 In summary: 

xi. No evidence has been presented which can show that a public right of 
way was in place prior to the construction of the railway so the Wrexham 
case of 2020 is irrelevant. 

xii. A private crossing was created in 1857 when the railway was laid out and 
this position is confirmed in 1880. 

xiii. The existence of a public right has been challenged extended periods by 
the railway companies, by locked gate, by notice, in legal agreements 
and in writing. 

xiv. The British Transport Act 1949 and earlier acts made any trespass a 
criminal offence. This provides that that rights could not arise through 
long use, as a result of statutory and operational incompatibility and a 
lack of capacity to dedicate. 

xv. The Inspector at Inquiry in 1954 confirmed no public right existed. 
xvi. No right appeared on the 1952 and 1959 maps but did appear on the 

1966 map and subsequently. 
xvii. There is no evidence to indicate that the route was included in 1966 as a 

result of new evidence or any legal process. 
xviii. The route (A-B) has not been included on any versions of the Definitive 

Statement since the first version was published in 1952. It is quite clearly 
‘excluded’. 

xix. Notices were erected and maintained on site from 1934 until sometime 
between 1971 and 1983 which indicated that the way was not dedicated 
to the public. 

xx. It is not possible for a right of way to be dedicated for the purposes of 
section 31 of the 1980  Act when use is by virtue of it already being 
shown on the Definitive Map; use in such circumstances cannot be ‘as of 
right’ as rights that cannot be prevented cannot be acquired (See para 
1.9). 

 
9.11 In conclusion, new, sufficient and cogent evidence has been discovered to 

show that the inclusion of A-B on the 1966 map was a cartographic error 
carried through to the present day. No convincing evidence has been 

                                                 
9 British Transport Commission v Westmorland County Council 1958 AC 126 and Ramblers’ 
Association V SOSEFRA and NR [2017] EWHC 716 (Admin) 

Page 78

ITEM 8



www.surreycc.gov.uk/molevalley 
 
 

presented which indicates that the inclusion on the map in 1966 was valid 
legally or evidentially, or that rights had somehow otherwise arisen and ought 
to remain shown on the map and included on the statement. 

 
9.12 The conditions laid out in Option 1 above have been met. 

 
9.13 The Mole Valley Local Committee is asked to agree that: 

 
(i) There are no public footpath rights over A-B on Drg. No. 3/1/51/H116 and 

that this part of the route should be deleted from the Definitive Map. 
 

(ii) A DMMO should be made and advertised to implement these changes. If 
objections are maintained to such an Order, it will be submitted to the 
Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for 
determination. 

 
10. WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

 
10.1 If the Committee decides that the above order be made and objections are 

maintained to that order, it will be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
confirmation, most likely by public inquiry where the evidence can be heard in 
detail by an Independent Inspector. 
 

10.2 If the Committee decides that a different order be made and objections are 
maintained to that order, it will be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
confirmation. 

 
10.3 If Committee decides that no order be made there is no opportunity to appeal 

to the Secretary of State.  
 

10.4 If the Committee resolution is different to officer recommendations, they should 
record the reasons and cite evidence for the decision.  This will make it easier 
to explain the decision should the matter proceed to public inquiry or future 
legal challenge? 

 
10.5 All interested parties will be informed about the decision. 
 

 
Contact Officer: 
Daniel Williams, Countryside Access Officer Tel. 020 8541 9245 / 07929 849518 
 
Consulted: 

See section 4 
 
Annexes: 

A  Drawing No. 3/1/51/H116 
B  Legal background 
C  Railway and Ordnance Survey Maps 
 
Sources/background papers: 

 File ’24 Leatherhead MMO’ and all contents, including all correspondence and 
representations, responses to consultations, landownership details, legal cases, 
assorted maps and documents can be viewed by appointment or as PDF files 

 
 

Page 79

ITEM 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Leatherhead 24/70

Leatherhead 24/80

DW March 2019
®

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2014 Ordnance Survey 1000019613.  
Except A-Z Street Atlas © Copyright of the Publishers Geographers' A-Z Map Company Ltd.

District of Mole Valley
Public footpath 24 (Leatherhead)
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Definitive Map Modification Order 

Public rights of way 
key

BOAT
Bridleway
Footpath
Restricted Byway

Green Lane

A B

Railway line

Level crossing

Brookers Close

Links Road

Barnet Wood Lane

Section of footpath 24 to be deleted: 
A-B = 17m     

Grid Ref at A: 517407 158580
Drawn by DW
Date: 18/11/2019
Drawing No. 3/1/51/H116
Scale: 1:500

Agates

Lane

Page 81

ITEM 8



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
ANNEXE A 

 
Map Modification Orders – Legal Guidance 
 
The National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 placed a 
duty on all Surveying Authorities in England and Wales to produce a 
definitive map and statement, indicating and describing public rights of 
way within their areas. 
 
The 1949 Act also required Surveying Authorities i.e. County Councils, to 
keep their definitive map and statement under periodic revision.  The 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 completely changed the way in which 
the definitive map and statement is updated.  Under this Act Surveying 
Authorities have a duty to keep their map and statement under 
continuous review. 
 
Certain specified events can trigger that process and one of these is an 
application under Section 53 of the Act for a map modification order 
(MMO).  Section 53(5) enables any landowner, occupier or user to apply 
for a Map Modification Order to modify the definitive map.  Landowners 
and occupiers may believe for example that a right of way should never 
have been shown on the definitive map at all, or is shown on the wrong 
line or that its status is incorrectly shown, for example, as a bridleway 
instead of a footpath. 
 
Claims may also be made for routes to be added on the basis of 
evidence from historical documents or of evidence of public use, either 
for a continuous period of 20 years, as provided for by the Highways Act 
1980 (s31) or for a shorter period under Common Law. 
 
Both at common law and under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 the 
public’s enjoyment of the way must have been “as of right” in order to 
form the basis of implied dedication.  “As of right” was interpreted in 
Merstham Manor v Coulsdon and Purley UDC (1937) as acts done openly, 
not secretly, not by force and not by permission from time to time given.  
The House of Lords has held in R v Oxfordshire CC ex p Sunningwell 
Parish Council (1999) that subjective state of mind of the user does not 
have to be proved.  Users over a long period may have been 
“subjectively indifferent as to whether a right existed”. 
 
Deciding who “the public” are can sometimes be difficult.  In general it 
should be people other than those working for the landowner(s) 
concerned or who had the permission or licence of the landowner(s) to 
use the route.  The period of 20 years is counted back from the date on 
which the public’s right to use the way was first brought into question or 
from the date at which an application is made to modify the Definitive 
Map and Statement.  In order to bring the public’s right into question, the 
landowner must challenge it by some means sufficient to bring it home 

Page 83

ITEM 8



  

to the public, for example, through the erection of a fence or locking of a 
gate across the way, however long ago that date was.  
 
 
Statute Law 
 
“Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 provides that the claimants’ 
evidence must show that the route has been actually enjoyed for a 20-
year period. The use must be without force, without secrecy and without 
permission”. 
 
Although 20 years uninterrupted use by the public establishes a 
presumption that the way has been dedicated to the public, this can be 
contradicted by evidence showing that the landowner did not intend to 
dedicate public rights during that time.  Evidence of interruption of the 
public’s use of the way, would have to be shown to have been both 
effective in preventing public use and clearly known to the public.  The 
turning back of the occasional stranger will not be a sufficiently positive 
act - at least where the way continues to be used by locals.  Notices 
clearly displayed and maintained on the way, indicating that it was 
private, or plans deposited with the surveying authority or its 
predecessors can prove sufficient evidence of an intention by an owner 
not to dedicate.  Section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 enables 
landowners to protect themselves against claims based solely on use by 
depositing a map, statement and statutory declaration with the surveying 
authority showing which rights of way they acknowledge to be public on 
their land. 
 
It is not possible to claim a route by presumed dedication over Crown 
Land such land being exempt from the provisions of the Highways Act 
1980.  Byelaws for some National Trust Land and other open spaces may 
also prevent the acquisition of rights. 
 
Under Section 53c (i-iii), documentary evidence alone, may be sufficient 
to establish the existence of public rights and however old the 
document, the rights recorded will still exist unless there is evidence of a 
subsequent legally authorised change. 
 
An implication of dedication may be shown if documentary evidence can 
be provided which enables an inference of dedication and acceptance of 
a right of way. Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 requires a court or 
tribunal to take into account any map, plan or history of the locality, or 
other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, giving it such 
weight as appropriate before determining whether or not a way has been 
dedicated as a highway. If the evidence is sufficient to show that at some 
stage in the past the route did carry public rights then the accepted legal 
principle “once a highway always a highway” will apply if no lawful 
extinguishment can be shown.  
 

Page 84

ITEM 8



  

In May 2006, the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act was 
brought into commencement. The main effect of sections 66 and 67 of 
this act was to significantly curtail the scope for recording further public 
rights of way for mechanically propelled vehicles (MPVs) on the 
definitive map and statement. This was done in two ways. Firstly, any 
existing unrecorded public rights of way for MPVs (with certain 
exceptions) were extinguished, so that they cannot then be added to the 
definitive map and statement as byways open to all traffic (BOATs). 
Secondly, the act also ensures that no further public rights of way for 
MPVs can be acquired unless expressly created or constructed. 
Typically, where such rights had been acquired but were thereafter 
extinguished, this results in a restricted byway. 
 
 
Common Law 
 
A highway is created at Common Law by the dedication by the owner of 
a right of passage across his land for the use by the public at large 
coupled with acceptance and use by the public as of right.  Dedication 
may also be inferred at Common Law where the acts of the owner 
conclusively point to an intention to dedicate.  In Poole v Huskinson 
(1843) it was held that “2 things to be made good, that the user has been 
sufficient in is duration and character and that the presumption then 
arising has not been rebutted.  The length of user evidence is also 
important but there is no fixed minimum or maximum period of use 
which must be proved in Order to justify an inference of dedication.  
Under Common Law it is possible to claim a route by presumed 
dedication over Crown Land. Once again relevant documentary or 
historical documentation may contribute to any inference. 
 
Schedule 14 Applications For Definitive Map Orders 
 
The procedures for the making and determination of an application are 
set out in Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  Anyone 
making an application must serve notice on every owner and occupier of 
land affected by the application.  In cases of difficulty in tracing the 
owner or occupier, the authority has the power to direct that a notice be 
placed on the land instead.  The procedures include the right for 
applicants to appeal to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food 
and Rural Affairs against the surveying authority’s refusal to make an 
Order.  In such cases the Secretary of State can direct the authority to 
make the Order even when the authority considers the evidence does not 
support the making of the Order. 
 
Once the authority has received the certificate of service of notice it has 
a duty to investigate the application and consult with every local 
authority concerned, i.e. District/Borough, Parish/Town Council.  The 
authority should make a decision on the application as soon as 
reasonably practicable.  Where the authority has not come to a decision 
within 12 months of receiving an application, the applicant can appeal to 

Page 85

ITEM 8



  

the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, who 
can direct the authority to determine it within a specified time. 
 
An authority can act on evidence without a Schedule 14 application 
being made and should do so on discovery of relevant evidence.  There 
is no requirement to investigate the claim within 12 months and no right 
of appeal to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs in these cases. 
 
Order-making procedure 
 
If it is established that, on the balance of probabilities, public rights have 
been acquired, a MMO is published and advertised on site and in a local 
newspaper.  If no objections are received the Order can be confirmed by 
the County Council.  If there are unresolved objections it must be 
referred to the Secretary of State who will probably decide to hold a 
Public Inquiry to resolve the matter. 
 
If the authority has been directed by the Secretary of State to make a 
MMO after it has decided not to do so and objections are made which 
result in a Public Inquiry being held, the authority will adopt a neutral 
stance. 
 

Page 86

ITEM 8



Annex C 

Please note that some plans have been rotated 180 degrees to make 

comparison easier. Please see north arrows and additional annotations. 

1845 Dorking to Epsom Railway Plan and Terrier 

 

 

 

29 

28 

25 

27 

30 

26 

Page 87

ITEM 8



1955/56 Epsom and Leatherhead Railway Plan and terrier 

 

 

 

  

25 

24 23 26 27 

28 

Page 88

ITEM 8



Extract from Conveyance Schedule 1857 with regard to land owned 
by Mary Howard 

 

 

 

 

Page 89

ITEM 8



1955/56 Epsom and Leatherhead Railway Plan showing location of 
public crossings laid out in Act 

(Note that owners or reputed owners are listed as ‘Surveyors of 
Highways’ for those units 5 and 13). 

 

 

 

 

 

  

5 

11 

13 

Page 90

ITEM 8



1845 Railway Plan with current right of way crossing location overlaid 

 

1855/6 Railway Plan with current right of way position shown 

 

  

Page 91

ITEM 8



Ordnance Survey County Series First Edition Map 1877, Sheet 18:12 

 

Ordnance Survey County Series First Edition Map 1877 with current 
right of way position shown 

 

 

  

N 

N 

Page 92

ITEM 8



Ordnance Survey County Series First Edition Map 1896, sheet 18:12 

 

 

 

Ordnance Survey County Series First Edition Map 1913, sheet 18:12 

 

N 

N 

Page 93

ITEM 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
 
 

 
LOCAL COMMITTEE (MOLE VALLEY) 
 
DATE: 29 SEPTEMBER 2021 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 
 

STEPHEN CLAVEY 
SENIOR ENGINEER 

SUBJECT: MOLE VALLEY PARKING REVIEW 
 

DIVISION: ALL IN MOLE VALLEY 
 
 

 
SUMMARY OF ISSUE: 
 
To consider the outcome of a review of requests that have been received for 
either the introduction of new parking restrictions or changes to existing 
restrictions at various sites in Mole Valley. Requests were received from both 
local councillors and the public alike.  
 
Since the introduction of Decriminalised Parking Enforcement (DPE) in May 2005, 
new parking / waiting restrictions in Mole Valley have been introduced in several 
stages as part of our parking review process. 
 
This report details locations and general proposals for the latest parking / waiting 
restriction review, to be progressed in 2021 / 2022, and seeks approval to carry out 
statutory advertising of the proposals. Proposals also include a number of on-street 
electric vehicle charging point bays. 
 
Annex 1 contains drawings detailing the suggested changes to parking restrictions 
and a statement of reasons for them. 
 
Annex 2 contains drawings showing the proposed locations for electric vehicle (EV) 
charging bays. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Local Committee (Mole Valley) is asked to agree: 
 

(i) That the county council’s intention to introduce the proposals in Annex 1 
is formally advertised, and subject to statutory consultation; 
 

(ii) That if no objections are received when the proposals are advertised, the 
appropriate traffic regulation orders are made; 
 

(iii) That if objections are received which cannot be resolved, in accordance 
with the county council’s scheme of delegation, the Parking Strategy and 
Implementation Team Manager considers them, in consultation with the 
Chairman / Vice Chairman of this committee and the county councillor for 
the division, and decides whether or not they should be acceded to and 

Page 95

ITEM 9



 
 

therefore whether the order should be made, with or without 
modifications. 

 

(iv) the locations identified for conversion in to on-street electric vehicle 
charging points are approved. These locations are shown in Annex 2 

 

(v) That the Parking Strategy and Implementation Team Manager is 
delegated authority to adjust the positions of the on-street Electric Vehicle 
charging bays in consultation with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Local 
Member prior to statutory consultation (if necessary). These locations are 
listed in each County Councillors division of this report, and displayed in 
their own set of drawings (Annex 2) 
 

 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
 
It is recommended that the waiting restrictions are implemented as detailed in Annex 
1. They will make a positive impact towards:- 
 

• Road safety 

• Access for emergency vehicles 

• Access for refuse vehicles 

• Easing traffic congestion 

• Better regulated parking 

• Better enforcement 
 
This will help us achieve our 2030 Community Vision objectives: 
 

• Residents live in clean, safe, and green communities where people and 
organisations embrace their environmental responsibilities. 

• Journeys across the county are easier, more predictable, and safer. 
 
 
 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND: 

 
1.1 Following the introduction of DPE in Mole Valley amendments to waiting 

restrictions have been carried out at various stages – the 2019/2020 parking 
review was the last to be implemented. 

 
1.2 Changes to the highway network, the built environment and society mean 

that parking behaviour changes and consequently it is necessary for a 
Highway Authority to carry out regular reviews of waiting and parking 
restrictions on the highway network.  

 
1.3 These reviews are carried out by the County Council’s Parking Strategy and 

Implementation Team in consultation with Mole Valley Councillors. 
 

Page 96

ITEM 9



 
 

1.4 Surrey County Council (SCC) is delivering an On Street Electric Vehicle 
Charging Point (EVCP) partnership project which will see the installation of 
on-street EVCPs across Runnymede Borough, over the next 12 months. 

1.5 In November 2020 the Government announced plans to accelerate a greener 
transport future by ending of the sale of new petrol and diesel cars in 
the UK by 2030.  The announcement was accompanied by a promise of over 
£1.8 billion invested in infrastructure and grants to increase access to zero-
emission vehicles and promote a green economic recovery.  One element of 
this grant funding to facilitate the transition to electric vehicles is the On 
Street Residential Charging Scheme (ORCS).  The Secretary of State for 
Transport, the Rt Honourable Grant Shapps wrote to all local authority chief 
executives in February 2021 confirming the continuation of the ORCS for 
2021/22 and urging applications for the grant funding.   

1.8 The ORCS funding covers up to 75% of the capital cost of installing EV 
charging bays, with the remaining 25% capital coming from Surrey.  A 
revenue return for Surrey will arise from the use of the chargers, however 
user demand and therefore revenue is uncertain.   

1.9 The necessary support funding has been approved to deliver up to 120 On 
Street Residential Charge Scheme (ORCS) grant assisted publicly available 
Electric Vehicles (EV) chargers across 7 Surrey Boroughs and Districts 
during 2020/21.  It will also support the strategy development for the longer 
term procurement and roll out plan for an EV charger network across Surrey.  

1.10 Approximately 20 EV charging bays are proposed on street in Mole Valley as 
part of this parking review following consultation with Mole Valley District 
Council. These are shown in Annex 2 along with further information and 
frequently asked questions about EV charging. At the time of writing there are 
still some technical issues regarding power supply to be confirmed to ensure 
the EV bays can be successfully installed in the locations shown. That is why 
it is recommended that the Parking Strategy Team Manager is delegated 
authority to adjust the positions of the EV bays prior to statutory consultation 
in the event this is needed. 

 
 

2. ANALYSIS: 

 
2.1 In August 2008 the County Council, after recognising there was a need to 

devote specialist resources to parking problems around the county, formed a 
new centralised Parking Strategy and Implementation Team. 

2.2 This team collates all requests for changes to parking controls within Mole 
Valley, all of which had been received since the last parking review. Following 
an initial desktop review of the requests, a number of them were rejected as 
either just requests for refreshment of existing restrictions, or duplicates of 
other requests on the list, or requests that were impractical or unfeasible or 
were already in place. The parking team then undertook assessments of the 
remaining locations. Following the assessments, further requests were 
rejected, as there was no feasible or practical solution or it was not considered 
a priority to implement at this time. 

 
2.3 Now that the requests for new parking controls in each location have been 

investigated, the recommendations of the Parking Team are contained in 
annex 1. 

Page 97

ITEM 9



 
 

 

3. OPTIONS: 

 
3.1 That the committee agree to the advertising the proposals (or part thereof) in 

annex 1 and 2. 

3.2 That the committee does not agree to the advertising of the proposals in annex 
1 and 2. 

 

4. CONSULTATIONS: 

  
4.1 All residents who would be immediately affected by the proposals will be          

consulted during the advertising period. 

 

5. FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS: 

 
5.1  The cost of implementing this parking review is likely to be around £10,000 - 

£4000 of which will be used for the two statutory notices and the remainder 
for implementation. This will be contributed by the parking team. It is planned 
to advertise the restrictions in the current financial year. 

 
5.2 Mole Valley District Council carry out the enforcement of on street parking 

restrictions for Surrey County Council and operate at a deficit. The county 
council ultimately has to pay for on street enforcement so any new 
restrictions should be carefully considered to make sure they do not place an 
undue burden on the existing enforcement costs. 

 
5.3 The ORCS funding for the EV charging bays covers up to 75% of the capital 

cost of installing EV charging bays, with the remaining 25% capital coming 
from Surrey.  A revenue return for Surrey will arise from the use of the 
chargers, however user demand and therefore revenue is uncertain, but it is 
likely to increase over time. There are no budgetary implications for the Mole 
Valley Local Committee regarding the proposed EV bays. 

 

6. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS: 

 
6.1 New parking restrictions can help improve access for disabled residents and 

drivers. 

 

7. LOCALISM: 

 
7.1 Many of the new proposals in the report have been put forward by members of 

the community and their representatives. 

 

8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 

Area assessed: Direct Implications: 

Crime and Disorder Set out below 

Page 98

ITEM 9



 
 

Sustainability (including Climate 
Change and Carbon Emissions) 

Set out below 

Corporate Parenting/Looked After 
Children 

No significant implications arising 
from this report 

Safeguarding responsibilities for 
vulnerable children and adults   

No significant implications arising 
from this report 

Public Health 
 

No significant implications arising 
from this report 

 
 
8.1  The introduction of parking restrictions can help reduce congestion and keep 

traffic moving. In some cases new restrictions can also encourage the use of 
off street car parks or alternative means of transport. The introduction of 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points should encourage more drivers to switch 
from petrol/ diesel powered vehicles.  
There should be fewer instances of obstructive parking as a consequence of 
the restrictions 

 
 

9. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
9.1 It is recommended that the proposals, as set out in Annex 1 and 2, are 

advertised as they will contribute to improvements in road safety, improve 
traffic flow and access, ease congestion and better control parking. 

 

10. WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

 
10.1 Subject to the agreement of the committee, a Traffic Regulation Order will be 

advertised and public notices detailing the proposed changes will be 
displayed in the local press and on site. Notices will also be posted to 
affected residents. 

 
10.2 Subject to any objections to the proposals being resolved, a traffic regulation 

order will then be made and the appropriate signs and lines installed to allow 
the restrictions to be introduced and enforced. 

 

 
Contact Officer: 
 
Stephen Clavey, Senior Engineer – 0300 200 1003 
 
Consulted: 
Committee members have been consulted with regarding the proposals put forward 
for the main parking review. 
 
Annexes: 
Annex 1 – Statement of reasons and plans for the Mole Valley parking review 
Annex 2 – Plans showing electric vehicle bay locations and FAQs 
 
Sources/background papers: 

• None 
 

 

Page 99

ITEM 9



ITEM 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/<area> 

 

1 

 
 

OFFICER REPORT TO LOCAL COMMITTEE 
(Mole Valley) 

 

 

MOLE VALLEY PARKING / WAITING 

RESTRICTION REVIEW  

 

Annex 1 
 

 
 

Page 100

ITEM 9



Mole Valley parking review 2021 / 
2022: Statement of reasons 

A document explaining our parking proposals and 
reasons for introducing them 

This document sets out our proposals for new parking controls and restrictions across the 
district as part of our Mole Valley parking review 2021 / 2022. The proposals are listed in 
electoral county division and then by town. 

  

Page 101

ITEM 9



Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

2 

Contents 

Ashtead division proposals ............................................................................................... 4 

Ashtead ......................................................................................................................... 4 

Chaffers Mead and Mead End ................................................................................... 4 

Greville Park Road and Gayton Close ....................................................................... 4 

Greville Park Road ..................................................................................................... 4 

Ottways Lane, Grange Road and Blades Close ........................................................ 4 

Ermyn Way and Hatherwood ..................................................................................... 4 

Leatherhead and Fetcham East division proposals .......................................................... 5 

Leatherhead .................................................................................................................. 5 

Teazlewood Park ....................................................................................................... 5 

Sandes Place ............................................................................................................. 5 

Aperdele Road ........................................................................................................... 5 

Cleeve Road and Gaveston Road ............................................................................. 5 

Linden Road............................................................................................................... 5 

Highlands Road ......................................................................................................... 5 

Upper Fairfield Road .................................................................................................. 5 

Bookham and Fetcham West division proposals .............................................................. 6 

Fetcham ........................................................................................................................ 6 

The Street .................................................................................................................. 6 

Penrose Road and Copperfields ................................................................................ 6 

Eastwick Road ........................................................................................................... 6 

Beales Road and Oveton Way ................................................................................... 6 

The Spinney ............................................................................................................... 6 

Dorking Hills division proposals ........................................................................................ 7 

Mickleham ..................................................................................................................... 7 

Old London Road ....................................................................................................... 7 

London Road slip road ............................................................................................... 7 

Westhumble .................................................................................................................. 7 

Chapel Lane............................................................................................................... 7 

Abinger .......................................................................................................................... 7 

Felday Road............................................................................................................... 7 

Dorking .......................................................................................................................... 7 

Ansell Road................................................................................................................ 7 

Dorking Rural division proposals ....................................................................................... 8 

Brockham ...................................................................................................................... 8 

A25 Reigate Road and Brockham Lane ..................................................................... 8 

Page 102

ITEM 9



Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

3 

Beare Green .................................................................................................................. 8 

Old Horsham Road .................................................................................................... 8 

Charlwood ..................................................................................................................... 8 

Chapel Road and Swan Lane .................................................................................... 8 

Dorking South and Holmwoods division proposals ........................................................... 9 

Dorking .......................................................................................................................... 9 

Vincent Road, South Street ....................................................................................... 9 

Rose Hill .................................................................................................................... 9 

Knoll Road ................................................................................................................. 9 

Tollgate Road............................................................................................................. 9 

Glebe Road ................................................................................................................ 9 

Arundel Road, Howard Road ..................................................................................... 9 

Holmesdale ................................................................................................................... 9 

Holmsdale Road ........................................................................................................ 9 

Holmbury Drive .......................................................................................................... 9 

Abinger Close and Shelwood Drive ........................................................................... 9 

Spook Hill ................................................................................................................. 10 

  

Page 103

ITEM 9



Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

4 

Ashtead division proposals 

The county councillor for this division is Chris Townsend.  

Ashtead 

Chaffers Mead and Mead End 

Introduce double yellow lines on the junction to prevent obstructive parking and improve 
access to and from Mead End. This proposal is shown on drawing 1. 

Greville Park Road and Gayton Close 

Introduce double yellow lines on the junction to prevent obstructive parking and improve 
access to and from Mead End. This proposal is shown on drawing 2. 

Greville Park Road 

Introduce a single yellow line restriction operating from Monday to Saturday, 8am to 6pm, 
on the south western side between Park Road and The Street. This is to improve access 
and prevent all day obstructive parking. These proposals are shown on drawing 2. 

Ottways Lane, Grange Road and Blades Close 

Following receipt of a petition, we have been asked to introduce a single yellow line 
restriction operating from Monday to Friday 8am to 10am and 2pm to 4pm in order to 
prevent inconsiderate and obstructive parking around school drop off and pick up times. 
The current parking situation means that traffic often backs out onto Leatherhead Road 
causing traffic to back up. This proposal also includes double yellow lines at the junctions to 
improve forward visibility at all times. This proposal is shown on drawing 3 and 4. 

Ermyn Way and Hatherwood 

Introduce double yellow lines at the junction of Hatherwood and Ermyn Way to prevent 
obstructive parking, improve access and increase forward visibility. Extend the double 
yellow lines on Ermyn Way, from their current end point to the boundary of the properties 
known as The Crossways and Wimbers. This is to allow additional vehicles to queue safely 
on the approach to Leatherhead Road. This proposal is shown on drawing 4. 

  

Page 104

ITEM 9

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=189


Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

5 

Leatherhead and Fetcham East division proposals 

The county councillor for this division is Tim Hall.  

Leatherhead 

Teazlewood Park 

Introduce double yellow lines on the first bend as you enter Teazlewood Park from Kingston 
Road. This is to improve access for all vehicles, especially refuse and emergency vehicles 
and improve forward visibility. This proposal is shown on drawing 5. 

Sandes Place 

Introduce double yellow lines on the bend adjacent to number 23 to prevent obstructive 
parking, improve access and increase forward visibility. The proposals are shown on 
drawing 6. 

Aperdele Road 

This proposal is to remove the existing school keep clear markings as they are now 
redundant and no longer required. These proposals are shown on drawing 7. 

Cleeve Road and Gaveston Road 

Introduce double yellow lines at the junction to facilitate better movement throughout the 
junction, to prevent obstructive parking, improve access and increase forward visibility. The 
proposals are shown on drawing 8. 

Linden Road 

To introduce a residents permit scheme after having received a signed petition, to enable 
residents to park near to their properties, as they currently have little or no off street 
facilities available. This scheme would operate from Monday to Saturday 8am to 6pm. The 
proposals are shown on drawing 9. 

Highlands Road 

Following the introduction of a residents permit scheme on Highlands Road in 2021, the 
residents have asked that we introduce an additional parking bay to the west of the buildout 
near Highlands Avenue. The proposals are shown on drawing 10. 

Upper Fairfield Road 

To introduce a new parking bay as an extension of the existing resident permit scheme on 
Upper Fairfield Road, adjacent to numbers 36 and 38 Upper Fairfield Road. The proposals 
are shown on drawing 9.  

Page 105

ITEM 9

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=150


Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

6 

Bookham and Fetcham West division proposals 

The county councillor for this division is Clare Curran.  

Fetcham 

The Street 

Introduce double yellow lines adjacent to the shops between numbers 95 to 101 The Street. 
This is a pinch point in the road and restricts access on the approach to the roundabout at 
Cobham Road. This proposal is shown in drawing 11. 

Penrose Road and Copperfields 

Introduce double yellow lines on the junction to prevent obstructive parking and improve 
access to and from Copperfields. This proposal is shown in drawing 12. 

Eastwick Road 

Extend the recently installed double yellow lines, across the access to Highfield Court and 
close the gap obstructive parking on pavement. This proposal is shown in drawing 13. 

Beales Road and Oveton Way 

Introduce double yellow lines on the junction to prevent obstructive parking and improve 
access to and from Oveton Way. This proposal is shown in drawing 14. 

The Spinney 

Introduce double yellow lines up to and opposite the driveway of number 1 Eastwick Drive 
to improve access to driveway and prevent obstructive parking. This proposal is shown in 
drawing 35. 

Page 106

ITEM 9

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=135


Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

7 

Dorking Hills division proposals 

The county councillor for this division is Hazel Watson.  

Mickleham 

Old London Road 

Introduce a series of double yellow lines along various sections of the road to prevent 
obstructive parking. Following the ease of Lockdown, visitors to the Box Hill area have 
parked inconsiderately causing issues with bus routes, access for residents and potential 
access for emergency vehicles, especially in areas where the carriageway is narrow. This 
proposal is shown in drawings 15, 16, 17 and 18. 

London Road slip road 

Introduce double yellow lines along both sides of the access road, from The Stepping 
Stones, southwards towards Pixham Lane. Access to this road has been reduced 
significantly by visitors to Box Hill and The Stepping Stones, meaning residents cannot gain 
access to private driveways and other larger vehicles, such as emergency vehicles cannot 
traverse the road. This proposal is shown in drawings 22 and 23. 

Westhumble 

Chapel Lane 

Introduce double yellow lines along the length of Chapel Road, Boxhill and Westhumble 
Station and the Burney Road junction. This is due to visitors to the local sites parking 
inconsiderately and reducing the width of the carriageway significantly, preventing access 
for residents and any potential emergency vehicles. This proposal is shown in drawings 19, 
20 and 21. 

Abinger 

Felday Road 

Introduce double yellow lines on both sides from the end of the existing yellow lines, 
southwards to the access to Moorland Cottages. This is to remove obstructive parking, 
which was highlighted throughout the recent pandemic. This proposal is shown in drawing 
32. 

Dorking 

Ansell Road 

Include residents of Kian Court into the existing resident permit scheme. What was ‘Forge 
House’ listed in the traffic order, has now been converted into flats and renamed Kian 
Court. 

 

 

Page 107

ITEM 9

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=192


Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

8 

Dorking Rural division proposals 

The county councillor for this division is Helyn Clack.  

Brockham 

A25 Reigate Road and Brockham Lane 

Introduce double yellow lines on the junction to prevent obstructive parking and improve 
access to and from Brockham Lane. This proposal is shown in drawing 24. 

Beare Green 

Old Horsham Road 

Introduce double yellow lines between Greenfields Place and the A24 Horsham Road. The 
approach to this junction is hindered by parked cars and is used by large farm machinery, 
as well as buses and HGVs. The approach to the A24 is often hindered.  

Also introduce a 20 minute loading bay that operates from Monday to Saturday 8am to 6pm 
to formalise the existing loading area layby. This proposal is shown in drawing 33. 

Charlwood 

Chapel Road and Swan Lane 

Introduce double yellow lines on the junction to prevent obstructive parking and improve 
access to and from Swan Lane. This proposal is shown in drawing 34. 

 

  

Page 108

ITEM 9

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=130


Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

9 

Dorking South and Holmwoods division proposals 

The county councillor for this division is Stephen Cooksey.  

Dorking 

Vincent Road, South Street 

Introduce double yellow lines on South Street prior to the junction and on the northern side 
of Vincent Road across the access of number 118 South Street. This is to facilitate access 
to the parking bays that run adjacent to the building line of number 118 South Street and 
the vehicular access behind the same property. This proposal is shown in drawing 25. 

Rose Hill 

Introduce double yellow lines on the northern corner of Rose Hill and the access to Rose 
Hill Lodge, to prevent obstructive parking and improve site lines when exiting on to Rose 
Hill. This proposal is shown in drawing 25. 

Knoll Road 

Introduce double yellow lines on the junction to prevent obstructive parking and improve 
access to and from Roman Road (private road). This proposal is shown in drawing 26. 

Tollgate Road 

Reinstate double yellow lines that were removed a few years ago. Access to Martineau 
Drive is restricted by parking opposite. This proposal is shown in drawing 27. 

Glebe Road 

Include residents of Sondes Farm in the existing residents permit scheme, to enable them 
to purchase visitors permits. Although they have private off-street parking, they do not have 
any parking for visitors. We have had a few requests recently from Sondes Farm residents 
asking to be included within the scheme. No drawing for this proposal. 

Arundel Road, Howard Road 

Include the resident of 36 Mount Street in the existing residents permit scheme. They do 
not have any off-street parking available. 

Holmesdale 

Holmsdale Road 

Introduce double yellow lines along various sections of Holmsdale Road to improve access 
and increase forward visibility and make travelling along this road safer. This proposal is 
shown in drawings 28, 29 and 30. 

Holmbury Drive 

Introduce double yellow lines opposite the junction with Dukes Ride to ease access on to 
Holmbury Drive, without having to exit on to the wrong side of the carriageway. This 
proposal is shown in drawing 29. 

Abinger Close and Shelwood Drive 

Introduce double yellow lines on the junction to prevent obstructive parking and improve 
access to and from Abinger Close. This proposal is shown in drawing 30. 

Page 109

ITEM 9

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=132


Mole Valley parking review 2021: Statement of reasons   June 2021 

10 

Spook Hill 

Introduce double yellow lines as you exit the roundabout on to Spook Hill. This has been 
raised as a safety issue with parking obstructing the exit and reducing forward visibility. This 
proposal is shown in drawing 31. 

 

 

 

Page 110

ITEM 9



Page 111

ITEM 9



Page 112

ITEM 9



Page 113

ITEM 9



Page 114

ITEM 9



Page 115

ITEM 9



Page 116

ITEM 9



Page 117

ITEM 9



Page 118

ITEM 9



Sustainable DevelopmentN

Page 119

ITEM 9



Page 120

ITEM 9



Page 121

ITEM 9



Page 122

ITEM 9



Sustainable DevelopmentN

Page 123

ITEM 9



Page 124

ITEM 9



Page 125

ITEM 9



Page 126

ITEM 9



Page 127

ITEM 9



Page 128

ITEM 9



Sustainable Development

N

Page 129

ITEM 9



Sustainable Development

N

Page 130

ITEM 9



Sustainable Development

N

Page 131

ITEM 9



Page 132

ITEM 9



Page 133

ITEM 9



Page 134

ITEM 9



Page 135

ITEM 9



Page 136

ITEM 9



Page 137

ITEM 9



Page 138

ITEM 9



Page 139

ITEM 9



Page 140

ITEM 9



Page 141

ITEM 9



Page 142

ITEM 9



Page 143

ITEM 9



Page 144

ITEM 9



Sustainable DevelopmentN

Page 145

ITEM 9



This page is intentionally left blank



ITEM 

www.surreycc.gov.uk/<area> 

 

1 

 
 

OFFICER REPORT TO LOCAL COMMITTEE 
(Mole Valley) 

 

 

MOLE VALLEY PARKING / WAITING 

RESTRICTION REVIEW  

 

Annex 2 
 

 
 

Page 147

ITEM 9



Electric Vehicle and Charging Points FAQ. 
 
What is an electric vehicle (EV)?  
For our purposes an electric vehicle is defined as a passenger vehicle which can be 
recharged through an electricity supply, this could be fully electric (Battery Electric 
Vehicle) or a Plug-in hybrid electric vehicle (PHEV).  
What is an electric vehicle charging point?  
An electric vehicle charging point, or charging point, is defined as a singular point of 
connection between an electric vehicle and the electricity supply. A single charging 
point can facilitate the charging of one vehicle at any one time. These chargers can 
vary in design or style depending on the setting.   
Where can I find publicly available charge points in Surrey?  
There are already a number of publicly available charge points in Surrey, the 
majority are privately owned and operated.  Their location are all  on the National 
Charge Point Register and can be identified through the use of mobile phone apps.  
One example of this is Zapmap.com which is the most widely used independent 
chargepoint locator.  As chargers are installed in Surrey, these locations will be 
added to online directories.   
Will the charging points be compatible with all EVs and hybrids?  
Yes, they are compatible with all models, but the maximum charging speed will 
depend on the make and the model of the vehicle.   
Can I request an EV charging location to be considered?  
Yes, you can register an interest in a site on the following online form:  

▪ Suggest a location for an on street EV charging point in your area  
Should I expect to pay to use a local authority charge point  
The costs of the electricity to charge an EV should be expected to be borne by the 
EV user.  In most cases, this is at a lower cost than fuelling a petrol or diesel car.  It 
is reasonable to expect that electricity is provided at a commercial rate and where 
this is through an on street charger, then the economics of the costs of equipment, 
installation, maintenance, payment system and management means that this is likely 
to be higher than the costs of off street residential charging.  The convenience of a 
faster than normal charge also bears a higher cost.    
How can I pay for EV charging?  
Publicly available charge points have either a payment software application or the 
ability to pay by contactless bank card.   For the Surrey trial, charger users will be 
able to pay for charging sessions either by using the InCharge RFID card/fob or 
by an ad hoc payment. In the case of ad hoc payment, customers start a 
charging session by accessing a website, either by scanning a QR code or manually 
navigating to the operator's webpage, and then provide their payment details.  
Is the use of EV Charger parking bays be regulated?  
The restrictions for each charging point will be signed at each location.  Normally 
each parking bay will be reserved for an EV that is connected and charging.  The 
duration of stay will be time limited and any parking charges may also be due in 
some locations. Outside of enforcement hours (e.g. overnight in many cases) any 
vehicle may park in the bay.  Check signage at each bay to ensure you are following 
the regulations.  
How long can I park for?  
Each charging bay has parking regulations. These will be signposted and detail time 
restrictions. These restrictions have been developed in accordance with any existing 

Page 148

ITEM 9

https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/Zapmap.com__;!!OepYZ6Q!vEAEC85e_d0Mn_XlW1osFToQoN0VeCWlVGxu8Ji0bRwHASG9ze6YZNPa8_aytAFFEgbE6sg$
https://online.surreycc.gov.uk/esuite/esuite.nsf/openOnlineForm?open&fcunid=3B87D3F2979DA0C08025832E004F8CE1&aztitle=On+street+EV+charging+points


local restrictions and EV charging suitability. Most sites see a maximum stay of 2-4 
hours depending on the location.   
Are the parking bays accessible to disabled users?  
We will be ensuring that where possible at least one parking bay at each new 
charging site will be sufficient length for Blue Badge holders (6.6m as opposed to 
5.7m standard spacing). These 'easy access' bays will not be reserved for Blue 
Badge holders for the duration of the two year pilot but it is our intention that once 
the level of electric vehicle use has reached a significant level in comparison to 
conventional internal combustion engine vehicles, the appropriate Traffic Regulation 
Orders will be updated to enforce Blue Badge only parking to prioritise those with 
mobility impairment.  We have consulted with Surrey Coalition of Disabled People on 
this matter.  
Will the charging points obstruct the footpath?  
Sites are assessed against our criteria that 1.5m of footpath width is retained for 
pedestrian access. Where it is not possible to retain more than 1.5m, a 'build out' has 
been designed which extends the existing width of the pavement for the charging 
unit to be installed.  
Can I have an electric lead from my home onto the street to charge my EV?  
Surrey County Council do not allow for EV charging cables to trail across footpaths 
under any circumstances as it is a hazard to pedestrians and other highway network 
users.  
What about lamppost chargers?  
During the early assessment and planning of the trial different options were reviewed 
in terms of on-street feasibility and suitability.  While installing electric 
chargers into lampposts is a potential option for EV charging point provision, 
it has not been considered to be the preferred option for the Surrey on-street 
charging trial.   
Why should Surrey provide electric vehicle chargers?  
Surrey County Council has declared a climate emergency and since transport is 
responsible for more than one third of carbon emissions in Surrey, the 
County’s Climate Change strategy has determined that one of its priority is to 
‘encourage uptake of zero emission vehicles amongst partners and residents for 
journeys that cannot be made on foot, by bicycle or public transport through 
innovative policy supported by adequate funding’.   
Furthermore, the Government has stated that its intention to ban the sale of petrol 
and diesel vehicles by 2030 which means that there must be sufficient charging 
infrastructure in place to ensure Surrey’s ‘readiness’ for this eventuality.  This is 
especially important for residences without off-street 
parking and therefore cannot install home charging points.   
Air Quality improvement is also a key national priority to protect public health.  The 
improvements in air quality resulting from the reduced NOx emissions and reduced 
particulate matter (enabled by the transition to electric vehicles) will mitigate negative 
health implications leading to respiratory diseases which poor air quality is proven to 
cause.  
Does Surrey have an EV strategy?  
Surrey CC published its Electric Vehicle Strategy in late 2018.  One important 
element of this strategy was to identify the need for On Street EV Chargers available 
to EV car owners without access to their own off street charging.  The rapid evolution 
of Government policy to bring forward the transition to electric vehicles has meant 

Page 149

ITEM 9



that Surrey is currently undertaking a review of its existing strategy to accelerate EV 
On Street Charger provision.  
  
How is Surrey acting upon its EV strategy?   
  
The on-street charging infrastructure trials is the implementation phase of the 
Surrey’s EV strategy. Through funding received from the Enterprise M3 Local 
Enterprise Partnership (EM3 LEP) and the On Street Residential Charging Scheme 

(ORCS) Surrey is undertaking a trial to deliver on-street 
charging points. https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/sustainable-
driving/electric-vehicles/electric-vehicle-charging-point-pilot-scheme. The trial will 
help in our understanding of the different commercial models available, site design 
and selection, management of parking restrictions as well as understanding 
monitoring the response and take up of these chargers. The trial will deliver upto 200 
charge points around the county.   
What is Surrey’s responsibility for EV charging infrastructure?   
At present there is no duty for Local Authorities to provide or invest in EV charging 
infrastructure. However, in order for Surrey to respond to the climate 
change emergency and move towards meeting their climate objectives. 
Through delivering EV charging infrastructure, it is hoped the transitions towards 
electric vehicles will be supported and accelerated.   
Can my local borough install chargers?   
Many of Borough and District councils are are installing or planning to install 
chargers in their car parks. The district and county councils are working 
collaboratively to promote a consistent approach.   
How have locations for current EV charging installation been decided?   
Current on-street charging installation is being delivered as part of the LEP funded 
trial (https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/sustainable-driving/electric-
vehicles/electric-vehicle-charging-point-pilot-scheme).   Within these boroughs, a 
range of considerations have been applied to site selection. This 
has included; resident requests, trial objectives, power supply costs, site design 
and suitability as well as public responses from consultation.   
Moving forward there could be a wider EV charger roll out based upon the 
learnings of the trials which is likely to see EV chargers delivered across the 
county. Resident requests will be considered when reviewing new sites.   
  
 

Page 150

ITEM 9

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/sustainable-driving/electric-vehicles/electric-vehicle-charging-point-pilot-scheme
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/sustainable-driving/electric-vehicles/electric-vehicle-charging-point-pilot-scheme
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/sustainable-driving/electric-vehicles/electric-vehicle-charging-point-pilot-scheme
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/sustainable-driving/electric-vehicles/electric-vehicle-charging-point-pilot-scheme


N

Page 151

ITEM 9



N

Page 152

ITEM 9



I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

II

I

I

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

N

Page 153

ITEM 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Local Committee Decision and Action Tracker 

This tracker monitors progress against the decisions and actions that the Local Committee has made. It is updated before 
each committee meeting. (Last Updated 20/09/21). 

• Decisions and actions will be marked as ‘open’, where work to implement the decision is ongoing by the Local/Joint Committee. 

• When decisions are reported to the committee as ‘complete’, they will also be marked as ‘closed’. The Committee will then be 

asked to agree to remove these items from the tracker.  For some decisions the Committee and public will be able to monitor the 
progress through Surrey County Council website.  A link to the webpage will be included on the item when marked as complete.  

• Decisions may also be ‘closed’ if further progress is not possible at this time, even though the action is not yet complete. An 

explanation will be included in the comment section. In this case, the action can remain on the tracker should the Committee 
request. 

 

Ref 
number  

Meeting 
Date 
 
 

Decision  Status  
(Open/ 
Closed)  

Officer Comment or update  

1. 05/09/18 
 
22/01/20 

Officers to work 
with Chairman 
and petitioners to 
look again at the 
possibility of 
implementing an 
experimental 
Traffic Regulation 
Order on the 
High Street, 
Leatherhead as 
well as other 

Closed AHM/Transport 
Strategy 
Projects 
Manager 
 

Temporary Active Travel measures have been implemented on the street. Details of 
these can be viewed here:  
 
https://surreycovidsoutheast.commonplace.is/schemes/proposals/high-street-
leatherhead/details 
 
No further action to be taken by the Local Committee at this stage whilst temporary 
measures remain in place. 
 

P
age 155

IT
E

M
 10

https://surreycovidsoutheast.commonplace.is/schemes/proposals/high-street-leatherhead/details
https://surreycovidsoutheast.commonplace.is/schemes/proposals/high-street-leatherhead/details


 

 

options that could 
be available  

2. 12/12/18 To organise a 
meeting with the 
appropriate 
councillors and 
officers and 
Dorking Town 
Forum to resolve 
long-running 
issues 

Closed Area Highways 
Manager 

A meeting took place in January 2019 with a representative of Dorking Town Forum a 
further meeting will take place on 21 October 2021. Complete 

3. 12/12/18 Pippbrook Mill 
Path – to hold 
discussions with 
district council 
over costs to 
repair and 
maintain the weir 
to ensure 
footpath remains 
open 

Closed Countryside 
Access Team 

A Schedule 14 application has been made to look at a Map Modification Order. This 
application is available to view on the SCC website where updates on the progress of 
the application will be included.  
 
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/countryside/footpaths-
byways-and-bridleways/map-modification-applications/london-road-to-fairfield-drive 
 
It is likely no further progress will be made on this until 2022 due to other existing 
applications that require processing. 
 
No further action to be taken by the Local Committee at this stage. Item to reopen 
when progress is possible. 
 

4. 17/06/20 To advertise and 
implement the 
speed limit 
reduction on the 
A24 Deepdene 
Avenue from 
50mph down to 
40mph 

Closed Area Highways 
Manager 

This is complete, the 40mph speed limit came into force on 24 February 2021. 
Complete 

5. 17/06/20 To advertise and 
implement the 
speed limit 

Closed Area Highways 
Managers 

This is complete, the 20mph speed limit and 30mph speed limit came into force on 10 
March 2021. Complete 

P
age 156

IT
E

M
 10

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/countryside/footpaths-byways-and-bridleways/map-modification-applications/london-road-to-fairfield-drive
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/countryside/footpaths-byways-and-bridleways/map-modification-applications/london-road-to-fairfield-drive


 

 

reduction from 
60mph down to 
20mph in 
sections of 
Abinger Lane and 
Sutton Lane and 
in the entire 
length of Evelyn 
Cottages. And 
also, to advertise 
and implement a 
speed limit 
reduction from 
60mph down to 
30mph in a 
section of 
Abinger Lane  

6. 17/06/20 To introduce bus 
stop clearways at 
The Park bus 
stops, Church 
Road, Bookham 

Closed Senior 
Transport 
Officer 

All complete. Yellow bus cage lined on the road for southbound bus stop, and bus 
stop clearway plates put up at both bus stops (The Park bus stops, Church Road, 
Bookham) – northbound bus stop already had yellow bus cage lined. Complete 

 

7. 09/12/20 Officers to 
continue to look 
for sources of 
funding to 
construct a 
controlled 
crossing point in 
Chalkpit Lane, 
Dorking 

Closed Area Highways 
Manager 

Currently there is no funding available to progress with this scheme. Until the time 
that funding is available this item will remain closed on the tracker as there is no 
further action to be taken by the Local Committee. 

8. 09/12/20 To advertise and 
implement a 
speed limit 
reduction to 

Closed Road Safety 
and Active 
Travel Team 
Manager 

New speed limits implemented.  Complete 

P
age 157

IT
E

M
 10



 

 

40mph in a 
section of A29, 
Ockley, a section 
of A243, 
Leatherhead and 
a section of 
A217, Hookwood 

9. 24/02/21 To provide the 
Local Committee 
members with 
ballpark figures 
for highways 
work  

Closed Area Highways 
Manager 

In response to a question raised the AHM agreed to provide the Local Committee 
members with a full list of ballpark figures for highways work. Complete 

 

P
age 158

IT
E

M
 10



 

Local Committee (Mole Valley) - Forward Programme 2020/21 

 

Details of future meetings 
 

Dates for the Mole Valley Local Committee 2020/21: 10 November 2021, 9 March 2022 

 
This forward plan sets out the anticipated reports for future meetings and will be used in preparation for the next committee meeting. However, 
this is a flexible forward plan and all items are subject to change. The Local Committee is asked to note and comment on the forward plan 
outlined below. 

 
Topic Purpose Contact Officer Proposed date  

Decision Tracker For information 
Partnership 
Committee Officer 

ALL 

Forward Programme Review the Forward Programme and consider further themes for 
Member briefings 

Partnership 
Committee Officer 

ALL 

    

Changes in speed limits To consider speed limit changes on selected roads in rural areas 
Road Safety Team 
Manager 

November or 
March tbc 

Traffic Regulation Order 
Leatherhead High Steet 

To consider whether the temporary order should be made 
permanent 

Area Highways 
Manager 

March 2022 tbc 

    

Proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order for 
BOAT 118 Leatherhead 

To agree the Traffic Regulation Order at this location 
Senior Countryside 
Access Officer 

TBC 

P
age 159

IT
E

M
 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5a PUBLIC QUESTIONS
	7 BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC (BOAT) No. 526 (CAPEL & WOTTON) (D287) WOLVENS LANE [FOR DECISION - OTHER COUNTY COUNCIL FUNCTIONS]
	Item 07 Annex A TRO notice order Plan
	Item 07 Annex B TRO-Policy-2009
	Item 07 Annex C ROW Priority Statement
	Item 07 Annex D Consultation responses

	8 PUBLIC FOOTPATH 24 (LEATHERHEAD)- GREEN LANE LEVEL CROSSING INVESTIGATION [FOR DECISION - OTHER COUNTY COUNCIL FUNCTIONS]
	Item 08 024 Sch 14 Report Plan Annex A
	Item 08 MMO Annex B
	Item 08 024 Annex C Railway Acts

	9 MOLE VALLEY PARKING REVIEW [EXECUTIVE ITEM - FOR DECISION]
	Item 09 Full set
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1

	Drawing_02-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_03-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_04-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_05-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_06-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_07-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_08-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_09-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_10-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_11-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_12-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_13-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_14-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_15-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_16-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_17-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_18-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_19-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_20-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_21-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_22-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_23-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_24-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_25-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_26-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_27-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_28-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_29-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_30-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_31-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_32-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_33-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_34-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_19-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_20-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_21-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_35-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Drawing_13-Layout1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1



	Item 09 2021 Report_Part 3
	EV Bays_Full set.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1

	Fetcham  EV bays.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Leatherhead _A EV bays.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1





	10 RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER [FOR DECISION]
	11 FORWARD PLAN [FOR INFORMATION]



